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general information

COMPANY DEFINITION

Throughout the annual report, Canadian Natural Resources
Limited is referred to as “Canadian Natural” or the "Company”.

CURRENCY

All amounts are reported in Canadian currency unless

otherwise stated.

ABBREVIATIONS

b} barrel

bbls barrels

bbls/d barrels per day

bef billion cubic feet

bef/d billion cubic feet per day

befe billion cubic feet equivalent

boe barrels of oil equivalent

boe/d barrels of oil equivalent per day
Cdn Canadian

CDOR Canadian Deposit Overnight Rate
E&P Exploration and production
FPSO Floating, Production, Storage and Offtake Vessel

Horizon Project
LIBOR
mbbls
mbbis/d
mboe
mboe/d
mct
mcf/d
mcfe/d
mmbbis
mmbbls/d
mmboe
mmbtu
mmcf/d
NGLs
NYMEX
MYSE
Ric Alto
SCO

SO:

tcf

TSX

UK

us

Uss

WTI

Horizon Oil Sands Project

London Interbank Offered Rate
thousand barrels

thousand barrels per day
thousand barrels of oil equivalent
thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day
thousand cubic feet

thousand cubic feet per day
thousand cubic feet equivalent per day
million barrels

million barrels per day

million barrels of oil equivalent
million British thermal units
million cubic feet per day

natural gas liquids

New York Mercantile Exchange
New York Stock Exchange

Rio Alto Exploration Ltd.
Synthetic light crude oil

Sulphur dioxide

trillion cubic feet

Toronto Stock Exchange

United Kingdom

United States of America

United States dollars

West Texas Intermediate

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain information regarding the Company contained herein may
constitute forward-looking statements under applicable securities laws.
Such statements are subject to known or unknown risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from
those anticipated in the forward-looking statements.

VOLUME REPORTING

All production, sales and reserve statistics represent Canadian Natural's
working interest amounts before deduction of royalties unless stated
otherwise. Where volumes are reported in barrels of oil equivalent
("boe”), natural gas is converted to oil at six thousand cubic feet

per barrel unless otherwise noted. This conversion ratic approximates
relative heating values.

COMMON SHARE DIVIDEND

In January 2001, the Board of Directors approved

payment of a regular quarterly dividend of $0.10 per common
share commencing April 2001, which was subsequently increased
t0 $0.125 per common share effective April 2002 and $0.15 per
common share effective April 2003. These dividends will be payable
in January, April, July and October of each year.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 3:00 p.m. on
Thursday, May 8, 2003, in the Ballroom of the Metropolitan Centre,
Calgary, Alberta. All shareholders are invited to attend.

WIETRIC CONVERSION CHART

To convert To Multiply by
barrels - cubic metres 0.159
thousand cubic feet cubic metres 28.174
feet . metres 0305
miles o kilometres 1.609
acres . hectares 0.405
tonnes tons
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2002 DEVELOPMENT
B Maximized value of Ladyfern Slave Point pool

with additional drilling and fadility construction.

B Increased natural gas production before Rio
Alto by 14%, while reducing drilling activity
to 162 wells from 476 wells.

B Acquired Rio Alto, adding 376 mmcf/d
incremental production during the last half
of 2002. The assets also added a new core
region in Northwest Alberta.

2003 & BEYOND

B Commence development of Northwest
Alberta region, with a measured approach to
maximize our knowledge base for expanded
future activities.

B Drill 500-600 natural gas wells annually.

B 5% year over year growth in production
targeted after 2003.

Natural Gas

Production (mmcf/d)
1,280

w©
1,330

1,232
918
794
i i I I
98 939 00 01 02 03B

2002 DEVELOPMENT
B Drilled 256 oif wells.

W Obtained regulatory approval for high-
pressure cyclic steaming at Primrose.

B Initiated an enhanced oil recovery ("EOR")
pilot project at Pelican Lake.

2003 & BEYOND
B Drill 48 high-pressure cyclic steam wells at
Primrose, adding production in 2004,

8 Test alternative EOR processes and optimize
the oil recovery at Pelican Lake

B/ Drill 265 primary heavy oil wells out of
1,000+ inventory.

B Resource potential from inventoried projects
totals in excess of 3 billion barrels.

North American Liquids
Production (mbbls/d) 175
to

185

167 169
155
7
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2002 DEVELOPMENT
B Applied for regulatory approval to construct,
operate and reclaim the project.

# Completed méjority of Design Basis
Memorandum (Phase It of engineering).

B Acquired access to numerous technologies
and commenced pre-bid supplier evaluations.

2003 & BEYOND
@ Obtain regulatory approvals in 2003 and
evaluate form/requirement of partners.

M Commence construction in 2004, first oil
in 2008. Phase IIl completion in 2012.

B Commence Engineering Design Study.

B Continue to work with the Canadian
Federal Government to dlarify long-term
economic consequences of Kyoto
implementation.

PLANNED PROJECT TIMELINE

Regulatory Approval 2003
Board of Director Approval 2004
Construction Commences 2004
Phase | Completion 110 mbbls/d 2008

Phase Il Completion 155 mbbis/d 2010
Phase Ill Completion 232 mbbls/d 2012

2002 DEVELOPMENT

W Acquired additional ownership and
operatorship of four producing platforms
in Northern North Sea.

B8 Drilled five oil wells.

2003 & BEYOND
8 improve platform performance in 2003
through expanded maintenance programs.

B implement waterflood optimization, infill
drilling and evaluate drilling satellite pools.

B Drill 18 wells.

North Sea Liquids
Production 55
(mbbls/d) 60

36

17

00 o 02 03B

2002 DEVELOPMENT
8 Commenced production and implemented
a waterflood at East Espoir.

B Delineated Baobab discovery, defining

approximately 200 mmbbls of recoverable oil.

B Obtained 50% working interest and
operatorship of Block 16 in Angola,
a significant high risk/high potential asset.

2003 & BEYOND
B Complete repressurized upper zone at
East Espoir and drill one satellite pool.

B Commence development of Baobab for first
oil in 2005.

W Drill one of two exploration prospects
in Block 16, Angola.

Offshore West Africa 10
Liquids Production 1%
(mbbls/d)
7
3
2 I
00 01 02 03B



asset overview

Natural Gas

Averaged 1,232 mmcf/d in 2002, 98% into the North
American market

Over 3.0 tcf of proved reserves in four Canadian
core regions.

Large undeveloped land base in the relatively
undeveloped, natural gas prone regions of Northeast
British Columbia and Northwest Alberta.

North American

Averaged 169 mbbls/d in 2002.

Liquid
fquias Over 650 mmbbils of proved reserves.
Diverse po:rtfoliq of light, primary heavy, thermal
heavy, Pelican Lake oil and natural gas liquids.
Horizon World Class opptj)frtunifty for oil sands mining.
Oil Sands — s ‘
Project Six billion barrels of reserves (unbooked).

Supports 232 mbjbls/d of light sweet crude
oil production foit;' over 40 years, with no declines.

Three phase development plan.

International

Averaged 39 mbbls/d in 2002.

- North Sea Proved oil reservjes of 200 mmbbils and natural gas
reserves of over 70 bcf.
Exploitation focﬁs'ed core region.
International Operate offshore in two countries, Céte d'lvoire
- Offshore West and Angola. |
Africa

Averaged 7 mbb-SId in 2002.

Proved oil reserv}es of approximately 100 mmbbls and
natural gas reserves of 90 bcf.
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Canadian Natural is one lof the largest independent crude oil and natural gas

producers in the world. We achieved this status| through continued application of our
value creation objectives and defined growth stlfategy]. We have a low-cost, diversified
combination of assets in North America, the North Sea and Offshore West Africa, which
enables us to generate significant value, even in challenging economic environments.
Our balanced mix of natural gas, light oil and héavy oil production combined with

a major oil sands mining project represents one of the strongest and most diverse
asset portfolios of any énergy producer in the vflvorld.




Today more than ever before, corporations must conduct their affairs
in a manner that demonstrates openness and instills confidence in
their shareholders and stakeholders. It is with these intentions that
we at Canadian Natural have developedia plan for ongoing improve-
ments to our Corporate Governance.

The Board of Directors, as part of its overall stewardship of the
Company, is taking proactive steps to ensure Canadian Natural
complies with the regulatory requirernents of the United States
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as mandated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission, the proposed new listing standards of the New
York Stock Exchange and the existing Corporate Governance
Guidelines of the Toronto Stock Exchange. As well, Canadian Natural
continues to meet all requirements of the various other regulatory
authorities to which it is subject.

The Company has established a Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee to oversee and assist our progress and compliance with
the new requirements.

The committees of the Board of Directors are chaired by independent
and unrelated directors and are comprised of the:

8 Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee;
B/ Audit Committee;

B Compensation Committee;

B Reserves Committee; and

B Safety, Health and Environmental Committee.

The members, roles and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are
fully discussed in the Company's Information Proxy Circular.

Qur financial disclosures are reputed as some of the best in the
industry as we have greatly increased the transparency of disclosures.
We have a clean operation, dlean balance sheet and strong internal and
management controls.

The new Northwest Alberta core region provides significant upside
potential to Canadian Natural. We now have an additional region
with a large, high quality landbase and an extensive underutilized
infrastructure. Additionally, because we operate virtually all of our
assets and are the majority owner, we can take a measured approach
in our development. In the northern portion we see geological attrib-
utes simiar to our existing North Alberta core region. Over time, we
expect to extract up to 1 tcf of new natural gas reserves in this area.
In the southern portion, the technically complex Cardium formation

could provide up to 0.8 tcf in new natural gas reserves. Our strategy
here is to take our time, unlock the geology and reduce costs.

The timing of the acquisition was also significant. While we could not
predict the sharp increases in natural gas pricing over the last quarter
of 2002, we were aware that natural gas is becoming a scarce
resource. The opportunity to buy the Rio Alto assets came at a time
of weaker natural gas prices due to high storage levels. We took
advantage and immediately started to reap the benefits.

Canadian Natural has over 3 hiflion bayrels of additional heavy oil
development potential. We take a very measured approach in the
development of these reserves in order to ensure that we do not flood
our traditional markets with product, thereby reducing our netbacks
and economic returns. The opportunity, therefore is to develop new,
alternative markets for our heavy oil. We:currently see opportunities

to expand existing markets through the addition of coking capacity
to existing refineries. We also see opportunities to work with p]peline
operators to facilitate access to tanker facilities and create a world-
wide market for our heavy oil. These capabilities will take time to
bring te fruition, but we see this as a major catalyst to significant
future growth opportunities.

We remain conservative in our approach to costing the Horizon
Project. We have built in the same costs as the previous oil sands
project's final costs and on that basis expect that Phase | will require
$4.9 billion in capital. Phase il and IIl expansions will be financed
through Phase | cash flows. We expect no equity issuances to complete
this project. Rather, we will examine all pther options including the
opportunities to forward-hedge commaodity prices to reduce cash flow
risk coupled with the utilization of business partners to reduce our own

capital expenditure profile and various debt financing alternatives. We
will also examine ownership partner opportunities as necessary. Our
basic premise is to maximize ownership and control, while ensuring
that we are prudently managing our economic exposures and financial
strength. During the heavy construction periods of 2006 and 2007,
we will inventory other major project developments and expend
funds only for base E&P production growth and the Horizon Project.

The United Kingdom sector of the North Sea represents the bulk of
our current international production anid we see this region as an
excelient exploitation base. We will cantinue to consolidate our
presence in the area and work to drive down unit operating costs,
increase field recovery factors and drill satellite poots. This work adds
value both through the generation of new economic reserves and
through the further deferral of future abandonment costs. Offshore
West Africa is characterized as an exploration and exploitation base

and its upside potential nicely complements the reliability of the North
Sea exploitation base. In Cote d'lvoire the initial redevelopment of the
Espoir field has led to an exploration discovery at Baobab, with
additional exploration prospects in the future. We see up to 10 years
of exploration and development activity on our existing land base, with
production well beyond that. Offshore Angola represents a high
risk/high potential exploration opportunity in one of the maost prolific
light oil basins in the world.



of strategic importance

Governance

We take governance issues very seriously and view our internal controls, cost
control and management reporting to be among the best in the industry. We
continue to take additional steps to further ;‘enhance our corporate governance.

Rio Alto Acquisition |
The Rio Alto acquisition represents a significant addition to an already strong
natural gas asset portfolio. The Northwest I:\?'Iberth core region is in an area
of the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin that is relatively undeveloped
and contains significant natural gas reserves in numerous zones.

Heavy Oil Market Opportunities

We have one of the strongest heavy oil portfollos in western Canada. We
show discipline in our development approach to ensure sustainable returns.
The recycle ratios on heavy oil are among the best compared to other
commodities.in a normal price environment.

]

|

|
Horizon Oil Sands Pro;e&
This world class project iW|II require significant capital expenditures prior to first
production. Our financing approach will consider cash flow expectations, business
and equity partnership opportunities and varlous debt financing alternatives.

international Strategies |
Internationally our two production bases wj;ill provide different types of
development opportunities. Together they represent opportunities to increase
international production to 100,000 bbls/d by the end of 2005.

|
|
|
1
|
(



financial and operating highlights

2001 20007

FINANCIAL (3 millions, except per share data) o I e o o
Revenue | % 40832 § 3,588.8 $ 32606

Cgsﬁh@vyﬂogpperationsga_trtr'iquiéb‘leto common shareholders® | 5 2254.0| $ 15200 $ 1,883.6

Per commen share - basic ~ e - $  17.63 § 1583 % 1614
- - diluted B $ 16.99| $ 1523 § 1564
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders® B % 5698 $ 6426 7671

Per common share — basic e $ 4.46 $ 5.30 $ 6.57

- diluted $ 431 $ 517§ 639
Business combinations I $ 23832 § -3 16873
Capital expenditures, net of dispositions | % 16762| $ 18845 $ 1,136.0
Long-term debt ) S e $ 4,074.0 $ 2,669.2 $ 2,4545
Shareholders' equity $ 4,868.1 $ 3,807.0 $ 3,203.1

(1) Restated for change in accounting palicy and to conform to current year presentation.
(2) After dividend on preferred securities.
(3) After dividend and revaluation of preferred securities.

OPERATING
Daily Production Before Royalties o ) o

Crude oil and NGLS,(TDUP'E@

North America o ] 169 | 167 155
North Sea ] ] - 39 3 17
Offshore West Africa 7 3 2
215 206 174

Natural gas (mmcf/d) o ~ o | - ] o
North America S o 1,204 906 793
__,_N,,Qr,thﬁea o . ' » .27 12 1
Offshore West Africa 1 - -
1,232 918 794
Barre! of oil equivalent (mboe/d) 421 359 306

Average Prices Before Royalties

Crude oil and NGLs ($/bbi)

~ North America B - i § 27.04 § 21.00  $ 2815
North Sea - $ 39.79 $ 3866  § 4461
Offshore West Africa $ 40.10 $ 3357 $ 45.77
Company average $ 29.76 $ 24.31 $ 29.99

Natural gas ($/mcf) N o )
North America o . . . . $ 378| § 519 § 453

_ NorthSea $ 275 § 251 § 366
Offshore West Africa $ 4.82 - -
Company average $ 3.76 $ 5.6 $ 453

Drilling Activity (net wells, excluding stratigraphic testservice wells) - o o e

_ North America o - N 444 73 774
North Sea , N . 5 2 1
Offshore West Africa 4 1 -

] 453 739 775

Core Undeveloped Land Holdings (thousands of net acres) _ I I .

__North America . o4 10213f 6272 6276
North Sea e 4190 236 211
Offshore West Africa 943 1,258 1,528
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Reserves Before Royalties
Crude oil and NGLs (mmbbls) N o .
__Proved e o ,
North America ) 665 644 642
North Sea S ) ) R 200 85 102
Offshore West Africa 96 61 37
961 790 781
Probable ) L o o o )
North America S 77 95 88
North Sea e 73 23 33
Offshore West Africa 70 51 9
220 169 130
Total 1,181 959 911
Natural gas (bcf) L L o
Proved o o ) I o
North America o ) 3,048 2,566 2,360
North Sea e 71 94 91
Offshore West Africa 90 69 66
3,209 2,729 2,517
Probable e o R - o
North America 402 349 402
North Sea ) o e . 8 24 23
Offshore West Africa 31 27 19
451 400 444
Total 3.660 3,128 2,961
Barrels of oil equivalent (mmboe) B o
Pooved o 1,496 1,245 1,201
Probable 295 236 204
Total 1,791 1,481 1,405

o)
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strategy is defined and efective. It has cnabled us to grow from vreer?
7

> dey in 1988 o over 450,80 see per day fn 280
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ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF OUR STRATEGY

ALLOCATE CAPITAL TO MAXIMIZE RETURNS

We put ourselves in a position to build value for the long term while still taking advantage of short-term market aberrations. For example in 2002,
we increased heavy oil drilling to take advantage of low differentials. We proactively look for such opportunities on a weekly basis and are nimble
enough to deliver.

DEFINED GROWTH, VALUE-ENHANCEMENT PLAN FOR EACH OF OUR PRODUCTS AND BASINS
We carry a large inventory of projects, which allows us to continually high-grade our capital allocation.

MAINTAIN BALANCE IN FOUR WAYS

We are balanced in our product mix, with just under 50% of our production being natural gas, and the remainder being a mix of light, Pelican Lake,
primary heavy and thermal heavy oil. We are balanced in our project time horizons and have near-, mid-, and long-term projects proceeding
simultaneously. We balance our exploitation focus with targeted exploration and property acquisitions. Finally, from a financial perspective, we maintain
a strong balance sheet and balance our sources of financing and debt maturity profile.

OPPORTUNISTIC MAJOR ACQUISITIONS
Each and every one of our major acquisitions was opportunistic and in each case they have taken us to a stronger and higher level as a company.

CONTROL COSTS THROUGH AREA KNOWLEDGE AND DOMINATION OF CORE FOCUS REGIONS
In this business, the low-cost operator will ultimately prevail. We control our costs through maintaining core focus regions, by understanding, controlling
and dominating the land base and infrastructure. This allows us to get our production on stream quickly and cost effectively.

2002 Annual Report 05




letter to shareholders

Last y@@f wes anether strong
by Canadian Natural
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Our strategy is very effective in facilitating our objective to maximize value
creation on a per share basis and ensure that we meet our return on
capital requirements. The essence of the strategy is to optimize capital
allocations to build value in the near, mid and long terms. In order to
achieve this, we believe that a strong, balanced asset portfolio and a
flexible approach to project development are critical. We have both of these
attributes. We have a significant portfolio of opportunities in each of our
commodities and core regions and we now operate and control virtually
all of our assets around the world.

We target 10% annualized growth in each of our pershare, value
creation metrics, and have more than delivered on this objective during
2002 and over the past ten years:

2002 10-year

_ Annual Growth  Compound Growth

Cash flow pershare  11% 36%
Net asset value per share - 12% 28%
Productionpershare ___11% 24%
Reserves per share 10% _25%

Production volumes in 2002 were 17% higher than 2001 and proved
reserves increased by 20%. These improvements, along with strong
commodity, pricing allowed the Company to generate record cash flow
from operations of $2.3 billion compared with $1.9 billion in 2001.

Other specific accomplishments during 2002 align with our strategies as
follows:

OPPORTUNISTIC MAJOR ACQUISITION

7] The acquisition of Rio Alto in July increased North American natural
gas production by 376 mmcf/d during the last half of 2002 and
provided a new core region with high potential in Northwest
Alberta. It is expected that Canadian Natural can add between
1.3 and 1.8 tcf in new natural gas reserves from this region over
the next seven years.

CORE REGION CONTROL AND DOMINATION

C  The acguisition of additional ownership interests and transition to
operator of four producing platforms in the North Sea enables
Canadian Natural to pursue a more aggressive exploitation program.

O Entered into a Production Sharing Agreement, CI-400, in offshore
Cote d'ivoire extending landholdings along the promising
Espoir/Baobab trend.

06 Canadian Natural

Left to right: William Clapperton, Tim McKay, Réal Cusson,
Allan Markin, Martin Cole, Steve Laut, Allen Knight.

CAPITAL ALLOCATION TO MAXIWIZE RETURNS
O Shifted capital during the year toward increased oil drilling activity to
take advantage of lower than expected heavy oil price differentials.

EXPLOITATION FOCUS
T Brought the Ladyfern field on stream as expected and fully exploited
this exceptional asset.

O Commenced first production from the Espoir field located offshore
Cote d'lvoire.

T Commenced the Pelican Lake enhanced oil recovery study. This
project has the potential to significantly increase recoverable reserves.

BUILD VALUE-ENKANCERENT PLAN FOR EACH CORE REGION

O Declared commerciality on the Baobab field, located offshore
Cote d'lvoire, with first production expected in 2005, This field
contains an estimated 200 million barrels of recoverable reserves
and is owned 61% by Canadian Natural.

O Filed regulatery applications for the 6 billion barrel Horizon Oil Sands
Project. Government approval is expected in late 2003.

T Obtained regulatory approval for the Primrose in-situ oil development
plan, providing the ability to significantly grow thermal oil volumes
over the next few years,

O Entered into a Production Sharing Agreement on Block 16 located
offshore Angola. This block provides high risk/nigh potential
exploration upside in one of the world’s most prolific light oil basins.

O Continued to add undeveloped land in natural gas prone areas to
maintain natural gas well inventory.

FINANCIAL STRENGTH AND BALANCE

T lssued US $1.1 billion in additional 10- and 30-year notes, serving
to both diversify debt holdings and terming out over 50% of debt
maturities beyond the Horizon Oil Sands Project construction years.

As we look toward the future, the Company has maintained the integrity of

its roots with several core competencies and competitive advantages,

including:

C An employee culture that expects value creation from every
investment and expenditure decision;

O A high quality and deep management team;
O An asset base capable of generating significant free cash flow; and
7] Being a low cost producer.

Of the major independent E&Ps, Canadian Natural exits 2002 as the
second-most levered by investment exposure to North American natural
gas markets. Despite severe declines at the Ladyfern field, which
commenced in the fall 2002, we expect to maintain 2002 exit production
levels throughout 2003. We have a significant land base and prospect




John Langﬂle Mary-Jo Case, Lyle Stevens, Cameron Kramer

Left to right: Brian Illing, Douglas Proil, Réal Doucet, {
l
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inventory in Northeast British Columbia and Northwest Alberta, two of the
most prospective regions of the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin.

The strategic acquisition of Rio Alto brought with it the Northwest Alberta
region, which contains both extensive multi-zone Cretaceous plays in the
northern portion and a significant Cardium zone play in the southern
portion. Canadian Natural shareholders are the beneficiaries of the work
initiated by Rio Alto, including an extensive seismic database and a high
quality land base containing numerous potential hydrocarbon traps close
to an infrastructure designed to handle volumes well in excess of those
currently being produced. Our approach to extracting superior returns
from this acquisition is very much a measured one. We are taking a disci-
plined approach to development to ensure that we can bring on new
natural gas at a low cost and with lower risk. Our 2003 results to date are
promising, meaning that we will ramp up our development of this core
region in 2004.

We also remain the second largest producer of heavy oil in Canada and
have extensive capabilities for future development. Our conventional heavy
oil inventory will provide over 1,000 drilling locations and hundreds of
recompletions over the next few years. Having recently attained Alberta
Government approvals for conversion to high-pressure steam capability,
the Primrose thermal oil development plan is proceeding with the drilling
of new high-pressure well pads in 2003, adding production in 2004, Over
time and as market conditions warrant, we will eventually bring on up to
100,000 barrels per day of heavy oil production at this field.

During 2002 we filed our regulatory submissions for the Horizon Oil
Sands Project and completed much of the second phase engineering
requirements. This world-class project will produce 232,000 bbls/d of
fight, sweet synthetic crude oil, with no production declines for over 40
years, right next door to the largest market in the world. We expect
Government approvals in 2003 with construction commencing in 2004
and first production in 2008.

The majority of our producing international assets are located in the
United Kingdom sector of the North Sea. We believe that this region exhibits
business characteristics similar to western Canada of-the early 1990 and
that the exploitation focus of this mature basin fits directly with our core
strengths. Over time we hope to acquire interests in properties around
new hubs or our existing hubs.

Our other international assets are located in offshore Cote d'Ivoire and
offshore Angola. In Céte d'Ivoire we dominate the land base and infra-

Allan P. M;ﬁ%

Chairman
March 18, 2003

structure surrounding our leases. We have one project on stream (Espoir)
and are ramping up production, a second project (Baobab) under devel-
opment and have significant land holdings for future exploration upside.
In Angola we have a very exciting exploration block containing at least
two significant prospects, one of which we will drill in late 2003.

The ability to generate superior cash flow remains the foundation of our
success. Our confidence in cash flow generation capability has resulted in
our Board of Directors declaring a 20% increase in our dividend to $0.60
per common share per annum.

Based upon our budgeted 2003 oil pricing of US $24.00 WTI per barrel
and natural gas pricing of US $4.00 NYMEX per mmbtu, Canadian Natural
continues to generate significant free cash flow, which will enable us to
spend over $800 million in 2003 on future oriented growth projects while
still reducing long-term indebtedness. Today's commodity pricing is well in
excess of our budgeted price forecast for each of our products, resulting
in potential 2003 cash flows well in excess of our $2.3 billion capital
budget. We will use a minimum of 50% of this excess free cash flow to
repay outstanding indebtedness, and up to 25% will be allocated to each
of our share buy-back program and additional capital spending in the
latter half of the year. To date we have acquired over 450,000 shares under
our buy-back program.

Finally, we have also made adjustments to Board and Management
Governance. The addition of two new independent directors and the
formation of new independent committees of the Board further strengthen
the stewardship of the Company.

We are well positioned to deliver continued growth and robust returns
into 2003 and beyond. We expect current year production to grow by
about 10% over 2002 levels, with the majority of that growth coming
from conventional oil drilling in North America, the North Sea and Offshore
West Africa. In North America we will also substantially increase our
natural gas drilling program by more than 260%. In so doing, we will
complete our set-up drilling program in our new Northwest Alberta
natural gas region in order to establish the groundwork for an aggressive
2004 drilling program. We will also commence drilling of new high-pres-
sure wells at our Primrose in-situ play, which will yield incremental produc-
tion in 2004.

We have a very strong, low-risk asset base and we look forward to being
one of the few oit and natural gas producers that can provide both visible
growth and value creation for our shareholders.

John G. Langille
President
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Lonnie Abadier, Alnoor Abhvani, Michael Adams, James Agate, Cheryl Agnew, Garrisen
Ailsby, Fiona Aitken, Sina Akinsanya, Brian Akre, Chris Alderson, Andrew Alexander,
Gregory Alexander, Sullivan Alexander, Elena Algazina, John Allen, Eva Almeida, Gordon
Almond, Jocelyn Alonso, Nelson Alook, Clark Ambler, Grayson Andersen, Bruce Anderson,
Cal Anderson, John Anderson, Greg Anderson, Jeremy Anderson, Kelvin Anderson,
Leonard Anderson, Murray Anderson, Richard Anderson, Troy Anderson, Dale Andres,
Todd Andrews, Gloria Angeles, Sherley Angers, Kari-Lou Antolic, Kathy Antonishyn, Shelley
Antonuk, Cheryl Appleton, Jim Archibald, Evalynn Arden, John Argan, Mark Ariss, James
Arkley, Darryl Armstrong, Randall Armstrong, Rob Armistrong, Niels Arveschoug,
Jacqueline Asso, Maguy Atheba, Alan Atkinson, Clifford Atkinson, John Atkinson, Jason
Auch, Bernard Auger, Marvin Auger, Charles Badiou, Janice Baik, Michael Baik, Dwayne
Bailer, Judy Bailey, Chris Baker, Reginald Baldock, Mark Baldwin, Vaughn Baldwin, Ronnie
Ballas, Sheldon Ballas, Darwin Banash, Teresa Banny, Inge Bantli, Wendy Barclay, Jack
Bardah!, Garry Bardoel, Larry Bardoel, Nicole Bares, Suchada Barker, Michael Barnes,
Kenneth Barrett, Lisa Barrett, Marty Bartman, Kenda Bates, Colin Beaman, Aura Beattie,
Laurier Beauncyer, David Bechtel, Chris Becker, Ewan Beenham, Robert Befus, Adrian
Begley, Loren Behrens, Paul Beilby, Guy Belanger, Lesley Belcourt, Dave Bell, David Bell, Jon
Bell, Willlam Bell, Reg Bellanger, Wes Bensmiller, Linda Bentley, James Bentley, Linda
Beresh, Doris Bergeron, Jeffrey Bergeson, Henry Berlinguette, Stephen Bernard, Allan
Bertram, Murray Bertsch, David Biagi, Corey Bieber, Douglas Bielech, Inge Biener, Bruce
Bignell, Kim Bilan, Henry Bilodeau, Robert Bilsland, Roger Bintz, Warren Birch, Tim Bird,
Mark Bishop, Darwin Bittner, Blaine Bjarnason, Kevin Bjornstad, Adam Black, Jennifer
Black, Kenneth Blackhall, Barbara Blacklock, Kerri Blackmore, Michael Blair, Deana Blas,
David Blake, Shawna Blanchard, Christopher Blatchly, Ellen Bloomfield, Heather Bobbett,
Brad Bodnar, Dennis Boehmer, Michael Boer, Darcy Boettger, Marty Boggust, Brent
Boguslaw, Paul Bolleau, Peter Boisvert, Greg Bolin, Shawn Bond, Peter Bonnell, Patricia
Booklall, Jayne Booth, Albert Bordeleau, Mark Born, Michael Born, Jon Borstel, Suzanne
Boudignon, Kari Bouillet, Lucien Bourbeau, Carl Bourque, Daryl Bourque, Slade Bowers,
Donna Bowles, Dale Boychuk, Jeffrey Boyd, Patrick Boyd, Neil Bozak, John Brabec, Bryan
Bradley, Marianne Brady, Mary Jane Brady, Eleanor Branagh, Myron Brataschuk, Brad
Braun, Colin Brausen, Tara Brechin, Sharon Breitkreuz, Joseph Breland, Paul Breland, Barry
Brick, Pedro Briguel, Ken Brinkac, Shawn Brockhoff, Murray Brooker, Dennis Brooks, Steve
Brown, Robert Brownless, Elizabeth Brownrigg, Rod Brunes, Gordon Bryant, Gordon
Buckshaw, Christopher Bulley, Clarence Bur, Trevor Burchenski, Keith Bureau, Grant
Burgess, Wendy Burlock, Rick Burns, Sharon Burns, Corinne Burton, Bob Butterworth,
Ronald Butts, Leanne Butz, Tricia Butz, Todd Bymoen, James Cadrain, Jean Caldas, Leslie
Calder, Richard Calliou, Lorraine Cameron, Tyson Cameron, Clayton Camphbeil, Dean
Campbell, Doug Campbell, Robert F. Campbell, Robert J. Campbell, Andre Campeau, John
Capstick, Fred Cardinal, Harley Cardinal, Sharon Cardinal, Wayne Cardinal, Jim Carey, lan
Carleton, Stephanie Carolan, Albert Czron, Norman Caron, Rick Carr, Kim Carrof, Gary
Case, Mary-fo Case, Trevor Cassidy, Mike Catley, Susan Cervania, Samuel Cervantes,
Qzlem Cetin-Dogan, Ernest Chachula, Joe Chamberlain, Katrina Chambers, Alan Chan, Jik
Chan, Sarah Chan, Tim Chan, Alan Chaney, Calvin Chapman, Melody Chapman, Todd
Chapman, Deon Chappell, Darryl Charabin, Sabrina Charlton, Rachel Charman, Cynthia
Chartrand, Stephen Chastell, Leon Chateauneuf, Dawn Chau-Lam, Mike Chernichen,
Jeremy Chessell, James Cheung, Patricia Childs, Willlam Chiverton, Jessica Choi, Raymond
Chong, Wayne Chorney, Sherry Chow, lJeannie Choy, Alphonse Chretien, Ruth
Christensen, Steven Christie, Andy Chu, Sharon Chung, Heather Church, Kadidiatou Cisse,
Stella Clapham, William Clapperton, Andrea Clark, Mike Clark, Clivia Clarke, Sanja Clarke,
Robert Clayson, Greg Clegg, George Clutton, Dale Coburn, Judith Cochran, Anna
Cochrane, Jennifer Code, Sabrina Colangelo, Martin Cole, Elva Coley, Lilie Collins, Royston
Collison, Brad Cook, Bill Cooke, Kent Cooper, Jean Corbiere, Elaine Coreman, Gordon
Cormack, Linda Cormier, Rosetta Cormier, James Corner, Neil Costeloe, Wayne Cote, Juan
Cottier, Jack Courchene, Kathryn Courtney, Dave A. Cousins, David H. Cousins, James
Coutts, Gordon Coveney, Keith Cowger, Jonathan Cox, Randy Cox, Nigel Crabb, Harry
Crabtree, Layne Craig, Bruce Crain, Bryan Crawford, Beverley Creed, Donald Cretney,
Roger Crichton, David Cridland, Barry Croker, Christopher Cross, Lana Cross, Lioyd Cross,
Kirby Crowell, Anthony Csabay, Corinna Culler, Arley Currie, Stuart Curtis, Kenneth
Cusack, Pat Cusack, Réal Cusson, Ken Cyr, Andre Da Costa, Helder Da Silva, ivone Da Silva,
Greg Dacyk, Duane Dahl, Eliane Dakaud, Layne Dalgetty-Rouse, Walter Danchak, Aniko
Dani, Simon Daniel, Gene Danyluk, Lynne Darlington, Lisa DaSilva, Graham Davidson,
Marie Davidson, Tim Davidson, Todd Davidson, Meaghan Davis, Randall Davis, Robert
Davis, Stephen Davis, leffrey Davison, Peter Davison, Leonard Dawe, Robert Day, Ryan De
Bruyne, Daphne de Groot, Eric de Kock, Lance de Meillon, Lynne de Villenfagne, Harry
Dean, Parry Debusschere, Derek Dechaine, Raymond Dechaine, Roland Dechesne, Sheldon
Deford, lan Degiano, Barbara Deglow, Bonnie Deis, Benita Delorenzo, Michael Delorme,
Edward Deren, Tom Dereniwski, Betty Der-Griffiths, Travis Desilets, Catherine Desjarlais,
Michael Desroches, Laurie Devey, Karen Deyaegher, Sonia Dhuga, Aldo Di Flumeri, Karim
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Diallo, Harry Diamantopoulos, Sumara Diaz, Cameron Dickson, Sandy Diguer, Irene Dikau,
Michael Dingley, Robert Dion, Scott Dionne, Kathleen Dixon, Angela Dobb, Shawn Doble,
John Dodman, Conrad Dombowsky, Kelly Dombrosky, Manuel Domingos, Denise Donald,
Minh Dong, Veronica Dooling, Tim Dootka, James Doran, Sascha Dorer, Réal Doucet, Dahl
Dow, Blair Dow, Angela Dowd, Colleen Drury, John Drury, Steven Drysdall, Calvin Duane,
Albert Duczek, Jon Dudiey, Blair Duff, Simon Dugdale, Douglas Duguid, Albert Duhaime,
Cheryl Dumais, Sean Duncan, Jill Dunlop, Lyle Dupuis, Harvey Dutchak, Dianne Duthie,
Eugene Dyjur, Bruce Eamer, Gary Earl, Kevin Earle, Suzanne Eaton, Sean Ebert, Greg Ecker,
James Edens, Robert Edgar, Josephine Edoukou, Susan Edwards, Warren Eichhorst, Devin
Ekdahl, Janice Elago, Steve Elekes, John Elgar, Carole Eliuk, Anthony Ell, David Ellis, Jerry
Enders, Rommel Engler, Joanne English, Quentin Enns, Terry Erickson, Kresten Eriksen,
Sheldon Espetveidt, Monique Evans, Tim Evans, Maureen Evers-Dakers, Laura Ewen,
Michael Eynon, Mcgarry Eyre, Leonard Fabes, Lawrence Facchina, Denis Fagnan, Heather
Fahey, Catherine Falconer, Andy Fankhauser, Denise Farrell, Arthur Faucher, Karman
Fayant, Tanya Fayant, Brian Fehr, Darwin Feil, Ira Feland, Maria Felix, Kurt Fenrich, Helen
Ferguson, Joaquim Fernandes, James Ferrier, Magdalena Ficek, Darren Fichter, Jeremy Field,
Michael Filipchuk, Tanya Fir, Calvin Fisher, Rod Fitzpatrick, Sandra Fitzpatrick, Deborah
Flanagan, Paul Flanders, Ken Fleck, Rodney Flett, Andrew Fiis, Trevor Flood, Edmond Foisy,
Ryan Folkerts, Hop Chi Fong, Gregory Fontaine, Robert Fontaine, Carri-Ann Foote, Harris
Foote, Adele Forcade, Randy Formanek, Curtis Formanek, Devon Farnwald, Susan Forsyth,
Gilles Fortin, Dwayne Fotty, Peter Fowler, Donald Fox, Donna Frame, Joao Francisco, Ron
Frank, Jody Franz, Gail Fraser, Ken Frazer, Roger Frere, Brad Friesen, Kenneth Friesen, Kevin
Frith, Andrei Frizorguer, Frank Frosini, Karen Fujimoto, John Fur, Ted Furuya, Josephine
Gaddi, Leonard Gadowski, Sharon Gaehring, Kelly Gagne, Scott Gair, Larry Galea, Ron
Gall, Michael Gallon, William Galloway, Yoko Galvin, Terry Gammel, Jon Gareau, Roger
Gauchier, Joseph Gaugler, Maurice Gauthier, Alain Gho, Michael Geldert, William George,
James Georget, Matthew Gering, Robin Gering, Michel Germain, Raymond Germain,
Robert Germain, Albert Gervais, Paul Gervais, Clark Getz, Jerry Giesbrecht, Helga Giles,
Ralph Gill, Sharen Gillett, Douglas Ginn, Ben Gisby, Marvin Gladue, Russell Gleed, James
Glessing, Cody Goddard, David Golden, Brian Gonsalves, Yvonne Gonzalez, James
Gordon, Yvon Gosselin, Audrey Gothreau, Aflan Gould, Todd Gould, Antonella Goulet,
Sandra Goundrey, Debra Graham, Jacqui Grant, David Gratton, Melinda Gravelle, David
Gray, Ronald Gray, Theresa Greene, Ernie Greenwood, Derek Greidanus, Clint Greschner,
Lesley Griffin-Beale, Edmond Griffiths, Leo Groenewoud, Neil Guay, Trevor Guay, Robert
Gullion, Shane Gullion, Swarna Gunaratne, Carolyn Gunderson, Alan Gunst, Edward
Gushnowski, Elaine Gussman, Graham Gustafson, Bartley Haahr, Violet Haddad, Jenise
Hagel, Shara Hagel, Keri Hagemann, Egbert Hagens, Keith Hague, Sam Hajar, Shemin Haji,
Dean Halewich, Rick Halkow, James Hallett, Robert Hallett, Larry Hamende, Jim Hamilton,
Tim Hamilton, Kevin Hamm, Michael Hammel, Rick Hammond, Brad Hancock, Dave
Handy, Karl Hann, Mohsen Hanna, James Hansen, Ole Hansen, Darcy Hanson, John
Hanison, Judy Hanson, Kathy Hanson, Kent Hardisty, Melissa Hards, Teresa Hargreaves, Ken
Harke, Angela Harlos, Erik Haroldson, Bill Harris, Chad Harris, David Harris, Jody Harris,
Roger Harris, Murray Harrison, Lisa Hartman, James Harty, Mike Harty, Jerry Harvey, Cory
Harvie, Celin Hastings, Ewen Hatchwell, Bryan Hattebuhr, Christine Hattebuhr, Dale
Hattebuhr, Helen Hattie, Wayne Hatton, Dave Haub, Joey Hayward, David Haywood, Sean
Head, Jay Heagy, Larry Heath, Terry Heck, Steven Hedley, Ken Hedstrom, Raymond Heisz,
Judy Henderson, Thuy Henderson, John Hennessy, Anita Hennig, Jackueline Herauf, Judith
Hermann, Michele Herron, Dan Hiebert, Matthew Higgins, Gordon Hill, Steve Hill, Jesse
Hillebrand, Laureen Hillebrand, James Hinde, Gary Hodge, Barbara Hofer, Kevin Hogg,
Kevin Hoium, Andrew Holding, Tony Holland, Doug Holman, Richard Holman, Donald
Holmen, lan Holmes, David Holt, Clayton Holthe, Shannon Hood, Hans Hoogendam,
Blaine Hook, Paul Hooper, Loreena Hopkins, Bill Horne, Keith Hornseth, Ryan Hoskins,
Sherri Houle, Andrew Howerton, Kim Hranac, Joanne Huang, Barry Hucik, Paul Hudson,
Mark Hughes, Riley Hull, Terry Humbke, Kevin Hunter, Robert Hunter, Susan Hupman,
James Hurdal, Bradley Hurtubise, Geraldine Hutchins, Dean Hutchinson, Ray Hutscal, Bruce
Hutt, Greg Huva, Donald Huxley, Matthew lichuk, Brian llling, Michael Ingles, Brad Inman,
Jeff Irons, Anne Irving, Darren Isele, Linda Isfeld, Karen Ivan, Judy Jackson, Kevin Jackson,
Ken Jacobs, Ken Jacobson, Irene Jacula, Todd Jacula, Chris james, Bob Jamieson, Maria
Jancewicz, Peter Janson, Bryan Janvier, Leonard Janzen, Nancy Jarman, Calvin Jarratt, Mark
Jean, Megan Jenkins, jason Jenner, Lindsay Jenner, Brent Jensen, Kevin Jensen, Parry
Jensen, Qi Jiang, Agostinho Joao, Terry Jocksch, David Johnson, Evan Johnson, Jeffrey
Johnson, Mitzi Johnson, Stacy Johnson, Stephen Johnson, Victoria Jolliffe, Delbert Jones,
lan Jones, Mark Jones, Pamela Jones, Susan Jones, Damian Jordan, James Jung, Asif
Kachra, Carol Kadutski, Raymond Kahanyshyn, Myra Kalakailo, Derek Kalynchuk,
Harwinder Kang, Nashila Kanji, Dwayne Kaprowski, Brad Karaja, Tom Karpa, Lori Karpinka,
Angela Karst, Doug Kary, Lynn Kasper, Shelina Kassam, Myles Kathan, Deanne Katnick,
Christopher Kean, Philip Keele, Jody Keenan, John Keith, John Kellie, James Kelly, Frank
Kelton, Jeff Kemp, Wayne Kennedy, Val Kenyon, Blair Kessler, Kimberly Kielt, Leonard Kiez,
Selma Kilpatrick, Stan Kimmie, Richard King, Peter Kinnear, Linda Kinney, Marvin Kinsman,
Sandra Kintzl, Patrick Kirrane, Gord Kirwan, Shane Kissel, Brent Kissel, Mario Kiteculo,
Cody Klatt, Jeff Knibbs, Allen Knight, Russ Kobi, Barney Kobzey, Emmanuel Koffi, Kari
Kohalmi, Blair Koizumi, Danell Koko!, Lutz Kolberg, Eva Komers, Cameron Komm, ibrahim
Kone, Diane Kostiuk, Ann Kostyshyn, Didier Kouame, Richard Kowalski, Kevin Kowbel,
Cameron Kramer, Andrew Krancz, Trevor Krause, Todd Kreics, Jeffrey Kreiser, Patti
Krekoski, Michael Krips, Peter Krol, Gabriel Krywolt, Chris Kubisch, Warren Kuefler,
Micheal Kunert, Len Kurowski, Frank Kurucz, Harvey Kvile, Kelly Kwiatkowski, Angele
Kwon, Bob Kyllo, Philippa Labossiere, Philip Lafond, Levi Lafrance, Ronald Lafrance,




Michael Lahure, Cassandra Lai, June Lajoie, Edward Lalande, Mahmud Lalani, Melaine
Lam, Susan Lamb, Richard Lameman, Michel Landry, Robert Lang, John Langille, Carolyn
Langpap, Michelle Lapointe, Pamela Lapp, Melvin Lapratt, Robert Larson, Reno Laseur,
John Lasocki, Daniel Lastiwka, William Latchuk, Glenda Latham, Joan Latter, Krista
Latunski, Michael Laudel, Karen Laurin, Steve Laut, Bernard Lavoie, Iris Law, Ken Lawless,
Ewen Lawrence, Fred Lawrence, Brian Lawson, Lezlie Lawson, Martin Lawson, Sharon
tayton, Greg Lazaruk, Brian Leach, Margo Lebel, Colleen Lee, Dale Lee, Suzanne Lee,
Swee Lee, Tim Lee, Kevin Legault, Kris Lehocky, Mark Lenson, Gary Leong, Stephen Lepp,
Gerry Leslie, Marcus Lethaby, Don Leung, Esther Leung, Katie Leung, Maurice Levac,
Tracy Levasseur, Jean Levesque, Tracy Levia, Shelly Lewchuk, Gerald Lewis, Susan Lewis,
Larry L'Hirondelle, Heather Lichtenbelt, Bonnie Lind, Katherine Linder, Yvonne Linnartz,
Dennis Liu, James Livingston, Dale Lloyd, Debby Lo, Conrad Loch, Fred Locke, Kendall
Locke, Joy Lofendale, Per Lofgren, Shauna Logan, Randal Logelin, Rodney Logozar,
Brandice Long, Craig Long, Rick Long, Wade Longmore, Herb Longworth, Randy Looy,
Darin Lorenson, Matthew Lorincz, Bob Lorinczy, Nancy Lotocki, Michelle Lou, Allan
Loughran, Gordon Love, Darryl Lowe, Devin Lowe, Leah Loyola, Gerd Lucas, Dana
Lund, Wes Lundell, Jason Lush, Wendy Lutzen-Askew, Brent Lydiatt, Patricia
MacCrimmon, Peter Macdonald, Shawn Mack, Allan MacKenzie, Graeme MacKenzie,
Ken MacKenzie, Ryan MacKenzie, Shawn MacKenzie, Lesley-Ann Mackie, Joseph
MacKinnon, Mark Maclean, Susan Maclean, Douglas Macleod, Jamie Macleod,
Melanie Macmichael, Anne MacNeil, Bradley MacNeill, Joanne MacNicol, Marilyn
Macoy, Jane Mactaggart, Bruce Maddex, Morgan Maddison, Gary Madsen, Markus
Maennchen, Mike Magnusson, Bill Mah, Joey Majerech, Anita Mak, John Malachowski,
Ronald Malboeuf, James Maloney, Linda Maloney, Mike Manchen, Leonard
Mandrusiak, Darcy Mandziak, Ann Mann, Darcy Mann, Philip Mann, Rey Marceniuk,
Ronald Marcichiw, Allan Markin, Andrew Marsh, Amanda Marshall, Sally Marshall,
Lindsay Martin, Robert Martin, Dave Marttila, Richard May, Lyle Mayer, Toni McCarthy,
John McCoshen, Erin McCoy, Clete McCoy, Tara McCreary, Kevin McDonald, Trisha
McDonald, Laurie McEwen, Frances McGlynn, Robert McGowan, Bruce McGrath,
Mavis McQuire, Carmen McKay, Kim McKay, Lindsey McKay, Rod McKay, Tim McKay,
Keith McKenzie, David McKinnon, Douglas McLachlan, Bonnie-Lynn Mclaren, Marla
McLean, Robert Mcleod, Blake McManus, David McNamara, Barry McNeil, Kendal
McNeil, Lynn McNeil, Bill McNeill, Jaime McNichol, Elaine McPherson, Casey McWhan,
Wendy Measures, Karyn Meehan-Coles, Barry Meier, Daniel Meier, Kelly Meier, Monty
Meikle, Gloria Melenberg, Belinda Meller, Dick Mellor, Jean Melnychuk, Paul Mendes,
Mark Mercer, Timothy Merk, Greg Merkel, Danny Merkley, Joseph Merrier, Dwight
Mervold, Rick Meyers, Barry Michelson, Murray Michie, William Middiehurst, Dale
Midgley, Marc Miiller, Jane Mikalsky, Jacqueline Miko, Jeffrey Miller, Noel Millions, John
Mills, Ronald Mills, Tom Mills, Christopher Millyard, Michelle Minick, Wyman Minni,
Denis Mino, Kerry Minter, Carolyn Minton, Celeste Miranda, Charlene Misurelli, Dwight
Mitchell, Neven Mitchell-Banks, Anar Mitha, Derek Moir, Rosa Moises, Mimi Mok,
Jelena Molnar, Roy Monro, Rick Monteith, Alfred Moon, Judy Moore, Kevin Moore,
Jason Morave¢, Anne-Marie Moreno, Karen Morgan, Christopher Morgan, Marcia
Morgan, Shaun Morozuik, Terry Morris, Justin Morrison, Wesley Morrow, Paul Mossey,
Glen Mott, Barbara Mowat, Donald Mudryk, Wayne Mudryk, Lee-Ann Mules, Lucy
Mulgrew, Dale Murray, Dean Murray, Patricia Murray, William Muss, Kevin Mutch,
Lorna Myers, David Myshak, Melonie Myszczyszyn, Richard Nachtegaele, Aleksandra
Naczk-Cameron, Elly Nance, Rick Napier, Bill Navratil, Gita Nayak, Randy Necember,
Robert Nell, Aaron Nelson, Douglas Nelson, Gilbert Nelson, Vincent Nelson, Brad
Nessman, Monty Neudorf, Melissa Neumeier, Jason Newman, John Newman, Kevin
Newton, Alice Ng, Eileen Ngo, Minh Nguyen, Tai Nguyen, Thu-Van Nguyen, Fawn
Michol, James Nicholson, Doris Nickel, Josie Nicolajsen, Jason Nielsen, Wayne Nielsen,
lan Noble, Scott Noble, David Noel, Greg Nolin, Robert Norman, Troy Normand, Claude
Norris, Daniel Nugent, Edward Nunes-Vaz, Kelvin Nurkowski, Robert Nuytten, Genia
Nyenhuis, Wayne Nyholt, Tim Nyitrai, Jason Nykolaychuk, Kathryn Oates, Robert
Qgilvie, Kevin O'Hearn, Alvin Olchowy, Delvin Qlesen, Deanna Olichny, Scott Oliphant,
Dianne Qliveira, Cathy Cliver, Jason Ollikka, Richard Olsen, Darren Ongyerth, Vane Orcutt,
Steven O'Reardon, Flora O'Reilly, Colette Orr, Neil Orr, Perry Osgood, Wayne Otteson,
Jolanta Ouellette, jean Ousset, James Overall, Peter Owens, Dennis Ozaruk, Ron
Pacholuk, Doug Page, Marcus Pagnucco, Rebert Painchaud, Elizabeth Palmer, Lee Palmer,
Michael Palmer, Glenn Paluck, Garry Pangracs, Beata Pankiw, Brian Pankiw, Blair Parent,
Bernard Parenteau, Clement Parenteau, Blaine Parker, David Parker, Steve Parker, Barry
Parkin, John Parr, Wendy Parsons, Lawrence Paslawski, Joey Pasos, Randy Passmore,
Michael Pasveer, Donna Patton, Chris Paulette, John Paufson, Lance Pawlik, Rick Pay,
David Payne, Dean Payne, Elaine Payne, Keith Payne, Laurel Payten, Gary Pearce, John
Pearce, Pam Pearson, Robert Pearson, Brenda Peatch, Shawn Pedersen, Brian Pederson,
Lance Pederson, Dianne Peel, Robin Penner, Kevin Pennington, John Perepelecta, Tarla
Persaud, Bernie Persson, Carlo Pesce, Bill Peterson, Brenda Peterson, Douglas Peterson,
Henry Petrie, Rodney Petrie, Lucyna Pettigrew, Doug Pierce, Ron Pilisko, Kathy Pinco, Dale
Pinder, Nigel Platt, Ted Plouffe, Louis Plouffe, Marie-Anne Poirier, Hector Poirier, Donna
Poitras, Al Pollom, Allan Poloway, Eleanor Polson, Robert Pool, Chris Poole, James Pope,
Carol Porter, Patti Postlewaite, Jeffrey Poth, Bruce Powell, Neil Powell, Susan Powell, David
Pratt, Adela Prior, Lesley Proctor, Doug Proll, Sarah Proudlock, Jacques Proulx, Richard
Proulx, Elizabeth Pryce, Steve Pshyk, John Puckering, Leslie Punko, Trent Pylypow, Warren
Raczynski, Michael Rainey, Myron Rak, Maritess Ramirez, Ruth Ramonas, Ron Ramsay,
Kerri Ramsbottom, Brian Ramsum, Tom Rangen, Stojan Ratkovic, Robert Rayner, Shannon
Rea, Brenda Read, Teddy Reay, Dan Reber, Deston Reber, Duane Reber, Bernie Redlich,

Peter Reece, Tim Reed, Lori-Anne Reed, Duncan Rehm, Carmon Reich, Jim Reichert,
Angela Reimer, John Reiniger, Hannes Reiter, Wendy Reitmeier, Alexander Rennie, Mike
Rew, Pat Reynolds, Keith Rhodes, George Rhyason, Charles Richards, Robert Richardson,
Wesley Richardson, william Richmond, Jeff Riddell, Robert Riddell, Joanne Riggall, Car!
Ringdahl, Serge Rioux, limmie Roberts, Judie Roberts, Christine Robertson, Dale
Robertson, Nancy Robertson, Arlene Robinson, Gene Robinson, Roger Rodermond, Dean
Rogal, Louis Romanchuk, Dwayne Romanovich, Joy Romero, Linda Romness, Harvey
Rosenkranz, Dennis Ross, Graham Rosso, Worley Rosson, Barry Rosychuk, Cheryt
Rosychuk, Rick Rosychuk, Tom Roth, Judy Rotzoll, Richie Rovere, Scott Rowein, Zenita
Ruda, Nigel Rusk, Mark Russell, Colin Russett, Matthew Russett, Brian Rutledge, Daniel
Ruttan, Hal Rutz, Rick Rybchinsky, Tony Sabelli, Mikael Sabo, Adam Saby, Gurdip Sahota,
Pedro Salomao, David Sanderson, Pearl Sands, Rosa Santo, John Sargent, Anita Sartori,
Lisa Saumier, Christine Savary, Luc Savoie, Denise Sawchyn, Michael Scase, Bruce
Schade, Judy Schafer, Paul Schaub, Alison Scheers, John Schell, Barry Schellenberg,
Mike Schellenberg, Lance Schelske, Sally Schick, Ronald Schlachter, Beat Schmid,
Raquel Schmidt, Valerie Schmidt, Christopher Schneider, Craig Schneider, Darryl
Schneider, Blaine Schnell, Craig Schnepf, Aaron Schnick, Jack Schnieder, Ronald
Schnieder, Stephen Schofield, Norm Schonhoffer, Emily Schroeder, Sheldon Schroeder,
Tricia Schuh, Donna Schuler, Stephen Schultheiss, Julie Schultz, Marilyn Schultz, Anita
Schweitzer, Lorne Schwetz, Lorraine Schwetz, Curtis Scott, John Scott, Marjorie Scott,
Ronalda Scott, Don Sedor, Brian Segouin, Kenneth Selman, Roland Senecal, Nicolette
Seppola-Cyr, David Sergeant, Cindy Severite, Jeremy Seward, Kenneth Seymour, Sanjay
Shah, Gilbert Shantz, Marilyn Shaw, Dorothy Shea, Robert Shears, Judi Shermerhorn,
Feng Shi, Annette Shillam, Leonard Shostak, Mark Shrosbery, Ernie Shuttleworth, Steve
Siemens, Wayne Sikorski, Lorraine Silas, Beh Silue, Barbara Simpson, Brad Simpson,
Patrick Simpson, Dennis Sinclair, Sherry Sinclair, Paul Siree, Richard Sisson, Michael
Skipper, Shirley Skulmoski, Michael Skyrpan, Doreen Smale, David Smart, Bonnie Smith,
Catriona Smith, James Smith, Lawrence Smith, Nancy Smith, Tina Smith, Todd Smith,
Allen Smyl, William Snow, Douglas Snyder, Heidi So, Carol Solkshinitz, Lumba Soma,
Darcy Spenst, David Spetz, Melanie Sprake, John Springer, Ellis Spurrell, Lawson Squire,
Roy St Pier, Robert St.Amant, lan Stacey-Salmon, Stacey Stadnyk, Kendall Stagg,
Rodney Stahn, Mark Stainthorpe, Karen Stairs, Randy Stamp, Donald Stanchfield,
Raymond Stasow, Scott Stauth, Achilles Stavropoulos, Mark Steenbergen, Jerry
Stefanyshyn, Wayne Steffen, Austin Stevens, Lyle Stevens, Robert A. Stevenson, Robert
H. Stevenson, Carol Stewart, Lorie Stewart, Wendy Stewart, Stewart Stirling, Katrina
Stockman, Godfrey Stowe, Melinda Strachan, Wade Strand, Linda Strangway, Rodney
Strate, George Stratford, Brenda Stratichuk, William Strecker, Michael Street, Bill Stretch,
Kevin Stromquist, Robert Struski, Stephen Suche, Mark Sullivan, Vartan Suftanian,
Shiraz Sumar, Laura Sutherland, Daniel Sutherland, Jodi Sutherland, Michael Swain,
Rick Swanson, Halina Swierz, Jill Symonds, Kevin Tanas, Nick Tannahill, Krystalle Tanner,
Michael Tanouye, Kari Tansowny, Dan Tarasoff, Boyd Tarasoff, Ron Taron, Ross Tarrant,
Jjoanne Taubert, Barry Taylor, Cathy Taylor, George Taylor, James Taylor, Karen Taylor,
Ken E. Taylor, Ken W. Taylor, Paul Taylor, Thomas Taylor, Verlynn Taylor, William Taylor,
Robert Templeton, Leighton Tenn, Rob Tenney, Kurt Tenney, Marilyn Tenold, Katherine
Terry, Jason Tessier, Raj Thanawala, Richard Theberge, Marc Theroux, Karen Thistleton,
George Thomas, Laurie Thomas, Lisa Thomas, Amie Thompson, Herb Thompson, Mark
Thompson, Scott Thompson, Adele Thomson, Julie Thomson, Todd Themsen, Bruce
Thornton, Keith Thornton, Jason Thurlow, Margaret Thurmeier, Daniel Tiberio, Daniel
Tillapaugh, Terry Tillotson, Brian Timmerman, David Timms, Simon Timothy, Ron
Tochor, Al Tokarchik, Dale Toliver, Dale Tomlinson, David Tonner, Derek Toullelan, Ken
Trach, Charlene Trefenanko, Catherine Trenouth, Dean Tucker, Shayne Tulloch, Bruce
Tumbach, Terry Turgecn, David Turk, Stanley Turner, Irene Tutto, Grant Twanow, David
Tweddell, Shaun Tymchyshyn, Connie Ugaddan, Gregory Ulrich, Geri Urch, Allan
Valentine, Louis Vallee, Richard Van Appelen, Karen Van Breda, Christina Vander Pyl,
Vyvette VanderPutt, Mark VanDoorn, Collin Vare, Nicolette Vaughan, Dale Vickery, David
Vieira, Wilf Vielguth, Andrew Vinall, Victoria Vinkle, Tony Vitkunas, Nigel Vivian, Leo
Vollmin, Luke Vondermuhll, Duncan Wade, Dwight Wagner, Joy Wagner, Juon Wah,
Donald Wakaruk, Ken Walchuck, Martin Walker, £rin Wallace, Marie Wallace, Kevin
Wallace, Vince Wallwork, Blaise Wangler, Stewart Ward, Kirk Ward, Wanda Warman,
Godfried Wasser, James Waterfield, Adam Way, Larry Webb, Randall Weeks, Lionel
Weinrauch, Randy Weir, Mark Wenner, Dwayne Werle, Craig Werstiuk, Darrin West,
Darcy Weston, Terry Wetzstein, Loyd Wheating, Bob Wheeler, Ken White, Francis White,
David Whitehouse, Audrey Whitlock, Heather Whynot, Blaine Wicentovich, Debbie
Wiens, Cameron Wietzel, Zandra Wigglesworth, Troy Wilk, Derek Wilkinson, Bill
Williams, Grant Williams, Greg Williams, Kelvin Williamson, Jeff Willick, Robin Willis,
Wayne Willis, Susan Wills, Christian Willson, Curtis Wilson, Darryl Wilson, Don Wilson,
James Wilson, Jeff Wilson, Marty Wilson, Nancy Wilson, Neil Wilson, Patrick Wilson,
Ruth Wilson, Shari Wilson, Woodrow Wilson, Joan Wilton, Patrick Wiltse, Jodie
Winquist, Garrett Wirachowsky, Paul Wiseman, Dale Wittman, Susan Wolfson, Colin
Woloshyn, Jason Waong, Jennifer Wong, Kitty Wong, Lisa Wong, Bette Wood, Philip
Wood, Roxanne Wood, Wayne Woodward, Daron Woolf, Sidney Wosnack, Raymond
Wourms, Daniel Wright, Brent Wychopen, Guy Wylie, George Wyndham, Barry Wynne,
Valerie Wyonzek, Rick Yarmuch, James Yaroslawsky, Betty Yee, Davin Yee, Gordon Yee,
Michael Yee, Tony Yip, Flint York, Daryl Youck, Richard Young, William Young, William
Yuill, Robert Zabot, Gabriel Zachoda, Cam Zackowski, Conrad Zademersky, Eve Zawada,
Glenn Zeebregts, Patricia Zegers-de-Beyl, Diane Zeliznik, Darcy Zelman, Denis Zentner,
Michelle Zerr, Brenda Ziegler, Chrystal Ziezel.
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In 2002, we continued to follow our defined operating strategy. We reallocated
capital to take advantage of favourable heavy oil differentials and increased
our heavy oil drilling program. We completed an opportunistic acquisition of

Rio Alto and we increased our control in our core regions. We operate close
to 100% of our North American and Offshore West African assets and

80% of our North Sea operations. We have an improved balance in

our current production and in our asset inventory portfolio.
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PRODUCTION AND SALES

The Company's natural gas sales rose significantly in 2002, averaging

1,232 mmcf/d, a 34% increase over 2001 sales. Two major events impacting

natural gas production were;

O the completion of the Ladyfern pool development, where production
averaged 168 mmcf/d in 2002 compared with 40 mmcf/d in 2001;

O the Rio Alto acquisition on July 1, 2002, which provided an
additional 376 mmcf/d of production during the last half of the
year and 190 mmcf/d to the Company’s yearly average.

Crude oil and natural gas liquids production averaged 215,335 bbls/d, up

acquisition of additional working interests in the Northern North Sea. The
commissioning of the Espoir field in Cote d'ivoire fueled Offshore West
African oil production growth of 3,388 bbls/d, despite termination of
production at the Kiame field in Angola.

Canadian Natural's activities in 2002 have resulted in natural gas becoming
a more significant portion of the Company’s producing asset mix at the
expense of the heavier crude blends.

Production per Share Cash Flow per Share

4% from 2001 levels, North American liquids production increased 2% (boe/d per 1,000 shares) ($/share)
from 2001 due to increased NGLs production associated with the Rio Alto 3.29
acquisition, modest increases in heavy oil production and synergistic light
and heavy oil acquisitions. Production of primary and thermal heavy oil
volumes increased by 1,198 bbls/d over 2001 volumes despite Canadian
Natural proactively curtailing 15,000 bbls/d of heavy oil production in the
first quarter when price differentials were higher than normal. A price
recovery occurred late in the first guarter, enabling the Company to 6.9
resume heavy oil production and implement development projects during ’
the last nine months of the year. 4.47
Modest increases in production were realized in the North Sea where
average production increased by 2,624 bbls/d from 2001 levels through L
the continued exploitation cf the existing pools and through the mid-year 02 98 99
2002 2001
Production Mix Production Mix
mboe/d % mboe/d %

Natural gas ) B 206 4% 153 42
North America light oil and NGLs 42 10 35 10
Pelican Lake oil @ 29 7 o 35 10
Primary heavy oil i o 59 14 57 16
Thermal heavy oil - ji__ . 39ﬂ 9 40 1"
North Sea light oil L 38 9 | 36 10
Offshore West Africa light oil 7 2 3 1
Total 421 359

(1) Pelican Lake oil is 14 - 17° API oil, but receives medium quality crude netbacks due to exceptionally low operating costs and low royalty rates.

SEISHMIC

with Canadian Natural's emphasis on internally generated prospects, both
2-D and 3-D seismic are key to exploration success. In Canada, Canadian
Natura! invested $39.6 million during 2002 to acquire new seismic data
and to purchase and reprocess existing data. In total, the Company shot
2,698 kilometres of conventional seismic and 307 square kilometres of
3-D data. In addition, more than 6,340 kilometres of conventional seismic
and 361 square kilometres of 3-D data were purchased. This excludes the

57,820 kilometres of conventional seismic and 14,565 square kilometres
of 3-D seismic acquired through the Rio Alto transaction. Internationally,
Canadian Natural uses seismic extensively to determine the viability of its
exploration prospects. Since commencing operations outside Canada, the
Company has been actively involved in proprietary seismic programs covering
over 1,228 square kilometres of 3-D seismic and 8,150 kilometres of
conventional seismic. Additionally, over 53,500 kilometres of conventional
data and 7,000 square kilometres of 3-D seismic were purchased.
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UNDEVELOPED LAND

Canadian Natural owns one of the largest undeveloped land inventories
in western Canada. During 2002, the Company’s undeveloped net acreage
reached 10.2 million net acres, growing by 61% over the 6.3 million net
acres in 2001. Approximately 2.9 million net acres was acquired through

CORE CANADIAN LANDHOLRINGS

the acquisition of Rio Alto, which alsc created a new core region within
Northwest Alberta. Other acreage was primarily added to the Company’s
core regions of Northeast British Columbia and North Alberta. The
substantial land base provides the necessary assets for future exploration
and exploitation of oil and natural gas reserves.

(thousands of acres) 2002 2001
Average Average
Gross Net Interest % Gross Net Interest %
Developed 5013 3,832 7% | 4403 3,578 81
Undeveloped 12,241 10,213 83 7,228 6,272 87
Total 17,254 14,045 81 11,631 3,850 85
DRILLING ACTIVITY gas drilling reflects Canadian Natural’s decision to defer current natural

Canadian Natural drilled 900 wells in 2002 compared with 1,092 wells
in 2001. The 2002 drilling program resulted in 162 natural gas wells,
264 oil wells, 27 dry and abandoned wells, 441 stratigraphic test wells and
6 service wells. The 39% reduction in drilling activity (excluding
stratigraphic test/service wells) from the prior year was comprised of a 66%
reduction in natural gas well drilling and a 14% increase in oil well drilling.

The Company’s natural gas drilling occurred across 4 of its 5 core regions:
Northeast British Columbia, Northwest Alberta, North Alberta and South
Alberta. Of the 162 natural gas wells that were drilled, 29 were high density
wells targeting shallow natural gas plays. The overall decrease in natural

gas drilling and build location inventory to offset anticipated Ladyfern
production declines.

In North America, Canadian Natural drilled 16 light oil wells, 86 horizontal
wells at its Pelican Lake property, 1 thermal heavy oil well and 153 primary
heavy oil wells, Internationally, in the North Sea the Company drilled 5 oil
wells and 1 water injection well. In Cote d'lvoire, Canadian Natural drilled
3 oil wells, 1 water injection well and 1 dry and abandoned wells. Excluding
stratigraphic test wells and service wells, Canadian Natural achieved an
overall success rate of 94% and maintained an average working interest
of 85%, preserving the practice of operating with high ownership.

DRILLING ACTIVITY
(number of wells) 2002 2001
Gross Net Gross Net
Natural gas e o 183 182 | 576 476
ol ] S - 316 264 270 231
Dry and abandoned 32 27 36 32
Subtotal 531 453 882 739
Stratigraphic test/service wells 456 447 356 353
Total 287 900 1,238 1,092
Success rate, excluding stratigraphic test/service wells 94% 96%
CORE REGION FOQCUS
Net Undeveloped Land Dritling Activity
(thousands of acres) {net wells)
2002 2001 2002 2001
Northeast British Columbia 1,513 1,032 48 81
Northwest Alberta 1,821 529 13 n
North Alberta o 5,935 3,797 475 | 408
South Alberta ) L 666 654 55 | . 326
Southeast Saskatchewan 161 151 ) 5 4
Horizon Oil Sands Project 117 117 , 293 | 257
North Sea ' 410 237 6 | 3
Offshore West Africa 943 1,094 5 2
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RESERVES AND RESERVE REPLACEMENTS

Canadian Natural retains independent petroleum engineering consultants,
Sproule Associates Limited ("Sproule”), to evaluate the Company's proved
and probable oil and natural gas reserves and prepare the Evaluation Report
on the Company’s total reserves. For the year ended December 31, 2002,
the independent evaluators report incorporated 89% of the Company’s
reserve value, with the Company internally evaluating the remaining 11%.
The Board of Directors of the Company has an independent Reserves
Committee, which has met with Sproule and carried out independent due
diligence procedures with Sproule as to the Company’s reserves.

During 2002 Canadian Natural replaced 301% of its production and
increased reserves per common share by 10%. Natural gas reserve
additions totaled 218% of production. Crude oil and NGL replacement
ratios were 380%, reflecting an expanded heavy oil drilling program in
Canada, property acquisitions in the North Sea and drilling success in
Céte d'lvoire.

The Company's strategy of exploitation coupled with exploration and
opportunistic acquisitions continues to be successful and has resulted in
an increase in reserves per common share during every year of Canadian
Natural's existence.

In its evaluation, Sproule has booked 33% of the Company’s proved boes
as proved undeveloped (“PUDs") which is consistent with prior year levels.

Sproule has assigned PUDs to 45% of Canadian Natural’s proved crude oil
and NGL reserves. In North America, the ratio of PUDs remained at 40%.
The majority of the Company’s crude oil and NGL PUDs are associated with:

71 the Primrose thermal project, where tertiary recovery performance
has been established and the pool has been well delineated to
justify future expansions;

= the Espoir field in Cote d'ivoire, where the ongoing pool drilling and
waterflood development have established proved reserves that will
require further development;

T the future development of the Baobab pool in Céte d'lvoire where
two exploration wells have established the proven potential in the
reservoir; and

Z the North Sea, where proved future development exists through
infill drilling and waterflood optimization.

Sproule has assigned PUDs to 12% of the Company's proved natural
gas reserves, of which a portion is associated with secondary natural gas
horizons to be produced following primary zone depletion, as well as
solution gas conservation from the oil projects identified above.

No reserves have been assigned to the Horizon Oil Sands Project by the
Company or Sproule. Canadian Natural’s internal estimate of recoverable
bitumen is & billion barrels. Canadian Natural owns 100% of these
estimated reserves with production scheduled to commence in 2008.

Reserves per Share ™ Net Asset Value per Share @

(boe/share) ($/share)
13.39 87.43
12,22
11.49 q 78.55
70.02
9.55
7.55 48.61
| 3174|
] I L
98 99 00 01 02 98 99 00 01 02

(1) Based upon total reserves,
excludes reserves associated
with the Horizon Project.

(2) Based upon pre-tax net present
value of reserves discounted at
10%, including 50% of probable
reserve value, undeveloped
tand valued at $75/acre, less
long-term debt. Excludes
abandonment costs.
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RESERVES BEFORE ROYALTIES ™

December 31, 2002

Proved Proved Proved
Developed Undeveloped Total Probable Total
Crude oil & NGLs (mmbbls) R o B o ~ o
~North America 3¢ 269 665 77 742
North Sea 104 % 200 73 273
Offshore West Africa 33 63 26 70 166
533 428 961 220 1,181
Natural gastbe) _ e .
_ North America 2,721 327 3,048 402 3,450
North Sea B ) 5% s 018 89
Offshore West Africa 33 57 90 31 121
2,810 339 3,209 451 3,660
Total reserves (mmboe) 1,001 495 1,496 295 1,791
Present value of reserves ($ millions)®®
~10% discount $ 10967  $ 1,811  § 12,778 5 1,038 S 13,816
15% discount $ 9,461 $ 1,266 $ 10,727 $ 780 $ 11,507
December 31, 200t
Proved Proved Proved
Developed Undeveloped Total Probable Total
Crude oil & NGLs (mmbbls) »
North America S 382 262 644 95 739
__NorthSea o 54 31 8 23 108
Offshore West Africa 21 40 61 51 112
457 333 790 169 959
Natural gas (bcf) e o o o
~__North America L o 2,288 278 2,566 349 2,915
~__North Sea o - 19 75 94 a,,ﬁ_2_4__, 118
Offshore West Africa 17 52 69 27 96
2,324 405 2,729 400 3,129
Total reserves (mmboe) 845 400 1,245 236 1,481
Present value of reserves (§ millionsy®®
10% discount $ 7,850 $ 1,699 $ 9,549 $ 847 $ 10,396
15% discount $ 6,679 $ 1,177 $ 7,856 $ 642 $ 8,498

(1) 89% of the total December 31, 2002 reserves were independently evaluated by Sproule.

(2) Excludes provisions for abandonment costs and income taxes.
(3) Value of the probable reserves is reduced by 50% to account for risk.
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RESERVES RECONCILIATION

Offshore
North America North Sea West Africa Total
Crude Oil and NGLs (mmbb!s) o o
Proved Reserves
Reserves, December 31,2000 o 642 102 37 781
Extensions & discoveries o . 14 - 38 52
Property purchases 16 - 8 24
Property disposals I - - (1)
_____ Production o B (13) N m (79
Revisions of | prlor estimates 34 (4) (21) 9
Reserves, December 31,2001 o 644 85 61 790
_Extensions & d«scoverles o . L 31 T 18 50
rﬁrgp)_feg)i‘purchases o ) s 112 - 163
Property disposals e - M _ (18) - _(19)
Production o (82). I A ) N ) (79)
Revisions of pnor estimates 2 34 20 56
Proved Reserves, December 31, 2002 665 200 96 9619
Probable Reserves ) o o o
Reserves _Qgcemtgqrﬁj ‘_299_0 o - 88 33 s 130
Extensions & discoveries o (1 a - >
Property purchases _ . B - 19 .20
Property disposals o = - - -
Revisions of prior estimates 7 )] 23 21
Reserves, December 31, 2001 o 95 23 51 169
__ Extensions . & d:scovenes o o ) - n (49 (15)
Proggmy pgrcﬁases - S o 10 o 24 - 34
Property disposals I ) : - _ @
Revisions of prior estimates {28) 31 33 36
Probable Reserves, December 31, 2002 77 73 70 220
Total Reserves, December 31, 2002 742 273 166 1,181
Natural Gas (bcf) o L o
Proved Reserves
Reserves, Decemper 31, 2000 o 2,360 9% 66 2517
ExtenS|ons & discoveries o o 470 L . T A
_P@EEELMD?SQLW, R 67 - - S |-
Property disposals o ) - 25
___Production I R =< 1) B “) - 335
Revisions of prior estimates (75) 6 (21) (90)
Reserves, December 31,2001 2,566 94 69 2,729
Extensions & drscovenes 132 - 5 137
_ _Property purchases | - sn 18 - 8%
__ Property disposals (4) (56) - (60)
__Production e L {439) (10) (1 (450)
Revisions of prior estimates (79) 25 17 (37)
Proved Reserves, December 31, 2002 3,048 71 90 3,209
Probable Reserves o o o
Reserves, December 31,2000 sz B 19 444
Extensions & discoveries 9 (1) - 8
__Property purchases S 23 ST 1 34
_Property disposals o - (6) - o= (6)
Revisions of prior estimates (79) 2 (3) (80)
Reserves, December 31, 2001 o 349 24 27 400
Extensions & d|scover1es e 8 o - 7 I -
Property | purchases 82 6 - 88
Property disposals R - (6) - __(8)
Revisions of prior estimates (37) (6) 21 (22)
Probable Reserves, December 31, 2002 402 18 31 451
Total Reserves, December 31, 2002 3,450 89 121 3,660
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RESERVES CLASSIFICATION BY PRODUCT (%)
Proved Proved Proved
(boe basis at December 31, 2002) Developed Undeveloped Total Probable Total
Light Oil and NGLs
North America ) 8 - 8 8 g
NorthSea - 7 6 13 25 13
Offshore West Africa 2 4 6 23 )
Total 17 10 27 56 32
Heawyoit B ,
North America — primary o 7 1.8 17 10
North America — thermal 9 16 25 - 21
Total 16 17 33 17 31
Pelican Lake Oil o o S SR ,
North America 3 1 4 1 3
Total Crude Cil and NGLs 1 o
_ North America - U R 27 8 45 28 42
North Sea o R 6 3 25 15
Offshore West Africa 2 4 6 23 9
Total 36 28 64 74 66
Natural Gas o o S
North America S 1.3 4 34 23 32
North Sea N o 1 - 1 1 ot
Offshore West Africa - 1 1 2 1
Total 39 5 36 26 34
Total boe 67 33 100 100 100
FINDING AND ON-STREAN COSTS Three
2002 2001 2000 Year Total
Capital Expenditures ($ millions) N R R b
Business combinations B - $ 23932| § -5 16873 $ 4,080.5
Net property acquisitions o 440.2 5192 1502 1,109.6
__land acguisition and retention ~ 1135 100.5 797 2937
Seismic evaluations - - 63.4 %46 405 198.5
Well drilling, completion and equipping - 625.6 6353 5088 | = 1,769.8
Pipeline and production facilities 292.2 395.0 335.7 1,022.9
Total Net Reserve Replacement Expenditures $  3,928.1 $ 174456 $ 2,802.3 $ 8,475.0
Cost of Net Reserves Replacement After Reserves Revisions ($/boe) o
_ Provedonly o o .| % o70 § 991 S5 709 S 868
Proved and probable $ 8.47 $ 8.43 $ 6.20 3 7.55
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RESERVES EVALUATION PRICING MODELS
’ Company WTI at Hardisty North
Average Cushing, Heavy Sea
Crude Oil and NGLs Price Oklahoma 12° API Brent
December 31, 2002 (Cdn $/bbl) (US $/bbl) (Cdn $/bbl) (US $/bbl)
Reserves Evaluation Pricing Model o e
2003 3053 25.99 25.92 24.49
2004 - o 27.91 23.60 23.78 22.08
12005 25.18 2163  21.16 20.09
2006 e 25.48 21.96 21.83 20.39
2007 26.22 22.29 22.89 20.70
December 31, 2001
Reserves Evaluation Pricing Model @ o
2002 1836 19.90 14.41 18.40
2003 2085 20.64 1844 1911
2004 . o 2344 2112 21.58 19.29
2005 o 23.75 21.44 7 2213 - 18.58
2006 24.01 21.76 22.62 19.87
Company British
Average Henry Hub, Alberta Columbia
Natural Gas Price Louisiana AECO Plantgate
December 31, 2002 (Cdn $/mcf) (US $/mmbtu) (Cdn $/mcf) (Cdn $/mcf)
Reserves Evaluation Pricing Model o
2003 A 5.73 4.39 589 5.94
2004 - - 522 405 5.38 5.43
2005 4.62 361 4.77 4.82
2006 o 431 3.40 4.45 4.48
2007 4.46 3.45 4.61 4.66
December 31, 2001
Reserves Evaluation Pricing Model @ B
2002 380 - 2.89 3.80 3.75
2003 o 4.33 3.24 ) 435 4.30
2004 o 432 3.25 4,36 4.26
2005 o ~ 433 3.25 436 426
2006 4.42 3.29 4.44 4.34

(1) Sproule January 1, 2003 pricing mode! adjusted for quality and transportation.
(2) Sproule January 1, 2002 pricing medel adjusted for quality and transportation.
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MARKETING

NATURAL GAS

In 2002, average North American natural gas prices as measured by the
NYMEX decreased by 26% from the previous year to US $3.25 per mmbtu.
Similarly, pricing in Alberta dropped by 35% to $4.07 per mmbtu.

During the first quarter of 2002, warm weather reduced heating loads
from the residential and commercial sectors and when combined with the
sluggish economy, caused the overall demand for natural gas to be weak.
With readily available supplies and strong storage positions, the quarterly
average prices were US $2.40 per mmbtu on the NYMEX and $3.35 per
mmbtu in Alberta. The North American exploration and development
companies responded to the lower projected cash flows by substantially
cutting back their drilling programs.

The Alberta price differential to the NYMEX widened to US $1.17 per
mmbtu, causing an abnormally low Alberta price during the third quarter
as export capacity was curtailed due to the combined maintenance programs
on two major pipelines.

The fourth quarter of 2002 saw cooler temperatures in eastern markets
partially offset by warmer than normal weather prevailing on the west
coast. The high storage levels were drawn down very quickly and when
combined with the weak drilling activity, resulted in prices strengthening
to US $3.99 per mmbtu on the NYMEX and $5.25 per mmbtu in Alberta.

Canadian Natural increased its total sales by 34% in 2002 to 1,232
mmcf/d and realized an overall wellhead price of $3.76 per mcf, down
27% from last year. Canadian Natural continues to control its portfolio
with direct sales in 2002 representing 86% of the total with the remaining
14% split among the major supply aggregators. Seventy-three percent of
sales were indexed at prevailing market prices at geographically diversified
delivery points.

Canadian Natural expects 2003 to provide a strong natural gas pricing
environment, Although drilling activity has already picked up dramatically
in the first quarter of 2003, the overall industry production is expected
to decline a further 1.6% this year after a drop of 4.2% in 2002. The
overall storage positions at the end of March 2003 are likely to be at their
lowest levels in more than five years. Confirming the tight supply situation,
prices have already spiked above US $20.00 per mmbtu in eastern
markets and above $16.00 per mmbtu in Alberta. While the March NYMEX
settled at US $9.13 per mmbtu the Alberta March index settled at
$10.13 per mmbtu.

Canadian Natural's production is forecast to average approximately 1.3
bcf/d in 2003 and current pricing strip would yield a record average well-
head price exceeding $7.00 per mcf compared with Canadian Natural’s
2003 budgeted price of $5.20 per mcf.

CRUDE OIL AND NGLS

The average crude oil price in 2002 was up 1% from the previous year
with the North American benchmark WT! at US $26.11 per barrel and the
North Sea benchmark Brent, at US $25.01 per barrel.

The continued weakness in the American economy resuited in relatively
weak pricing in the first quarter with an average price of US $21.67 per
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barrel for WTI and US $21.14 per barrel for Brent, before increasing
21% in the second quarter to US $26.26 per barrel for WTl and US $25.03
per barrel for Brent. Tracking the overall economy, crude oil demand
strengthened steadily throughout the year in response to the geopolitical
challenges presented by the Middle East, North Korea and the Venezuelan
situations. A stressed worldwide supply environment vielded fourth
quarter prices averaging US $28.17 per barrel with spot prices spiking at
US $33.65 per barrel.

The differential for Canadian heavy crude oit grades was 39% lower in
2002, with an average differential for benchmark Lloydminster Blend to
WTI of US $6.50 per barrel. This, combined with a weaker Canadian
dolfar, resulted in a 30% stronger price for Canadian heavy crude oil.

Canadian Natural's realized oil and natural gas liquids price in 2002 was
$29.76 per barrel, up 22% from last year, while production was up 4%
at 215 mbbls/d. The portfolioc mix of oil and natural gas liquids in 2002
was 50% for light and Pelican Lake grades, 4% for natural gas liquids and
46% for heavy grades.

Canadian Natural expects pricing levels to be strong in the early part of
2003 as supplies remain challenged, with many geopolitical uncertainties
and the realistic potential for serious temporary disruptions. Although
productive capacity can continue to grow, many logistical issues remain to
be resolved, resulting in estimated short-term incremental supply avail-
ability of approximately 1.25 mmbbis/d. Pipelines are needed in Russia
and tankers are required in the Middle East to significantly increase
beyond that level.

For 2003, under the current pricing outlook, our production forecast of
approximately 250 mbbls/d would yield an average $30.00 per barrel
against a WT! of US $28.25 per barrel.

MIDSTREAM

Canadian Natural's midstream assets consist of three crude oil pipeline
systems and an 84 megawatt cogeneration plant at Primrose where the
Company has a 50% working interest. Approximately 82% of Canadian
Natural's heavy oil production was transported to the international mainline
liquids pipelines via the 100% owned and operated ECHO Pipeline, the
62% owned and operated Pelican Lake Pipeline and the 15% owned Cold
Lake Pipeline.

In 2002, the Company installed condensate injection and heat exchange
facilities on the ECHO pipeline, maximizing pipeline utilization and
reducing operating costs by 15%. Improved operating practices on the
Pelican Lake Pipeline system resulted in a 23% reduction in operating
COStS.

Canadian Natural plans to continue to maximize value from its pipeline
systems in 2003, by increasing the ECHO Pipeline capacity to 72 mbbls/d
from 58 mbbls/d. The Company also plans to analyze the merits of
additional terminaling facilities at Hardisty, Alberta, that would further
enhance heavy oil blending economics.




ERVIRONMERNT, HEALTH & SAFETY, AND COMMUNITY

Canadian Natural believes that ethical, socially responsible operations and
environmental stewardship are integral to long-term success. We comply
with or exceed all regulatory standards and guidelines and operate within
our licenses and regulatory approvals. Qur accomplishments in 2002 provide
an excellent foundation for continuous improvement in environment,
health and safety and community performance.

REDUCING THE ENVIRONMENTAL FOOTPRINT
Environmental protection is a fundamental value to us; therefore, we are
proactive in reducing the Company’s environmental footprint and work
together with community and industry groups for a better, sustainable
energy industry.
ACHIEVEMENTS
> Canadian Natural continues to invest major resources in flaring
and venting reduction programs. At the Primrose operations
flaring has been reduced by 50%, and by the end of 2003, flaring
reductions will accumulate to 95% of 2001 values. The conserved
natural gas from this and similar conservation projects is used as fuel
for steam generation. During the past three years, over 100
successful casing natural gas conservation projects have been imple-
mented. In 2002, more than 35% of the solution gas from the
Company's primary heavy oil wells was conserved as compared to
only 5% in 1999,
At Pelican Lake, more than 96% of the solution gas is conserved
today, compared to 55% in 2000.

= Since 1995, we have reduced greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions
by more than 4 million tonnes. Despite the dramatic growth of our
operations, including energy intensive areas such as thermal heavy
oil, Canadian Natural’s GHG emissions are 21.6% lower than 1997
baseline values. Furthermore, we plan to reduce emissions by an
additional 2.8 million tonnes over the next three years and expect
ongoing reductions in emissions per unit.

O The Federal Government released Canada’s Climate Change Plan
in the fall of 2002 with a goal of implementing it by 2005 to meet
the first Kyoto Protocol reporting period. The Company continues
1o participate with various industry associations and governments
to ensure that Canada's GHG implementation policy related to the
Kyoto Protocol is workable.

T As part of major project planning, Canadian Natural proactively
incorporates environmental goals. For example, the Primrose heavy
oil expansion project plan included a goal to reduce dependence
on fresh groundwater and instead use mostly brackish water by
2007. For the Horizon Qil Sands Project, the design has incorporated
numerous environmental mitigation measures such as using
improved sulphur recovery technologies that will recover 89.2%

of the SO: versus the regulatory requirement of 98.8%.

(7 As one of the largest independent oil and natural gas producers,
Canadian Natural realizes the importance of its role in working with
other stakeholders in addressing industry wide issues. The Company
is involved in numerous working groups such as the Lakeland
Industry and Community Association, in oif sands industry groups
such as the Cumulative Environmental Management Asscciation
and the Regional Issues Working Group.

T3 International operations support the International Chamber of
Commerce Charter on Sustainable Development. Canadian Natural
has identified four areas of focus for international operations:

1. Use water-based, environmentally friendly drilling muds whenever
possible;

2. Develop and implement a management strategy related to GHG
emission reductions;

3. Exercise care with respect to all waste produced through effective
waste management plans; and

4. Minimize produced water volumes onshore and offshore and
strive to better regulatory requirements.

ENSURING A HEALTHY AND SAFE WOR_KPLACE
Canadian Natural conducts operations in a way that protects the health
and safety of employees, contractors, the public and the environment.

ACHIEVEMENTS

[ Based upon industry best practices, Canadian Natural is implementing
new systems around the globe to better monitor and steward
health and safety programs.

Over the last few years, efforts to heighten safety awareness
have met with excellent results and positive feedback from
regulators. The Company’s 2002 statistics show a 31% decrease
in total recordable injuries for employees and a 35% decrease for
contractors from 2001 levels.

T Increased internal safety and compliance audits, with action plans
and rigorous timelines for completion, are conducted regularly at
all of Canadian Natural's sites. All new production facilities acquired
in 2002 were similarly audited to ensure safe and healthy working
environments.

ESTABLISHING AND MAINTAINING PRODUCTIVE

RELATIONSHIPS WITH COMMUNITIES

Canadian Natural works co-operatively with the communities where busi-

ness is conducted, interacting with stakeholder groups and individuals,

government agencies and industry committees.

ACHIEVEMENTS

T Local landmen and community relations staff have proactively worked
with neighbours near its operations in order to identify potential
impacts and to take practical steps to address local concerns.

71 For larger projects such as the Horizon Project, the Company
utilized long-term consultation programs that focus on identifying
potential issues and worked with stakeholders to ensure successful
implementation of mitigation measures.

T In 2002, the Company developed a working agreement with the
Bigstone First Nation in Alberta. Canadian Natural was also one of
the signatories to the Athabasca Tribal Council/All Parties Core
Agreement that ensures long-term mutually beneficial relationships
between five First Nations, the oil sands industry and the three levels
of government.

T Canadian Natural taunched the Company’s Building Futures Training
and Education Program, providing scholarships to 31 students in
2002 and supporting other educational initiatives such as the
Petroleum Employment Training program.

= Canadian Natural's policies promote local employment and business
opportunities, enabling local communities to participate in economic
benefits.

O The Company continues to contribute to the quality of life in
communities where it operates. In Canada, hundreds of community
initiatives are supported through Canadian Natural's donations and
gifts in kind. In Angola, where civil war has ended after 27 years,
the Company has committed funds over the next four years
to finance health and education projects.
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review of assets

We manage our asset base by adhering to a defined growth strategy. Our philosophy
is to dominate production, infrastructure and undeveloped land within our core
regions. This creates a growth platform based on exploitation, exploration,

and strategic acquisitions while enabling a low-cost structure. 4
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The Company's 2002 average product and basin allocations are;

Corporate BOE Production

North American Liquids

Canadian Natural focuses on five core regions in western Canada and has
international operations that are concentrated in offshore environments
in the UK sector of the North Sea as well as Cote d'voire and Angola in
Offshore West Africa. Canadian Natural believes that keeping a strong
prospect inventory in each of its products and basins is essential to provide
the flexibility to develop assets in @ manner that achieves superior returns.
The Company’s development and exploration project inventory and its
product diversity creates near-, mid- and long-term growth opportunities.

The Company controls its development activities and costs by maintaining
operatorship and maximizing working interests. Low operating costs are
achieved through owning and operating the infrastructure, maximizing
facility utilization and having a large land base that supplies additional
development opportunities. Capital is minimized due to the scale of the
Company's operations, through optimal project scheduling and by
controlling the pace of development.

Internationally, Canadian Natural employs the identical philosophy devel-
oped for western Canada. Specifically, the goal is to operate, maximize
working interests and control the development of the Company’s
projects. The Company develops assets in new areas at a modest pace
until sufficient expertise and competence is gained to allow it to maximize
the profitability of that area.

Natural Gas — Core Region Summary

NEBC NWAB NAB SAB  Other
Average production
(mmcf/d) o o
2001__ 317 51 357 162 31
2002 451 171 420 146
Natural gasfacﬂmes operated 71 24 102 27 -

North American Crude Oil and NGLs - Core Region Summary

40%

North American Gas North Sea
48% <7 10%
\ Offshore West Africa

2%

NEBC NWAB NAB  SAB SESK  Other
Average production
(mbbls/d) el
2001 9 T 141 7 7 2
2002 7 7 % 9 9 1
Crude oil facilities,
operated 3 7 23 32 35 -
International Crude Oil -~ Core Region Summary

Offshore West Africa North Sea

Average production
(mbblsd) R e
2001 3 36
2002 e R 39
Piatforms/FPSOs operated 1 5
North American Qil Production
Thermal Heavy Oil Light Oit & NGLs
23% 25%
Primary Heavy Ol Pelican Lake Oil
35% 17%
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Natural Gas

Canadian Natural continued to grow natural gas production in 2002 and
the expansion of the Company’s prospect inventory strengthened its
strategic plan of annually increasing natural gas production in North
America.

The Company's current natural gas production is concentrated over
four of its North American core regions: Northeast British Columbia,
Northwest Alberta, North Alberta and South Alberta.

Canadian Natural is the largest natural gas producer in British Columbia,
and this core region represents 37% aof the Company's natural gas production.
The Company's experience in the province, its large undeveloped land
base and existing infrastructure affords a significant competitive
advantage in the highly prospective region of Northeast British Columbia.
Canadian Natural has production, infrastructure and undeveloped lands
in three distinct areas. Most northerly is the Helmet area, where the
Company targets the low risk, regionally extensive, natural gas charged
Jean Marie carbonate formation with horizontal wells. Natural gas is
produced in the Fort St. John area from an array of carbonate and
sandstone reservoirs. Most southerly is the Foothills area where the
Company targets deeper Mississippian and Triassic age reservoirs in this
highly deformed structural area.

In 2002, Canadian Natural completed the development of the Ladyfern
Slave Point pool in the Fort St. John area. The Company drilled seven wells
into the pool in 2002, augmenting the eight wells drilled in 2001.
Canadian Natural's production from this prolific pool peaked at more than
200 mmcf/d in June and declined sharply to 113 mmcf/d by December.
After only 18 months on production, the Company’s total production
from the pool had reached 76 bcf at year end. This highlights the
economic and productive potential of the Slave Point pools in Northeast
British Columbia. Ultimately, Canadian Natural predicts that total cash
flow from Ladyfern will exceed $300 million as compared to the $195

22 Canadian Natural

million of capital invested. The Company also discovered two new Slave
Point pools in 2002, a significant pool at Buick Creek and a small, isolated
pool near Ladyfern. Production from the Buick Creek pool has stabilized
at 50 mmcf/d; however, the small pool at Ladyfern had ceased produc-
tion by year end due to water influx. Canadian Natural continues to held
significant, undeveloped acreage on the prospective Slave Point trend,
providing a competitive advantage, both in the event of a discovery by the
Company or by a competitor. Any additional Slave Point discoveries are
expected to be 10 to 30 bcf in size.

Canadian Natural created a significant new core region in Northwest
Alberta through the acquisition of Rio Alto. This region contains excep-
tional exploration and exploitation opportunities as well as substantial
available capacity within an extensive, owned and operated infrastructure.
Canadian Natural produces liquids rich natural gas from multiple, often
technically complex horizons, with formation depths ranging from 3,000
to 15,000 feet. The northern portion of this core region provides extensive
multi-zone Cretaceous opportunities similar to the geclogy of the
Company’s North Alberta core region. The southern portion provides a
significant opportunity in the regionally extensive Cretaceous Cardium
zone. The Cardium is a complex, tight, natural gas reservoir where high
productivity can be achieved due to greater matrix porosity or natural
fracturing. Canadian Natural has chosen to pursue a medest 2003 devel-
opment plan in this area so that comprehensive geological, geophysical
and engineering studies can be completed.

Natural gas in the North Alberta and South Alberta core regions is
produced from shallow, low risk multi-zone prospects. The Company
continues to develop new prospects in these regions and modest produc-
tion growth is still being achieved. The Rio Alto acquisition added 143
mmcf/d of synergistic production in the North Alberta core region and
an additional 1.3 million acres of undeveloped land. The gathering of
solution gas associated with the Company’s oil production in this region
also provides another source of enhanced natural gas sales.




Canadian Natural is the second largest
independent procucer of natural gas
in Canada. The Company has effectively
doubled natural gas production
volumes over the last five years and
targets 5% average annual growth
rates affter 2003.

2002 ACHIEVEMERNTS

C  Production averaged 1,232 mmcf/d, a 34% increase over
2001 production, and accounted for 43% of the Company’s
total boe production;

2 98% of the Company’s natural gas production was from
western Canada and was sold into the North American market;

O Development of the prolific Slave Point pool at Ladyfern was
completed, increasing field production to average 168 mmcf/d
compared with 40 mmcf/d in 2001;

T The mid-year acquisition of Rio Alto provided a 190 mmci/d
increase in 2002 average production and created a major new
core region with significant future growth opportunities;

3

Drilled 162 successful wells representing 36% of the Company’s oil
and natural gas well drilling activity. This is a 66% decrease

from 2001 reflecting the Company’s decision to defer natural

gas drilling to 2003-04 to offset anticipated Ladyfern production
declines;

290 wells were recompleted to access secondary
producing horizons;

[C $40 million was spent on synergistic acquisitions within core
regions (excluding Rio Alto); and

T Discovered two new Slave Point pools.

2003 PLANS
T Drill approximately 600 wells;

T Recomplete approximately 300 wells;

0 Continue detailed gecphysical, geological and engineering
studies of the Cardium formation in Northwest Alberta;

Continue evaluation of the Slave Point trend, drilling up to
six wells; and

[l

O Allocate $691 million in capital spending to exploration
and development opportunities.

Successful Wells Drilled

Annual Production

(mmcf/d) (excludes stratigraphic test/
service wells)
458 pA
1£2 408
918
794
673 721
I I I I 193
162
L I |
98 99 00 O 02 98 93 00 O1 02
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Strategic, opportunistic acguisition - Rio Alto

WHAT DID CARKADIAN NATURAL BUY?

Northwest North

Total Alberta Alberta

Undeveloped land, (thousands of acres) 2,900 1,600 1,300
Proved reserves acquired (bcfe) 980 650 330
Production - July 2002 (mmcf/d) 400 257 143
(mbbls/d) 1 10 1

Seismic acquired 2-D (km) 57,820 - -
Seismic acquired 3-D (km?) 14,565 - -
Facilities 46 16 30

WHAT IS THE STRATEGIC FIT? WHY BUY THE ASSETS?

Rio Alto operated in two core regions: the North Alberta region, which
augmented Canadian Natural's own North Alberta region, and Northwest
Alberta. Canadian Natural had long identified the upside of the Northwest
Alberta core region; however, as 3 late entrant it would be difficult to follow
the Company's principle of dominating the land base and the support
infrastructure. Rio Alto provided both a high quality land base and an
underutilized infrastructure from which to grow. The acquired land base
has significant development potential since Rio Alto had extensive seismic
coverage over much of the region prior to purchasing lands. Future
exploration and development projects will take advantage of the large
undeveloped land base, the high guality seismic database and the
underutilized facilities, thereby reducing development costs.

WHAT (S THE UPSIDE I[N EACH OF THE CORE REGIONS?

NORTH ALBERTA

The assets in this region fit very well within Canadian Natural's existing
North Alberta core region and provide excellent cost reduction opportu-
nities as well as continued development and exploration potential. This core
region remains exploitation focused and should provide a stable produc-
tion profile into the future.

NORTHWEST ALBERTA (NORTHERN PORTION)
The Cretaceous geological targets are very similar to those of the Company’s
North Alberta region and therefore are very familiar to Canadian Natural.
The Company expects that this area will provide the most upside from the
acquisition. Over the next few years this area will grow to become a prime
exploration and development area for Canadian Natural.

NORTHWEST ALBERTA (SOUTHERN PORTION)

The highly complex Cardium formation is the primary target in this area.
The Cardium represents an extensive, underdeveloped play paralleling the
Rocky Mountains. The Company will be undertaking detailed geological
and engineering studies in 2003 to enhance success in this challenging
area.

The following table quantifies the potential upside of the Northwest
Alberta region:

Northern Southern
Pertion Portion

Potential drilling locations - 550-725  200-300
Reserves upside (bcfe) 800-1,000 500-760
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RIO ALTQ WAS A GOOD OPERATOR, WY DOES CANADIAN
NATURAL BELIEVE IT CAN BE MORE SUCCESSFUL?

Canadian Natural takes pride in being one of the low cost producers in
every basin in which it operates. Inherent in this ability is taking the time
to understand the geology, the costs and the challenges of an area.
Canadian Natural wants to take full advantage of the seismic, drilling and
production results provided by Rio Alto and plans to fully analyze the
data prior to embarking on large development programs. The Company's
size and inventory of other prospects enables it to be patient in this
regard. Canadian Natural believes that returns on capital will be enhanced
by spending additional time to understand the area complexities and
plan for effective execution. The Company has built a skilled team,
composed of both Rio Alto and Canadian Natural employees, bringing
the expertise of both organizations together to capitalize on the strengths
and knowledge of each.




Light Ol and NGLs = Nertn America

During 2002, Canadian Natural exceeded its goal of maintaining North
American light oil production near 2001 levels by increasing production
by 14%. This production growth was achieved through waterflood
optimization, modest drilling programs, production optimization and
strategic acquisitions within core regions. Natural gas liquids production
also increased by 48% in 2002, primarily due to the acquisition of Rio Alto.

Light oil and NGLs are produced from all five western Canadian core
regions. Many of the Company’s light oil pools are produced under water-
flood, resulting in significant oil recovery improvements by maintaining
reservoir pressure and improving sweep efficiency. Canadian Natural
focuses on waterflood optimization through detailed reservoir characteri-
zation, analysis of pattern performance, improved well operating practices
and improved fluid processing at the surface. The Company considers light
oil growth opportunities to be limited in the mature pools of the Western
Canadian Sedimentary Basin and is not predicting significant growth from
these assets. Canadian Natural will continue to pursue synergistic acquisi-
tions within its core regions.

Canadian Natural has shown its ability
to maintain light ofl volumes in the
mature Western Canadian Sedimentary
Basin.

2002 ACHIEVERMENTS

0 Production of light oil and NGLs averaged 41,945 bbls/d, a 20%
increase over 2001 production, and accounted for 10% of the
Company's total boe production;

Drilled 16 successful wells, which represents 4% of the
Company's oil and natural gas well drilling activity,

0

-]

10 welis were recompleted to access secondary producing
horizons; and

T $110 million was spent on synergistic acquisitions within

core regions (excluding Rio Alto).
2003 PLANS

T Drill 45 wells focused primarily on infil/step-out wells in Southeast
Saskatchewan and Nipisi infills in North Alberta;

O Recomplete 15 wells;

O Allocate $92 million in capital spending on exploration and
development opportunities; and

1 Maximize recovery and production through waterflood
optimization and evaluate implementing new waterfloods
in Northwest Alberta.

Annual Production

(mbbls/d)
30
28
98 99

36
| 35
00 01

Successful Wells Drilled

(excludes stratigraphic test/
service wells)

48
41
36
25
|| 16
98 99 00 01 02
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Pelican Lake Oil = North Armerica

This large, shallow oil pool in Canadian Natural's North Alberta core region
has been developed exclusively with horizontal wells. This technology
minimizes surface disturbance and environmental impact, reduces
development costs and results in significantly greater well productivity in
comparison to afternate techniques, Canadian Natural owns and operates
more than 650 horizontal wells and three centralized treating facilities in
the area. Although priced similarly to heavy oil, Canadian Natural’s Pelican
Lake oil production yields netbacks typical of medium oil due to the low
operating costs. Operating costs of only $2.91/bbl were achieved in 2002
since water and sand production are negligible and wells are flowlined to
central facilities. Canadian Natural is the largest oil producer in the Pelican
Lake area.

The Company continues to develop portions of the pool with additional
drilling but with limited undeveloped regions, drilling activity will be
reduced. Primary production declines are expected, as shown by the 15%
production decline from 2001 to 2002. The Company is forecasting a
6% recovery factor from primary production; however, the developed
reservoir on Canadian Natural’s leases contains approximately 3 billion
barrels of ail in place, making it very attractive for secondary or tertiary
recovery. Even modest improvements in recovery factors would have a
significant impact on recoverable reserves and the Company’s asset value.
In pursuit of these reserves, Canadian Natural commenced a tertiary
recovery pilot using emulsion injection in April 2002. Injection continues,
however no significant response has been detected to date. Canadian
Natural will examine the success of the current emulsion flood and
compare results with a proposed waterflood project to determine the
optimal enhanced recovery strategy for commercial application.

With three billion barrels of ofl in place,
enhanced oil recovery processes will
provide continued production and
profitability at Pelican Lake.

2002 ACHIEVEMENTS
O Production averaged 29,494 bbls/d, accounting for 7% of the
Company’s total boe production;

C Drilled 86 horizontal wells with a 100% success rate representing
19% of the Company’s oil and natural gas well drilling activity;

11 stratigraphic test wells were drilled to delineate future drilling Annual Production Successful Wells Drilled

prospects; (mbbls/d) (excludes stratigraphic test/

O Commenced field testing of a tertiary recovery process with service wells

emulsion flooding; and

35 )
119
29 29
0 Completed design and application for a waterflood project to be 100
implemented in early 2003, 86
2003 PLANS
O Drill 40 horizontal wells; 58
O Drill 10 stratigraphic wells; 14 3 =
0O Drill a horizontal observation well to assist in the continued
evaluation of the emulsion injection pilot;
Implement a waterflood project to test an alternative recovery
technique; and L L
98 93 00 O1 98 93 00 O

@]

. . 02
O Allccate $64 million to exploitation and development.
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Primary Heavy Qil - Nortk America

Canadian Natural is ‘one of the largest heavy oil producers in North
America. The Company’s growth of heavy oil production has been achieved
through drilling, as well as strategic, synergistic acquisitions. Canadian
Natural dominates production and operations within the Bonnyville primary
producing area in the North Alberta core region. This dominance allows
the Company to minimize capital by conducting large scale drilling and
development programs. Operating costs are also minimized by owning and
operating central treating facilities and maximizing their utilization.

Heavy oil in the Company’s North Alberta core region is produced using
primary production mechanisms from shallow, low-risk, multi-zone
horizons. This leads to low finding and development costs, exceptional
drilling success rates and many subsequent recompletion opportunities.
The region is also natural gas prone and frequently heavy oil development
drilling will lead to synergistic shallow natural gas pool discoveries.

Canadian Natural continues to have significant heavy oil drilling programs
and when heavy oil prices are high, the Company has the ability and
location inventory that allows it to rapidly increase drilling activity. In 2002
the Company had originally budgeted to drill 21 heavy oil wells but due
to high commodity prices, the program was increased to 153 wells. This
flexibility allows Canadian Natural to achieve earlier payout of the drilling
projects and significantly improve the return on capital.

The Company is one of the dominant
producers of heavy @il in North America.
Control of infrastructure, a focus on
operating costs, and prucent capital
investment have created superior recycle
ratios for Canadian Natural’s heavy oil.

2002 ACHIEVEMENTS

O Production averaged 58,778 bbls/d, a 4% increase over
2001 production, and accounted for 14% of the Company's
total boe production;

T Drilled 153 wells with a 93% success rate, representing
34% of the Company’s oil and natural gas well drilling activity;

T 220 wells were recompleted to access secondary producing
horizons; and

$120 million was spent on synergistic acquisitions within
core regions.

[

2003 PLANS
O Drill 265 wells;

[}

Recomplete 290 wells;

Implement casing gas conservation on 140 wells;

0 o

Increase the capacity of the Company owned and operated
ECHO pipeline system to 72 mbbls/d, to increase the
Company's volume throughput; and

O Allocate $198 million to exploration and development
opportunities.

Annual Production
(mbbls/d)

57
55

98 99 00 O1

Successful Wells Drilled
(excludes stratigraphic test/
service wells)

153
133
121
89
] I
98 99 00 01 02
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Thermal Heavy Ofl - Nerth Americs
The Company is the second largest producer of oil recovered by thermal
processes in Canada and currently operates three thermal projects:

= Primrose: The Company produces from horizontal wells utilizing the
cyclic steam stimulation ("CSS”) process for oil recovery. The 350
active horizontal wells reduce capital costs, improve well productivity
and minimize surface disturbance in comparison to alternative
techniques. Regulatory approval for the expansion of operations at
Primrose was obtained during 2002. This approval allows for the
remaining low-pressure wells to be converted to high-pressure
steaming and for the development of a new project area adjacent to
the existing project. Development of the new project area is projected
to commence in 2003 to 2005.

Burnt Lake: The Company continues to operate this steam assisted
gravity drainage ("SAGD") project on lands immediately adjacent to
Primrose. The SAGD test results will be used in conjunction with the
Primrose CSS results to determine the optimum economic process for
commercial development at this site.

r]

T Tangleflags: This mature project utilizes the SAGD recovery process
and has been in operation since 1888. Recoveries in the pool are
approaching 60% of the original il in place. Pool extensions continue
to provide modest expansions to the project area.

The thermal projects at Primrose and Burnt Lake provide geologically
proven, low-risk production with a reserve life in excess of 25 years.

Canadian Natural also has significant thermal opportunities on approxi-
mately 100,000 acres of undeveloped lands in the Fort McMurray area
of Alberta. Initial delineation drilling has established excellent SAGD
development potential with 2 billion barrels of recoverable oil on the
Company’s leases at Gregoire Lake, Kirby and Horizon.

2002 ACHIEVEMENTS

5 Production averaged 39,458 bbls/d, remaining relatively unchanged
from 2001, and accounted for 9% of the Company’s total boe
production;

= One production well was drilled and 136 stratigraphic test wells
delineated future drilling prospects;

[ Obtained regulatory approval to convert the Primrose field to
high-pressure steam injection and for construction of a new
production facility; and

o Converted 48 cyclic wells from low-pressure to high-pressure
steam injection.

2003 PLANS
I Drill 46 horizontal wells and 12 vertical wells at Primrose for cyclic
steaming. Production from these wells will commence in 2004;

1 Continue conversion of existing horizontal wells to high-
pressure cyclic steaming;

O Complete Engineering Design Study for Primrose North Plant
Expansion; and

] Allocate $163 million to exploration and development
opportunities.

28 Canadian Natural

Canadian Natural’s thermal recovery
operations provide an eNOrmous
reserve base that will provide
continued, profitable growth through
cost control and judicious planning
of future expansions.

Annual Production Successful Wells Drilled

{mbbls/d) (excludes stratigraphic test/
service wells)
38
40 39
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15

2 1 1
[ ] : L =
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Horizon O Sands Project

Canadian Natural owns and operates leases covering 117,000 acres in the
Fort McMurray area of northern Alberta. The Horizon Oil Sands Project
is located about 80 km north of Fort McMurray. Drilling to date indicates
an estimated 16 billion barrels of bitumen in place, with approximately
6 billion barrels being recoverable under existing technologies.

The Company has developed a project execution strategy that phases
in the production from the project over a five-year period. First oil is
expected in the first half of 2008 at a production rate of 110 mbbis/d
of 34-36° APl synthetic light crude oil {("SCO”). This represents an
approximate six-month delay from prior expectations and is the result
of uncertainty created through the Canadian Government’s unclear
implementation plan for the Kyoto Protocol. The second phase of
production is expected in 2010 with an incremental 45 mbbls/d of SCO
on stream. The third and final phase of development is expected to be
completed in 2012 to bring total production to 232 mbbls/d of SCO.

Product marketing studies have been completed by Canadian Natural to
forecast SCO sales potential and the associated pricing resulting from the
production quantities of Horizon Project and other operator's oil sands
project expansions. Current product pricing, capital and operating cost
estimates for the project show an internal rate of return between 14%
and 22% based upon long-term average WTI assumptions of US $18.00
to US $26.00 per barrel.

On June 28, 2002, Canadian Natural applied for regulatory approval
to construct, operate and reclaim the Horizon Oil Sands Project. The
regulatory review process is anticipated to conclude with approvals from
the Energy and Utilities Board in late 2003. The project would then be
in a position to commence site clearing and preconstruction and site
preparation activities in 2004.

The Company’s approach for this project is to extensively evaluate new
technology options and pre-design the infrastructure prior to construction.
Significant work has been completed in 2002 to assess alternatives in
technology and improve definition of execution strategies for the engi-
neering and construction phases of the project. Experience brought to the
project from benchmarking with major constructors of world class
projects, and the continued recruitment of experienced professionals, has
enabled optimization of the project scope. In this way, Canadian Natural
can increase cost certainty before significant activity begins. The Company
plans full bitumen upgrading, however is still evaluating the optimum
location for secondary upgrading facilities.

There are few projects in the world
that can produce 232 mblbls/d of
light sweet crude for over 40 years
without production dedines - right
next door to the largest market in
the world.

OVERBURDEN
OVERBURDEN

HORIZON
LAKE

TAILINGS
POND

 SOUTHWEST il
7 MINE_

SOUTHEAST -
MINE

.

2002 ACHIEVEMENTS

71 Completed the Horizon Qil Sands Project Scoping Study,
documenting the project business concept development plan and
preliminary engineering feasibility and technology assessments;

21 Filed regulatory applications in June 2002. Regulatory review and
discussions are underway, with approvals expected in 2003;

[C Despite the six-month delay associated with the uncertainty for the
Kyoto Protocol, the development and definition of project scope,
execution strategies and facllities planning for the Design Basis
Memorandum progressed significantly. Alternatives in technology
and site footprint continued to be optimized, resulting in minor
changes to plant layout;

O Continued improvements to execution strategy and planning
through benchmarking with major constructors and world scale
projects to benefit from their "lessons learned”;

T Horizon Qil Sands Project staffing strategy was developed
and completed,

Approval received and work started on road construction to site; and

0

71 Drilled 239 stratigraphic test wells to further delineate the ore body
and confirm resource quality. Additionally, 54 test wells were drilled
on the Horizon in-situ (ease.

2003 PLANS
O Complete and publish the Design Basis Memorandum by mid year;

T An assessment by Independent Project Analysis Inc. for “Best
Practical" rating of project preparedness, pricr to moving to the
next phase of engineering;

Commence Engineering Design Specifications with targeted
completion in spring 2004;

Ll

Completion of road infrastructure to site;

0]

71 Begin site preparations for construction once regulatory approvals
are given; and

71 Drill 360 geological stratigraphic wells focusing on the mining area
supplying the first ten years of production.
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COTE D'IVOIRE

Canadian Natural has developed an excellent relationship with the Céte
d'lvoirian Government and has the necessary geological and operational
expertise to exploit this strategic, underdeveloped basin. The Company
maintains significant ownership interests in and operates five blocks
encompassing 460 thousand acres. Canadian Natural plans to fully
develop the Espoir and Baobab fields and target similar structures along
the play fairway. Outlying structures can be drilled from and/or tied into
existing facilities at low cost and provide significant economic upside
through higher utilization of this infrastructure.

The Espoir field, where Canadian Natural has a 59% working interest, is
currently producing to an FPSO from the lower productive zone, while the
upper zone is being repressurized through water injection. In mid-2003,
Canadian Natural expects to perforate this upper zone, increasing net
production rates by up to 5 mbbls/d.

The adjacent Bacbab field is under development with bids currently
being sought for subsea infrastructure and FPSO facilities. Based upon
a second successful well test in 2002, Canadian Natural estimates that
200 million barrels of recoverable oil within the structure. The Company
is planning for an initial start-up date in 2005 at approximately 45
mbbls/d, increasing to 60 mbbls/d by 2006. Canadian Natural owns 61%
of this field.

ANGOLA

Canadian Natural has an excellent relationship with the Government of
Angola and its national oil company, Sonangol. This relationship and a
solid operating history within Angola resulted in Canadian Natural being
awarded operatorship and a 50% working interest in offshore Block 16,

The Company obtained 3-D seismic over the entire Block 16 prior to .

obtaining title and has identified two high risk/high potential targets,
Omba and Zenza. The Company is planning to drill the first of the
prospects, Zenza, during the fourth quarter of 2003 as part of a two well
commitment.

Canadian Natural continues with its
development of the Espoir field offshore
Cote d’'lvoire and is planning for the
commercial development of the newly
discovered Bacbalb pool. In Angola, the
Company will be drilling a significant,
high risk / high reward prospect in

Blodk 16.
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International Light Qil = Offshore West Africa

2002 ACHIEVEMENTS

O Production averaged 6,784 bbis/d, a 100% increase over 2001
production, and accounted for 2% of the Company’ total boe
production;

O Drilled three producing wells and one water injection well;
O . Commenced production from Espoir field in February 2002;

O Drilled a second successful exploration well at Baobab and two
unsuccessful exploration wells at Kossipo and Emien;

1 Obtained 20% working interest and operatorship of Block
C1-400 offshore Cdte d'ivoire on the same trend as the
Baobob discovery;

O Terminated production at Kiame, Block 4 offshore Angola,
having extended field life by one year;

C Participated (25% interest) in an unsuccessful exploration well
offshore Angola Block 19; and

T Obtained operatorship and 50% working interest of offshore Block
16 in Angola.

2003 PLANS

O Drill one water injector well in East Espoir;

O Commence development of West Espoir including the drilling of
one well;

Drill Acajou, satellite pool to Espoir;

Initiate Baobab commercial development;

0o o o

Shoot 750 km? of 3-D seismic on blocks CI-400 and CI-40; and

]

Drill Zenza prospect in offshore Angola Block 16.

Successful Wells Drilled
(excludes stratigraphic tes/
service wells)

Annua! Production
(mbbls/d)
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International Light Ofl = North Sea

Canadian Natural’s position in the North Sea was significantly
strengthened in 2002 through the consolidation of interests on producing
properties. In five separate transactions, Canadian Natural has now
established three operating hubs that the Company operates with
majority working interest. This provides a strong basis for future
exploitation and near-pool exploration. In the North Sea the Company
now operates 80% of its production and has an average working interest
of 70%.

Canadian Natural's North Sea production is focused on ‘three owned
and operated, producing hubs:

T Ninian Hub - This hub consists of three platforms in the Northern
North Sea with a combined well slot capacity of 109. Tied into the
Ninian Hub are three Company operated fields, Ninian, Columba
B/D/E and Lyell, and the non-operated Strathspey field. Crude oil
is produced into the Sullom Voe Terminal where the Company has
a 20% working interest. Good development potential exists on the
13 surrounding exploration blocks.

C  Murchison Hub - The Canadian Natural owned and operated
Murchison field is tied into this platform. The platform has a 34 well
slot capacity and also produces into the Sullom Voe Terminal.

Banff / iKyle Hub - The Banff and Kyle fields produce through
subsea tie-backs into two separate FPSOs, one of which is operated
by Canadian Natural.

11

Canadian Natural believes that the current environment within the North
Sea is similar to that of western Canada in the early 19390%. The basin is
mature and many of the major operators are reducing activity levels or
looking at divestiture of properties. Canadian Natural also believes that
the recent changes in the United Kingdom tax regime provides incentive
for companies to evaluate their position in the North Sea. These changes
effectively penalize producers through higher tax rates but provide some
rewards to active drillers through quick write-off of capital expenditures.
Companies in "harvest” mode are now motivated to re-evaluate positions
and sell to exploitation oriented companies like Canadian Natural who are
proactively pursuing such opportunities.

The Company has taken control of
its North Sea assels through the
strategic acquisition of partners’
interests in its Northern North Sea
operations. Canadian Natural now
operates 80% of its North Sea
production and has an average
ownership interest of 70%.

2002 ACKHIEVEMENTS

T Production averaged 38,876 bbls/d, a 7% increase over 2001
production, and accounted for 9% of the Company’s total boe
production;

[ Drilled five producing wells and one water injection well;

0 $165 million was spent on synergistic acquisitions to consolidate
North Sea ownership; and

T Assumed operatorship of Ninian, Murchison and Lyell fields in
Northern North Sea.

2003 PLANS
O Drill 16 platform development wells (including several with through
tubing rotary drilling);

]

Drill two wells from mobile units;

Optimize waterflood at Ninian/Murchison; and

0O g

Examine near-pool development opportunities near the Murchison
platform.

Annual Production Successful Wells Drilled

(mbbls/d) (excludes stratigraphic test/
service wells)
39
36

5
=S
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2
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Canadian Natural Resources Limited is a Canadian based senior independent
energy company engaged in the acquisition, exploration, development,
production, marketing and sale of oil and natural gas. The Company initiates,
operates and maintains a large working interest in a majority of the prospects
in which it participates. The Company’s principal core areas of oil and

natural gas operations are in the Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin,

the United Kingdom sector of the North Sea and Offshore West Africa.



management’s di:T'cussion‘ & analysis

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in the Management'’s Discussion and Analysis for Canadian Natural Resources Limited (the "Company”) may constitute
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the United States Private Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements
can generally be identified as such because of the context of the statements including words such as the Company believes, anticipates, expects,
plans, estimates or words of a similar nature.

The forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that
may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among others: general economic and
business conditions which will, among other things, impact demand for and market prices of the Company’s products; foreign currency exchange
rates; economic conditions in the countries and regions in which the Company conducts business; political uncertainty, including actions of or against
terrorists, insurgent groups or other conflict including conflict between states; industry capacity; the ability of the Company to implement its business
strategy, including exploration and development activities; the ability of the Company to complete its capital programs; the ability of the Company to
transport its products to market; potential delays or changes in plans with respect to exploration or development projects or capital expenditures; the
availability and cost of financing; the success of exploration and development activities; production levels; uncertainty of reserve estimates; actions by
governmental authorities; government regulations and the expenditures required to comply with them {especially safety and environmental laws and
regulations); site restoration costs; and other circumstances affecting revenues and expenses. The impact of any one factor on a particular forward-
locking statement is not determinable with certainty as such factors are interdependent upon other factors, and management’s course of action would
depend upon its assessment of the future considering alf information then avaifable.

Statements relating to reserves are deemed to be forward-looking statements as they involve the implied assessment, based on certain estimates and
assumptions, that the reserves described can be profitably produced in the future.

Readers are cautioned that the foregoing list of important factors is not exhaustive. Although the Company believes that the expectations conveyed
by the forward-looking statements are reasonable based on information available to it on the date such forward-looking statements are made, no
assurances can be given as to future results, tevels of activity and achievements. All subsequent forward-looking statements, whether written or oral,
attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. The Company
assumes no obligation to update forward-looking statements should circumstances or management’s estimates or opinions change.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ARNALYSIS

Management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the Company should be read in conjunction with the
Company's audited consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2002. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (" GAAP"), A reconciliation of Canadian GAAP to United
States GAAP is included in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements. All dollar amounts are referenced in Canadian dollars, except when noted
otherwise. The calculation of barrels of oil equivalent ("boe”) is based on a conversion ratio of six thousand cubic feet of natural gas to cne barrel of
oil to estimate relative energy content.

The following discussion details the Company’s 2002 financial resuits compared to 2001 and 2000, including its capital program, and outlook for 2003.

OBJECTIVE AND STRATEGY

The Company’s objective is to increase cash flow, net earnings, and oil and natural gas production and reserves through the development of its existing
oil and natural gas properties and by the discovery and acquisition of new reserves. The Company accomplishes this by having e defined growth and
value enhancement plan for each of its products and segments. The Company effectively allocates its capital by maintaining:

O Balance between its products, namely natural gas, light oil, Pelican Lake oil ', primary heavy oil and thermal heavy oil;

O Balance between near-, mid- and long-term projects;

O Balance between acquisitions, exploitation and exploration; and

O Balance between sources of debt and a strong balance sheet,

Strategic acquisitions, such as the acquisition of Rio Alto Exploration Ltd. (“Rio Alto”), are a key component of the Company’s strategy.

Cost control is central to the Company’s strategy. By controlling costs consistently throughout all industry cycles, the Company is able to achieve
continued growth. Cost control is attained by core area domination and by operating at a high working interest.

(1) Pelican Lake off is 14-17° API oil, but receives medium guality crude netbacks due to exceptionally low operating costs and fow royalty rates.
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The year ended December 31, 2002 was another successful year in the execution of the Company’s strategy. The highlights were:
O Acquired Rio Alto;

0O Acquired North Sea properties that provide the Company with the level of operatorship and working interests in the North Sea necessary
to effectively control costs;

Commenced production from the Espoir field offshore Céte d'Ivoire;

Successfully delineated the Baobab field located offshore Céte d'lvoire,

Received government approval for development of the Baobab field;

Received regulatory approval for high-pressure steaming at Primrose, Alberta;
Submitted regulatory application for the Horizon Oil Sands Project (“Horizon Project”);

Signed a Production Sharing Agreement for Block 16, offshore Angola and Block CI-400 offshore Cote d'ivoire; and

0 00 o0 g g o

Successfully issued public debt to balance our sources of debt.

ACQUISITION QOF RIO ALTO

The Company paid cash of $850.0 million and issued 10,008,218 common shares to acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Rio
Alto by way of a plan of arrangement. This was a strategic acquisition by the Company as it strengthened the Company’s natural gas production in
North America and added a new natural gas core region in Northwest Alberta that will provide the opportunity for significant future natural gas
volumes. The Ric Alto acquisition is included in the results of operations commencing July 1, 2002.

CASH FLOW AND NET EARNINGS

Financial Highlights ($ millions, except per share amounts) 2002 2001® 20007
Revenwue . S $ 4,083.2 $ 35888 $_3,260.6
Cash flow from operations attributable to common shareholders @ _ $ 2,254.0 $ 1,920.0 § 1,8836
Per common share — basic ) % 17.63 $ 15.83 $§ 1614
o —-diluted o % 1699 § 1523 § 1564
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders® o | s 5688| $ 6426 3 7671
~ Per common share - basic e $ 4.46 $ 5.30 $_ 657
- ~ —diluted s 43 $ 517 $ 6.39
Business combinations o S $ 2,393.2 $ -~ 316873
Capital expenditures, net of dispositions $ 1,676.2 $ 1,884.5 $ 1,136.0
(1) Restated for change in accounting policy (see consolidated financial statements — note 2) and to conform to current year presentation.
(2) After dividend on preferred securities.
(3} After dividend and revaluation of preferred securities.
Cash Flow From Operations Net Earnings per Share Net Earnings Attributable Return on Average Common
Attributable to Common Attributable to Commen to Common Shareholders* Shareholder's Equity* (%)
Shareholders (3 millions) Shareholders* (5) (% millions)
316
767.1
2,254.0
19200 o’
1,88 6 ‘ﬁ : 569.8
g
8 188
145 13.8
219.5
39.4 o
= |
02 98 99 00 O 02 98 99 00 O 02 98 99 00 O1 02
*Restated for change in accounting policy *Restated for change in accounting policy *Restated for change in accounting policy
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Cash flow from operations attributable to common shareholders increased 17% to $2,254.0 million ($17.63 per common share), up from
$1,920.0 million (315.83 per common share) in 2001 and $1,883.6 million ($16.14 per common share) in 2000. The increase in cash flow resulted
primarily from increased production volumes offset by lower natural gas prices. In 2002, the Company’s average price per barrel of oil and liquids
increased to $29.76 from $24.31 in 2001 (2000 - $29.99). Production volumes increased 17% to 420,722 boe/d from 359,347 boe/d in 2001 (2000
- 305,987 boe/d).

Net earnings attributable to common shareholders decreased 11% in 2002 to $569.8 million, down from $642.6 million in 2001 and down from
$767.1 million in 2000. The decrease in net earnings resulted from the natural gas weighted acquisition of Rio Alto, higher depletion, depreciation
and amortization costs and increased future income tax expense.

Operating Highlights 2002 20012 2000
Cil and liquids (3/bbl, except daily production) ] - o e
Daily production (bbls/d) - o o 215,335 206,323 173,591
Salesprice R . ... %8276}  §2431 32999
Royalties B e 3.16 | 2.17 - 3.05
Production expense 8.45 7.64 6.84
Netback $ 18.15 $ 14.50 $ 20.10
Naturalrgaws ($/mcf, except daily production) N o o
Daily production (mmcf/d) 7 o 1,232 918 794
Sales price e 7 | % 376 $ 5.16 % 453
Royaltiess o . 078] 125 1.08
Production expense 0.57 0.51 0.44
Netback $ 241 $ 3.40 $ 3.01
Barrel of oil equivalent ($/boe, except daily production) o B _ -
Daily production (boe/d) e a20,722 | 359,347 305,987
Sales price S %2625 $ 2745  $2877
Royalties ) e 3.91 4.42 45
Production expense 5.99 5.69 5.02
Netback $ 16.35 $ 17.04 $ 19.24
(1) Restated to conform to current year presentation.
REVENUE
Product Prices

2002 2001 2000
Qil and liquids ($/bb) L o o _
North America o ) $ 2704  $2100 $ 2815
NorthSea - o $ 3979| %3866 § 44.61
Offshore West Africa ~ $ 4040  §$3357 $ 45.77
Company average . 5 28.76 $ 2431 § 29.99
Natural gas /meh) — _ , -
North America S $ 378 $ 519 $ 453
North Sea .. o8 275) 5 251 3 366
Offshore West Africa o o $ 4.82 $ - $ -
Company average ; $ 376 $ 516 § 453
Percentage of revenue (excluding midstream revenue) B o B o
Oil and fiquids e 5BA% 51.5% _ 59.2%
Natural gas 41.9% 48.5% 40.8%
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Analysis of Changes in Revenue (excluding midstream operations)

Changes due to Changes due t¢
($ millions) 2000 Volumes Prices 2001 Volumes Prices - 2002
North America S SR v o o
Qil and liguids . $15910  $1225 % 4341 $ 12794 $ 230 $ 3734 $ 1,673.8
Natural gas 1,314.14 183.3 220.0 1,717.4 565.1 (621.0) 1,661.5
2,905.1 305.8 (214.1) 2,996.8 588.1 {247.6) 3,337.3

North Sea o - S o

Oflandliquids 2808 3085 (785 5118 | 310 16.3 . 565.1
Natural gas 2.0 14.3 (5.1) 11.2 13.6 2.5 27.3
282.8 323.8 (83.6) 5230 50.6 18.8 592.4
Offshore West Africa o o - - S |
Oil and liquids 7 34.6 22.1 . (5m) M6 415 162 993
Natural gas - - - - 2.2 - 2.2
34.6 22.1 (15.1) 41.6 43.7 16.2 101.5

Total o o
Oil and liquids N 1,906.4 454.1 (527.7) 1,832.8 1015 4059  2,340.2
Natural gas 1,316.1 197.6 2149 1,728.6 580.9 (618.5) 1,691.0
$ 32225 $ 651.7 $ (312.8) $ 3,561.4 $ 6824 $ (212.6) $ 4,031.2

Oil and natural gas revenue rese 13% to $4,031.2 million from $3,561.4 million in 2001 (2000 - $3,222.5 million). in 2002, 17% of the Company’s
oll and natural gas revenue was generated outside of North America (2001 — 16%, 2000 — 10%), with the North Sea accounting for 15% of these
revenues, in both 2002 and 2001 (2000 — 9%) and Offshore West Africa accounting for 2%, up from 1% in 2001 (2000 - 1%). Revenue from the
sale of natural gas accounted for 42% of oil and natura! gas revenue, down from 49% in 2001 (2000 — 41%).

Cil and liquids pricing realized by the Company is directly correlated with world oil pricing and heavy oil differentials. The realized oil and liquids price
earned by the Company in 2002 increased 22% to average $29.76 per bbl for the year, up from 3$24.31 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - $29.99 per bbl).
World oil prices were low in the beginning of 2002 but increased throughout the year due to supply and demand fundamentals, general market
uncertainty surrounding tension in the Middle East, and disruptions in the supply of oil from Venezuela. The West Texas Intermediate (“WTI") oil price
increased 1% to average US $26.11 per bbl, up from US $25.91 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - US $30.20 per bbl). During the same time, the heavy oil
differential averaged US $6.50 per bbl, down from US $10.73 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - US $8.23 per bbl). Heavy oil differentials were lower than the
historical 10-year average 30% discount to WTI pricing due to a lower supply of heavy oil from western Canadian producers. The higher heavy il
differentials experienced in 2001 were affected by the temporary shutdown of a heavy oil refinery in the US mid-west and reduced demand for
heavy oil.

Natural gas prices decreased 27% to average $3.76 per mcf, down from $5.16 per mcf in 2001 (2000 — $4.53 per mcf), due to lower demand and
higher storage levels in the first half of 2002. Prices in 2001 were impacted by the increased demand for natural gas due to cold winter temperatures,
low inventory levels, increased natural gas-fired power generation and increased export capacity. AECO prices averaged $4.07 per mmbtu in 2002
compared to $6.25 per mmbtu in the year 2001 (2000 - $5.02 per mmbtu). NYMEX natural gas prices per mmbtu averaged US $3.25 in 2002
compared to US $4.38 in 2001 (2000 - $3.91).

The Company uses certain financial instruments to protect against the downside commodity prices received on the sale of certain oil and natural gas
production and to protect its capital program. The price realized from the sale of oil was reduced by $1.46 per bbl in 2002 compared to an increase
of $0.86 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - reduction of $1.83 per bbl), as & result of the financial instruments. The price realized from the sale of natural gas
was reduced by $0.01 per mcf in 2002 compared to a reduction of $0.29 per mcf in 2001 (2000 - reduction of $0.39 per mcf), as a result of the
financial instruments.

As part of its overall risk management program, the Company has entered into "costless collars” on a portion of its oil and natural gas production.
These financial instruments are summarized in note 12 to the consclidated financial statements.
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DALY PRODUCTION

2002 4 2001 2000
Oil and liquids (b
“North America B ) 169,675 166,675 154,331
North Sea - - 38,876 36252 17,195
Offshore West Africa 6,784 3,396 2,065
Total 215,335 206,323 173,591
Natural gas (mmcf/d) - o ] o
North America o 1,204 906 783
North Sea S e 27 12 1
Offshore West Africa 1 - =
Total 1,232 918 794
Product mix e ] o
light oil and liquids ) B | 208% 20.7% 18.1%
Pelican Lakeolt o _7.0% 9.7%  94%
Primary heavy oil O S 14.0% 15.8% 18.0%
Thermal heavy oil - o 9.4% M2%  11.2%
Natural gas 48.8% 42.6% 43.3%

The Company's daily oil and liquids production increased 4% to average 215,335 bbls in 2002 from 206,323 bbls in 2001 (2000 - 173,591 bbis). Oil
and liquids production increased for all segments from the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase in North American production is
attributable to additional heavy oil drilling activity and property acquisitions in the Company’s core operating regions. Oil production in the North Sea
increased as a result of the acquisition of additional interests in the northern sector of the North Sea in 2002. Offshore West Africa oil production
increased from 2001 as a result of production commencing from the Company's operated Espoir field, located offshore Cote d'lvoire, in February 2002.

Natural gas continues to represent the Company’s largest product offering, accounting for nearly 43% of the Company’s total production in 2002
compared to 43% of total production in both 2001 and 2000. North America accounts for over 98% of the Company's natural gas production in
2002 and 2001 (2000 - 100%). Daily natural gas production increased 34% to 1,232 mmcf from 918 mmcf in 2001 (2000 - 794 mmcf). Natural
gas production increased from the comparable periods due to development of the Ladyfern field and the 2002 mid-year acquisition of Rio Alto.
Natural gas production from Rio Alto properties averaged 376 mmcf/d over the last half of 2002. The Ladyfern field averaged 168 mmcf/d of natural
gas production during 2002, up from 40 mmcf/d in 2001. Natural gas production increased in the North Sea due to the acquisition of additional
interests in the Banff and Kyle fields.

Crude Oil and NGLs Production
(mbbls/d)

Natural Gas Production
(mmcf/d)

1,232
215

206
B |

00 I T (e
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ROYALTIES

2002 2001 2000

Oil and liquids ($/bb) e I

North America o $ 342 5 222 s 317

NorthSea i 8 230 $ 2710 $ 240

Offshore West Africa $ 1.35 $ 093 3 -
~ Company average ) S S $ 3.16 $ 217 $ 3.05

Natwaigas(met) L

North America o $ 0.80 % 126 % 108

Offshore West Afica $ 0.15 $ -

Company average e $ o78) %5 125 5 108

Company average (3/oce) 5 33| 5 442 3 4S5

Pef;enjtége of revenue kgxglqdin_g financial instruments) o

Oil and tiquids 8% 93% 2.6%

Natural gas 20.8% 22.8% 22.0%

0Oil and liquids royalties in North America increased to $3.42 per bbl, up from $2.22 per bb! in 2001 (2000 - $3.17 per bbl), due to changes in oil prices.
Qil and liquids royalties in North America increased as a percentage of revenue as a result of certain primary and thermal heavy oil projects that were
subject to a lower royalty structure reaching payout and becoming subject to higher government royalty rates. The majority of the Company’ oil sands
projects continue to benefit from reduced royalty rates as a result of the Alberta program to promote development of oil sands resources, which provides
a reduced royalty rate until an oil sands project recovers its capital costs. In 2002, North Sea oil royalties increased to $2.30 per bbl from $2.10 per bbl
in 2001 (2000 - $2.40 per bbl). The increase per barrel and as a percentage of revenue is due to the acquisition of additional interests in the royalty
paying Ninian, Murchison and Columba fields. In late November 2002, it was announced that royalties in the North Sea would be eliminated effective
January 1, 2003. Offshore West Africa oil royalties increased from the prior year due to the Espoir field commencing production in February 2002.
In 2001, the Kiame field in Angola was the only field on production and was on royalty holiday for a portion of that year.

Natural gas royalties for the Company decreased to $0.78 per mcf for the year 2002, down from $1.25 per mcf in 2001 (2000 - $1.08 per mcf), due
to the overall decrease in natural gas prices. North American natural gas royalties are sensitive to price changes and increased as a percentage of
revenue in 2001 due 10 the higher sales prices received. Natural gas royalties as a percentage of revenue decreased to 20.8% in 2002 from 22.8%
of revenue in 2001 (2000 - 22.0%) due to lower average natural gas prices. In the North Sea, the Company’s natural gas production is derived from
the non-royalty paying Banff and Kyle fields.

PRODUCTION EXPENSE

2002 20017 20000

Cil and liquids (b)) o L o
North America $ 673

6.45

NorthSea S Aj$> ?75;06
Offshore West Africa
Company average o o $

Natural gas (S/mcf) S I
North America $ 055
NorthSea . : S B
Offshore West Africa

Company average

Compéhyavérage (3/boe) - 8

(1) Restated to conform to current year presentation.
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The decrease in 2002 North America oil and liquids production expense to $6.73 per bbl from $7.05 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - $ 6.45 per bbl) is prima-

rily attributable to the decrease in natural gas prices. Natural gas is used to produce steam to heat the thermal oil formations to facilitate extraction
in the Primrose area of Alberta. Production expense in 2001 was higher due to higher fuel and power costs incurred during the first half of the year.
North Sea oil production expense increased in 2002 to $15.06 per bbi from $9.00 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - $8.66 per bbl), due to costs incurred as a
result of the planned maintenance shutdowns of the Ninian North and Ninian Central platforms during the third quarter of 2002. Production expense
in the North Sea also increased in 2002 as a resuit of costs incurred to rectify a natural gas pipeline blockage at Kyle experienced in the second quarter
of 2002, and because the Columba B and D fields reached a production milestone during 2001, thereby giving rise to higher tariff rates on a go-
forward basis. Offshore West Africa oll production expense decreased to $13.63 per bbl from $21.77 per bbl in 2001 (2000 - $ 20.41 per bbl) as a
result of production ceasing from the higher production expense Kiame field and as a result of production commencing from the Espoir field.

Natural gas production expense for the year 2002 increased to $0.57 per mcf from $0.51 per mcf in 2001 (2000 - $0.44 per mcf), due to increased
gathering and processing charges and increased toll rates on Ladyfern production in the first half of 2002.

MIDSTREARM

($ millions) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue ) $ 520 $ 274 $ 381
Operating costs 14.1 11.2 8.7
Operating cash flow - R N 379 16.2 29.4
Depreciation 7.6 3.8 1.8
Segment earnings before taxes $ 303 $ 124 $ 276

The Company’s midstream assets consist of the 100% owned and operated ECHO pipeline, the 15% interest in the Cold Lake pipeline system,
the 62% interest in the operated Pelican Lake pipeline, and the 50% interest in the 84 megawatt co-generation system located in the Primrose area.
The midstream pipeline assets allow the Company to transport its own production volumes as well as earn third party revenue from excess capacity.
The Company transports approximately 82% of its heavy oil through its pipelines to the international mainline liquid pipelines. These midstream assets
enhance the Company’s ability to control the full range of costs associated with the development and marketing of its heavy oil.

The increase in operating cash flow and segment earnings before taxes in 2002 was due to the expansion of the ECHO pipeline, as well as the
increased interest in the Pelican Lake pipeline and the commencement of operations from the Cold Lake pipeline system in late December 2001. The
increased pipeline revenues were partially offset by a decline in electricity revenue received from the sale of excess electricity from the Company’s

cogeneration system to the Alberta Power Pool.

DEPLETION, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

(3 millions, except per boe amounts) 2002 2001 2000
North America $10328| 5 7471 § 5859
North Sea 193.3 | 1290 54.4
Offshore West Africa 80.5 23.8 2.5
Expense $ 1,306.6 $ 900.0 § 6428

$/boe $ 851 $ 6.86 $ 573

(1) DD&A excludes midstream operations.

Depletion, depreciation and amortization ("DD&A") increased in total and per boe to $1,306.6 million or $8.51 per boe from $300.0 million or $6.86
per boe in 2001 (2000 - $642.8 million or $5.73 per boe). This increase was due to the higher finding and development costs associated with natural
gas exploration in North America, the allocation of the acquisition costs associated with Rio Alto, and future abandonment costs associated with the
acquisition of additional interests in the North Sea. DD&A was further increased in 2002 as a result of the Company’s decision to exit from its
interests in Block 19, Angola, and from the Aje field, Nigeria. The decision to exit from Block 19, Angola was made after a technical review of the
results of the Mariposa well where the Company held a 25% non-operated working interest. The decision to exit from the Aje field was based on a
reinterpretation of seismic that showed the structural dlosures were greatly reduced from previous expectations. The reduction in likely oil-in-place and
associated risk meant that the project failed to meet the Company's economic threshold. The Company charged all related capitalized costs in those

countries, totaling $51 mitlion, to DD&A during the second quarter of 2002.
ADMINISTRATION EXPENSE

($ millions, except per boe amounts) 2002 2001 2000
Gross cost o § 1472 $ 109.9 3 678
_ $/boe - o ~$ 096 | $ 084 $ 0.61
Net expense } . $ 613 s 376 % 272

$/boe $ 0.40 $ 029 $ 0.25
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Gross administration expense increased to $0.96 per boe from $0.84 per boe in 2001 (2000 ~ $0.61 per boe) mainly due to higher staffing levels
associated with the growth in production and the expanding asset base. Gross administration expense also increased as a result of the higher costs
related to the assumption of operatorship of certain fields in the North Sea and the cost of relocating the majority of the Company’s UK operations
to Aberdeen during the fourth quarter 2002. Net administration expense, after cperator recoveries and capitalized overhead relating to exploration
and development in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa as well as the Horizon Project, increased to $0.40 per boe in 2002 from $0.29 per boe
in 2001 (2000 — $0.25 per boe), due to the higher staffing levels and expanding asset base.

INTEREST EXPENSE

2002 2001 2000
Interest expense ($ millions) L N $ 1589 $ 137.8 $ 1623

$/boe $ 1.03 $ 105 $ 1.45
Average effective interest rate 4.5% 5.4% 6.4%

Interest expense increased in total to $158.9 million in 2002 from $137.8 million in 2001 (2000 - $162.3 million), due to higher average outstanding
debt levels as a result of the acquisition of Rio Alto and other property acquisitions. Interest expense was consistent with 2000 as the overall increase
in debt levels in the last half of 2002 was offset by the lower cost of barrowing. The impact of the higher debt levels was partially offset by the lower
overall cost of borrowing of 4.5% in 2002 from 5.4% in 2001 (2000 ~ 6.4%). Interest expense per boe remained consistent at $1.03 per boe in 2002
compared to $1.05 per boe in 2001 as the higher interest expense was offset by increased production, but decreased from 2000 due
to the increase in production and the lower cost of borrowing. The Company continues to benefit from the lower short-term interest rates as its
fixed-rate debt accounts for only 40% of total debt outstanding (after interest rates swaps, see note 12 to the consolidated financial statements) as
at December 31, 2002 (2001 - 21%, 2000 - 23%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

($ millions) 2002 2001 2000

Realized foreign exchange loss {gain) 5 34| $ (13) $ (0.2)

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (35.1) 64.1 16.1
$ (31.7) § 628 $ 15.9

(1) Restated for change in accounting policy (see consolidated financial statements - note 2).

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company retroactively adopted the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ new accounting standard with respect
to foreign currency translation. The new standard requires foreign exchange gains and losses on the Company's US dollar denominated debt to be
expensed immediately rather than deferring and amortizing the gains and losses over the term of the related debt. The change in accounting policy
was applied retroactively and foreign exchange losses for the year ended December 31, 2001 were increased by $48.1 million (2000 = $13.5 million).
The majority of the foreign exchange amounts are due to the translation of the US dollar denominated debt.

The Company’s US dollar denominated debt increased to US $1,968.0 million, up from US $899.0 million in 2001 and US $509.0 million in 2000.
The increase in the US dollar denominated debt in 2002 was due to the following issuances:

O US 3400 million of US dollar debt securities, maturing January 15, 2032, and bearing interest at 7.20%;
O US $350 million of US dollar debt securities, maturing October 1, 2012, and bearing interest at 5.45%; and
O US $350 million of US dollar debt securities, maturing June 30, 2033, and bearing interest at 6.45%.

US dollar denominated debt represented 76% of total debt outstanding at December 31, 2002 (2001 - 53%, 2000 - 31%). Due to the greater
amount of US dollar denominated debt outstanding, the Company’s net earnings were more affected by the fluctuations in the Canadian dollar. The
US/Canadian dollar exchange rate fluctuated throughout 2002 due to economic and political uncertainties. The Canadian dollar averaged US $0.637
in 2002, down from US $0.646 in 2001 (2000 - US $0.673).

In order to mitigate a portion of the volatility associated with the Canadian dollar, the Company, effective July 1, 2002, designated certain US dollar
denominated debt as a hedge against its net investment in US dollar based self-sustaining foreign operations. Accordingly, translation gains and losses
on this US dollar denominated debt are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment in shareholders’ equity in the consolidated balance
sheets.
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TAXES
($ millions, except for tax rates) 2002 2001 2000

Taxes other tl;w_a?'\”income tax -

Current ) - s 534 | 8§ 693§ 5740
Deferred 9.5 0.2) (7.6)
Total $ 629 § 691 $ 49.5

Current income tax

Northsea $ (196)] 3 618 § 337
Offshore West Africa o 60 - -
North America — Large Corporations Tax 21.2 -15.1 14.7
Total ' $ 76 $ 769 $ 48.4
Future income tax - ©$ 4010 $ 2825 § 4640
Effective income tax rate 41.6% 35.4% 39.9%

Taxes other than income tax consist of current and deferred petroleum revenue tax (“PRT”), other international taxes and provincial capital taxes.
PRT is charged on certain fields in the North Sea at the rate of 50% of net operating income after certain deductions including abandonment
expenditures, Taxes other than income tax decreased to $62.9 million or $0.41 per boe in 2002 from $69.1 million or $0.53 per boe in 2001
(2000 - $48.5 million or $0.44 per boe). The decrease in taxes other than income taxes was mainly due to the lower netback earned in the North
Sea as a result of increased production costs. Taxes other than income taxes increased from the year 2000 due to a full year of production from the
North Sea properties acquired in the Ranger Oil Limited (“Ranger™) acquisition. North Sea PRT accounts for $51.1 million or $0.33 per boe in 2002
compared to $59.1 million or $0.45 per boe in 2001 (2000 — $33.3 million or $0.29 per boe).

In 2002, there was a recovery of current income tax in the North Sea of $19.6 million or $0.13 per boe compared to an income tax expense of
$61.8 million or $0.47 per boe in 2001 (2000 — $33.7 million or $0.30 per boe). The decrease in the current income tax expense was partly due
to the decision by the UK Government to increase the first year capital allowance rate for plant and machinery expenditures to 100% from the
previous rate of 25%. The recovery of current income tax also resulted from the settlement of certain outstanding matters from prior years. Offshore
West Africa current income tax expense increased from the prior year due to the commencement of operations at the Espoir field located offshore
Céte d'ivoire in February 2002. The Company did not incur any cash Canadian federal income taxes in 2002. It is anticipated that, based on the current
availability of $3.1 billion of tax pools in Canada at the end of 2002 and the current pricing, the Company could be cash taxable in Canada in 2003.
The Company is liable for the payment of federal Large Corporations Tax (“LCT"). LCT increased to $21.2 million or $0.14 per boe from $15.1 million
or $0.11 per boe (2000 — $14.7 million, $0.13 per boe) due to the higher taxable capital base as a result of increased debt levels and shareholders’
equity associated with the acquisition of Rio Alto.

The Company’s future income tax provision for 2002 increased to $401.0 million ($2.61 per boe) from $282.5 million ($2.15 per boe) in 2001 (2000
- $464.0 million or $4.14 per boe) due to the increase in net earnings before tax. Future income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2002
also increased over the prior year due to the introduction in the UK of a 10% supplementary charge on profits from North Sea oil and natural gas
production. The supplementary charge is in addition to the current corporate tax rate of 30% and excludes any deduction for financing costs. As a
result of this additional charge, the future income tax liability in the North Sea was increased by $34 million. The increase in the North Sea future
income tax liability was partially offset by a $26 million decrease in the North American future income tax liability as a result of a reduction in a
Canadian province’s corporate income tax rate in the second quarter of 2002. In 2001, the North American future income tax liability was reduced
by $63 million as a result of reductions in Canadian provinces’ corporate income tax rates. Future income taxes also increased in 2002 because of the
increased capital allowance rates in the North Sea, resulting in a lower current tax expense and a higher future income tax expense. Future income
taxes in 2000 were higher due to higher product netbacks and higher current income tax rates in Canada.

The Company’s effective tax rate increased to 41.6% in 2002 from 35.4% in 2001 (2000 - 39.9%). The increase is a result of the introduction of the
10% supplementary charge on profits from North Sea oil and natural gas production and the reductions in certain Canadian provinces' corporate
income tax rates during 2001.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

($ millions, except ratios) 2002 20010 2000
Working capital deficit o $ 138 §$ 56 % 773
Long-term debt 4,074.0 2,669.2 2,454.5
Net debt $ 4,087.8 $ 26748 $ 25318
Shareholders’ equity ) R e
Preferred securities S $ 1264 $ 1274 $ 1198
Share capital o B 2,303.8 1,698.3 1,692.6
Retained earnings | _2&u43| 19085 11,3806
Foreign currency translation adjustment 23.6 72.8 -
Total $ 4,868.1 $ 3.807.0 $ 32031
Debt to cash flow® o o 1.8x ’ 1.4x 1.3x
Debt to book capitalization e 5858 | 41.2% 43.4%
Debt to market capitalization . 389% 0 349% 0 321%
After tax return on average common

__shareholders’ equity ®" o o o 13.8% 18.8% 31.6%
After tax return on average capital employed® 8.9% 12.0% 18.1%

{1) Restated for change in accounting policy {see consolidated financial statements - note 2).
(2) Based on trailing 12-month period and does not include amounts related to acquired assets for the six-month period prior to June 30, 2002.

The Company recognizes the need for a strong financial position in order to withstand volatile oil and natural gas commedity prices and the opera-
tional risks inherent in the oil and natural gas business environment.

LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt at December 31, 2002 amounted to $4,074 million and reflected a 1.8x debt to cash flow ratio and a debt to book capitalization of
45.6%. These ratios are within the Company’s guidelines for balence sheet management.

At Decernber 31, 2002 the Company had;

Approximately $1.3 billion of available unused bank credit facilities;
A fixed/floating interest rate mix of 40%/60%;

An overall average cost of borrowing of approximately 4.5%;

76% of borrowings denominated in US dollars; and

o o g o 0o

76% of total long-term debt is non-bank based borrowing with an average maturity of 15.6 years.

During 2002, the Company issued US dollar debt securities and used the proceeds from the issuances to repay bank indebtedness. In January 2002,
the Company issued US $400 million of 30-year US dollar debt securities maturing January 15, 2032, bearing interest at 7.20%. In September 2002,
the Company issued US $350 million of ten-year US dollar debt securities maturing October 1, 2012, bearing interest at 5.45% and US $350 million
of 30-year US dollar debt securities maturing June 30, 2033, bearing interest at 6.45%. Subsequent to these issuances, the Company entered into
interest rate swap contracts that convert the fixed rate interest coupon into a floating interest rate (see consolidated financial statements — note 12).
The Company has US $300 million remaining on a US $1 billion shelf prospectus filed on August 16, 2002 that allows for the issue of debt securities
until September 2004. In addition, the Company maintains a shelf prospectus in Canada for the offering of up to $1 billion of medium-term notes in
Canada. If issued, these securities will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance. Future offerings under the shelf prospectuses will provide
flexibility to the Company's debt investment base, extend maturities and provide balance in the fixed to floating interest rate mix.

The ratings of the Company’s debt securities and its relationships with principal banks are extremely important to the Company as it continues
to expand and grow. Hence, the Company’s management will continually undertake to strengthen its balance sheet and financial position. The
Company's debt securities are rated "8aa1"” by Moody’s Investor Services Inc., “BBB+" by Standard & Poors Corporation and “BBB(high)” by Dominion
Bond Rating Services Limited.

As at December 31, 2002, the Company had unsecured bank credit facilities of $2,275 million compared to $1,840 million at the close of 2001 (2000
- $2,800 million). During 2002, the Company repaid and cancelled a $725 million credit and term loan facility and a US $150 million credit and term
loan facility. At December 31, 2002, the Company had approximately $1.3 billion of unutilized bank credit lines available to it, in addition to funds
that are available through the Company’s Canadian and US shelf prospectuses.
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SHARE CAPITAL
The Company issued 10.0 million common shares at an attributed value of $522.4 million as part of the consideration to acquire Rio Alto. A further
2.5 million shares were issued from the exercise of stock options throughout 2002 for proceeds of $82.1 million. In 2001, 1.5 million common shares
from the exercise of stock options and warrants were issued for proceeds of $45.5 million. In 2000, 3.2 million common shares were issued from the
exercise of stock options for proceeds of $65.3 million and 7.6 million common shares were issued at an attributed value of $358.0 million as part of
the consideration to acquire Ranger.

During 2002, the Company issued 60,000 flow-through common shares to a director of the Company at a price of $39.00 per common share, for
total proceeds of $2.3 million. The value of the common shares was determined based on the closing market price of the common shares on the
Toronto Stock Exchange on the day prior to the allotment.

In January 2001, the Company announced its intention to make a Normal Course Issuer Bid through the facilities of the Toronto Stock Exchange and
the New York Stock Exchange. As at January 21, 2002, the Company had purchased 2,537,800 common shares, of the allowable 6,114,726 common
shares for a total cost of $113.3 million. in January 2002, the Company renewed its Normal Course Issuer Bid. No common shares were purchased
under the renewed Normal Course Issuer Bid in the period ended January 23, 2003.

In January 2003, the Company renewed its Normal Course Issuer Bid, allowing the Company to purchase up to 6,692,799 common shares or 5% of
the Company’s outstanding common shares on the date of announcement, during the 12-month period beginning January 24, 2003 and ending
January 23, 2004, As at February 26, 2003, 175,600 common shares had been purchased under the Normal Course Issuer Bid for a total cost of $8.3
million.

In January 2001, the Company announced a regular quarterly dividend of $0.10 per common share payable in January, April, July and October of
each year. In February 2002, the Board of Directors increased the Company's regular quarterly dividend to $0.125 per common share. In February
2003, the Board of Directors declared a 20% increase in the regular quarterly dividend to $0.15 per common share, or $0.60 per share per annum,
commencing with the April 1, 2003 payment.

The Company declared dividends on common shares in the amount of $64.0 million ($0.50 per common share) during the year ended
December 31, 2002, up from $48.5 million ($0.40 per common share) in 2001 (2000 - $ nil).
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

($ millions) 2002 2001 2000
Business combinations $ 2,393.2 $ - $ 1,687.3

Expenditures on property, plant and equipment

Net property acquisitions L s 4402 $ 5192 $ 1502

Land acquisition and retention - o %35 1005 79.7

Seismic evaluations o - 63.4 946 40.5

Well drilling, completion and equipping o 6256 | 6353 5089
Pipeline and production facilities 292.2 395.0 3357

Total net reserve replacement expenditures 1,534.9| 17446 1,115.0

Horizon Project o o 68.1 | 26.8 =
Midstream ) B L 1 204 973 -

Abandonments e 429y 94 ) 15.1

Head office 9.9 6.4 59

Total net capital expenditures $ 1,676.2 $ 1,884.5 $ 1,136.0

By segment (excluding business combinations)

North America $1,1321| § 14855 § 1,0418
North Sea ) M = X R % T

Offshore West Africa e 190.4 2039 393

Midstream 20.4 97.3 -

Total $ 1.676.2 $ 1,8845 $ 1.136.0

(1) Restated to conform to current year presentation.

The Company’s strategy is focused on continuing to build a diversified asset base, that is balanced between products, namely natural gas, light oil,
Pelican Lake oil, primary heavy oil and thermal heavy oil.

Capital expenditures totaled $1,676.2 million in the year 2002, excluding the acquisition of Rio Alto, compared to $1,884.5 million in 2001
(2000 - $1,136.0 million, excluding the acquisition of Ranger). Capital expenditures on North American properties accounted for 69% of total capital
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expenditures (2001 — 84%, 2000 — 92%), with the remainder expended in the Company’s core operating regions in the North Sea and Offshore West
Africa. In 2002, the number of net wells drilled {excluding injection/stratigraphic test wells) decreased 39% to 453 from the 739 in 2001 (2000 - 775
net wells). The number of natural gas wells drilled was 162 net wells, down from 476 net wells in 2001 (2000 - 408 net wells), which reflects
the Company’s decision to defer natural gas drilling from 2002 to 2003 to offset anticipated Ladyfern production declines. In addition, during
2002 the Company drilled 293 net stratigraphic test wells on the oil sands leases in the Horizon Project. The first quarter of 2002 included natural
gas exploration that concentrated on larger outlying pools in the Ladyfern area and the construction and commissioning of the Ladyfern natural
gas pipeline.

North Sea capital expenditures in 2002 included the consolidation of interests in the Banff, Kyle, Ninian, Lyell, Murchison and Columba fields. The
Company also acquired an interest in 12 licenses covering 20 exploration blocks and part blocks, and additional equity interests in the Brent and Ninian
pipelines and the Sullom Vooe Terminal. The consideration for these acquisitions included cash payments and the Company’s interests in the Harding,
Pierce and Claymore fields. As a result of these acquisitions, the Company was able to assume operatorship of several fields during 2002.

Ctfshore West Africa capital expenditures in Céte d'Ivoire included the continued development of the Espoir and Baobab fields. During 2002, three
producing wells and two water injection wells were completed in the Espoir field. Unanticipated uphole faults delayed completion of the fourth
producing well. Development continued on the Baobab field, where a second successful well was drilled and tested at a rate in excess of 10,000
bblis/d in the first quarter of 2002. The Company received approval for the Baobab development plan by the Government of Céte d'lvoire in December
2002. During December 2002, a satellite pool, Emien, was drilled but encountered no hydrocarbons. The Company also acquired an interest in the
exploration Block CI-400 in deeper waters offshore Céte d’Ivoire. This block is located adjacent to the Baobab discovery. The Company will operate
Block CI-400 and retain a 90% working interest. In addition, during 2002 the Company entered into a production sharing agreement (“PSA") for
Block 16, offshore Angolz, in which the Company has a 50% working interest. The PSA was effective September 1, 2002 for an initial four-year pericd.

ENVIRONWIENT
The Company's environmental management plan and operating guidelines focus on minimizing the impact of field operations while meeting
regulatory requirements and corporate standards. The Company as part of this plan has implemented a proactive program than includes:

O An annual internal environmental compliance audit and inspection program of our operating facilities;

An aggressive suspended well inspection program to support future development or eventual abandonment;
Appropriate reclamation and decomissioning standards for wells and facilities ready for abandonment;

An effective surface reclamation program;

A progressive due diligence program related to groundwater monitoring;

0o 0O 0o o o

A rigorous program related to preventing and reclaiming spill sites; and

O A solution gas reduction and conservation program.

Internationally, the Company has established stringent operating standards in four areas:

O Using water-based, environmentally friendly drilling muds whenever possible;

O Implementing cost effective ways of reducing greenhouse natural gas emissions per unit of production;
O Exercising care with respect to all waste produced through effective waste management plans; and

O Minimizing produced water volumes onshore and offshore through cost-effective measures.

In 2002, the Company’s capital expenditures included $42.9 million of abandonment expenditures, up from $9.4 million in 2001 (2000 - $15.1 million).

Estimated future site restoration liability (§ millions, excluding salvage value) 2002
North America e o 1,2060
North Sea o e ) 7453
Offshore West Africa 34.9
B S - 1,986.2 |
North Sea PRT recovery (304.9)
1,681.3

The estimate of the future site restoration Iiabili'ty is based on estimates of future costs to abandon and restore the wells, production facilities and
offshore production platforms. There are numerous factors that affect these costs including such things as the number of wells drilled, well depth and
the specific environmental legislation. The estimated costs are based on engineering estimates using current costs and technology in accordance with
current legislation and industry practice. It is important to note that the future abandonment costs to be incurred by the Company in the North Sea
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will result in an estimated recovery of PRT of $304.9 million, as abandonment costs are an allowable deduction in determining PRT and may be carried
back to reclaim PRT previously paid. The PRT recovery reduces the net abandonment liability of the Company to $1,681.3 million.

The Company’s strategy in the North Sea consists of developing commercial hubs around its core operated properties with the goal of increasing
production, lowering costs and extending the economic lives of its production facilities, thereby delaying the eventual abandonment dates.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Company is exposed to several operational risks inherent in exploring, developing, producing and marketing of oil and natural gas. These inherent
risks include: economic risk of finding and producing reserves at a reasonable cost; financial risk of marketing reserves at an acceptable price given
current market conditions; cost of capital risk associated with securing the needed capital to carry out the Company’'s operations; risk of fluctuating
foreign exchange rates; risk of carrying out operations with minimal environmental impact; risk of governmental policies, social instability or other
political, economic or diplomatic developments in its international operations; and credit risk of non-payment for sales contracts or non-performance
by counterparties to contracts.

The Company uses a variety of means to help minimize these risks. The Company maintains a comprehensive insurance program to reduce risk to an
acceptable level and to protect it against potentially significant losses. Operational control is enhanced by focusing efforts on large core regions with
high working interests and by assuming operatorship of all key facilities. Product mix is diversified, ranging from the production of natural gas to the
production of oil of various grades. The Company believes this diversification reduces price risk when compared with over-leverage to one commodity.
Sales of oil and natural gas are aimed at various markets to ensure that undue exposure to any one market does not exist. Financial instruments are
utilized to help ensure targets are met and to manage commodity prices, foreign currency rates and interest rate exposure. The Company minimizes
credit risks by entering into sales contracts and financial derivatives with only highly rated entities and financial institutions. In addition, the Company
reviews its exposure to individual companies on a regular basis, and where appropriate ensures that parental guarantees or letters of credit are in place
to minimize the impact in the event of default.

The Company’s current position with respect to its financial instruments is detailed in note 12 of the Company's consolidated financial statements.
The arrangements and policies concerning the Company’s financial instruments are under constant review and may change depending upon the
prevailing market conditions.

The Company’s capital structure mix is also monitored on a continual basis to ensure that it optimizes flexibility, minimizes cost, and offers the greatest
opportunity for growth. This includes the determination of a reasonable level of debt and any interest rate exposure risk that may exist.

The Company continues to employ an Environmental Management Plan (the “Plan”) to ensure the welfare of its employees, the communities in which
it operates, and the environment as a whole. Environmental protection is of fundamental importance and is undertaken in accordance with guiding
principles approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. A detailed copy of the Company’s Plan is presented to, and reviewed by, the Board of
Directors annually. The Plan is updated quarterly at the Directors’ meetings.

KYOTO PROTOCOL

The Horizon Project is situated on leases containing over 6 billion bbls of mineable oil reserves, supporting a three-phase development that will produce
232,000 bbls/d of light, sweet oil for over 40 years. The Horizon Project encompasses four operational segments: minesite, extraction, primary
upgrading and secondary upgrading. Additional development potential also exists on the leases to extract a further 2 billion bbls of mineable reserves
and 1 billion bbls of in-situ reserves. To date, capital expenditures of $228.7 million have been incurred on the Horizon Project.

The Company believes that certainty of long-term costs and implementation consistency is required prior to the final commitment for an investment
as large as the Horizon Project. In December 2002, the Canadian Federal Government ratified the Kyoto Protocol (“Kyoto”) which has resulted in a
decrease in cost certainty. Recently, the Canadian Federal Government has provided some limits to the cost of Kyoto implementation through 2012;
however, beyond 2012 no implementation certainty exists. As the Horizon Project is scheduled to commence production in 2008 and produce for
over 40 years, the lack of clarity on Kyoto implementation over the long term precludes the Company’s ability to commit to the construction of the
Horizon Project at this time.

The Company anticipates completion of its Design Basis Memorandum (“DBM*) phase of engineering in the first quarter of 2003. Although sufficient
tevels of implementation certainty to start construction do not exist today, the Company anticipates such tevels of certainty will be achieved, and
therefore has decided to continue with the Engineering Design Specification ("EDS") phase of engineering. The EDS will commence after completion
of the DBM, with related 2003 expenditures included in the Company’s current Horizon Project budget of $211 million.

The Company will continue to work with the Canadian Federal Government to clarify long-term economic consequences of Kyoto implementation
on the Horizon Project before any site clearing or pre-construction work begins in 2004.

COTE D'IVOIRE

The Company's development activities in Céte d’lvoire remain unaffected by recent political insurrection in the country as the Company's operations
are located offshore. The Company has established back-up facilities in a neighbouring country to ensure operations are not affected should
conditions significantly deteriorate. To date, the Company has not needed to utilize this contingency.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
A comprehensive discussion of the Company’s significant accounting policies is contained in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. The
following is a discussion of the accounting estimates that are critical in determining the Company’s financial results.

FULL COST ACCOUNTING

The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and natural gas properties and equipment as prescribed by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants. Accordingly, all costs relating to the exploration for and development of oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized and accu-
mulated in country-by-country cost centres. The capitalized costs related to each cost centre from which there is production are depleted on the unit-
of-production method based on the estimated proved reserves of that country. Capitalized costs in each cost centre may not exceed the sum of
discounted future net revenues from proved properties and the cost of unproved properties, net of provision for impairment, less estimated future
financing and administrative expenses and income taxes (the "ceiling test”). If the net capitalized costs of a cost centre are determined to be in excess
of the calculated ceiling, which is based largely on reserve estimates, the excess must be charged as an expense against net earnings. Proceeds on
disposal of properties are ordinarily deducted from such costs without recognition of profit or loss except where such disposal constitutes a significant
portion of the Company’s reserves in that country.

The alternate acceptable method of accounting for oil and natural gas properties and equipment is the successful efforts method. A major difference
in applying the successful efforts method is that exploratory dry holes and geological and geophysical exploration costs would be charged against net
earnings in the year incurred rather than being capitalized to property, plant and equipment. In addition, under this method cost centres are defined
based on reserve pools rather than by country.

OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES

The Company retains independent petroleum engineering consultants Sproule Associates Limited (“Sproule”) to evaluate the Company’s proved and
probable oil and natural gas reserves and prepares an evaluation report on the Company's total reserves. In 2002, Sproule’s report incorporated 89%
of the Company’s reserves with the Company internally evaluating the remaining 11%.

The estimation of reserves involves the exercise of judgement. Forecasts are based on engineering data, future prices, expected future rates of production
and the timing of future capital expenditures, all of which are subject to many uncertainties and interpretations. The Company expects that over time
its reserve estimates will be revised upward or downward based on updated information such as the results of future drilling, testing and production
levels. Reserve estimates can have a significant impact on net earnings, as they are a key component in the calculation of depreciation, depletion
and amortization. A revision to the reserve estimate could result in a higher or lower DD&A charge to net earnings. Downward revisions to reserve
estimates could also result in a write-down of oil and natural gas property, plant and equipment under the ceiling test.

FUTURE SITE RESTORATION

The Company provides for the estimated future dismantlement, site restoration and abandonment costs of oil and natural gas properties using the
unit-of-production method. Processing and production facilities are provided for using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 20
years. The annual provision is included in depletion, depreciation and amortization. The estimated costs are based on engineering estimates using current
costs and technology in accordance with current legislation and industry practice. The estimation of these costs can be affected by factors such as the
number of wells drilled, well depth and area specific environmental legislation. These estimates are reviewed regularly and could impact the DD&A
rate used by the Company. A revision to these estimated future costs could result in a higher or lower DD&A expense charged tc net earnings.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company's Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) provides for granting of stock options to directors, officers and employees. Stock options
granted under the Option Plan have a maximum term of six years to expiry and vest equally over a five-year period starting on the first anniversary
date of the grant. The exercise price of each stock option granted is determined as the closing market price of the common shares on the Toronto
Stock Exchange on the day prior to the day of the grant. Each stock option granted permits the holder to purchase one common share of the
Company at the stated exercise price. Currently, GAAP does not require the Company to record compensation expense in the consolidated financial
statements for stock options granted. If the Company had used the fair-value method to account for its stock based compensation, compensation
expense of $24.9 million would have been charged to net earnings in 2002. Further details regarding the Company’s stock-based compensation are
included in note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

OUTLOOK
The Company continues its strategy of maintaining a large portfolio of varied projects, which enables the Company over an extended period of time
to provide consistent growth in production and high shareholder returns. Annual budgets are developed, scrutinized throughout the year and changed
if necessary in the context of project returns, product pricing expectations, and balance in project risk and time horizons. The Company maintains a
high ownership level and operatorship level in all of its properties and can therefore control the nature, timing and extent of capital expenditures in
each of its project areas.
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The Company expects production levels in 2003 to average 1,280 to 1,330 mmcf/d of natural gas and 240 to 260 mbbls/d of oil and liquids,
unchanged from previous expectations. First quarter 2003 production guidance for natural gas is 1,300 to 1,320 mmcf/d of natural gas and 235 to
240 mbbls/d of oil and liquids.

The budgeted capital expenditures for 2003 are as follows:

Canadian natural gas properties ~ - ~$ 691 million
Canadian oil properties S 7_ o $ 517 million
Horizon Project o o $ 211 miliion
International oil properties — NorthSea % 281 million
International oil properties — Offshore West Africa e 280 million
Property acquisitions $ 300 million
Total capital expenditures $ 2,280 million

In North America, the Company will commence development of the undeveloped land acquired in the Rio Alto acquisition with the drilling of
51 wells, 49 of which will be natural gas wells. Approximately 17 of the wells will be Cardium wells, which is a complex geological zone requiring
both horizontal and vertical wells to test the production capabilities of the formation. The drilling in 2003 will be utilized to test and develop new
geological theories on best practices for exploitation of the Cardium zone, thereby facilitating an expanded 2004 drilling program. In addition, an
observation well will be drilled in the experimental Pelican Lake emulsion flood project in the first quarter of 2003 to assess the effectiveness of the
injection to date. The Company will also be implementing a demonstration scale waterflood project to evaluate this secondary recovery technigue,
which should increase response time. If either project is successful, the recovery factor from the Pelican Lake sands is expected to increase. This field
contains approximately three billion barrels of original oil-in-place but is only expected to achieve a 6% recovery factor using primary technologies.

Following regulatory approval in 2002 to utilize high-pressure steaming at its thermal oil project at Primrose in eastern Alberta, the Company will
develop and drill new pads containing a total of 48 wells incorporating high-pressure steaming in 2003. Steaming of these wells will commence in
the third guarter of 2003 with initial cil production following in mid 2004.

The Company anticipates receiving regulatory approvals for the Horizon Project from the Energy and Utilities Board in late 2003. The Company would
be in a position to commence site clearing and pre-construction in 2004, with full construction commencing upon achieving a targeted 80% comple-
tion of detailed engineering and design. The first phase of the Horizon Project would then be commissioned in 2008 at 110,000 bbis/d of light
synthetic oil. Phase two would be commissioned in 2010, increasing production to 155,000 bbls/d of production. Phase three would be completed
in 2012, bringing total production to 232,000 bbls/d. The Company’s leases could support further expansions beyond that date.

fn 2003, the Company has budgeted to spend a total of $281 million on its international holdings in the North Sea. These funds will be directed
towards drilling 18 wells in the North Sea. Other exploitation and waterflood optimization programs will also be carried out in both the northern and
central areas of the North Sea to increase the productivity and recovery factors in these known pools of light oil.

Offshore West Africa budgeted capital expenditures total $280 million in 2003. in Cote d'lvoire, the Company will complete the drilling and completion
operations at Espoir, drill an exploration well at Acajou, and finalize the Baobab development plans with development drilling commencing in the
fourth quarter of 2003. The Company also plans on drilling one of two identified prospects on its Block 16 exploration acreage, located offshore
Angola, during the second half of 2003. This high-risk/high-potential exploration block, in which the Company is the operator with a 50% interest,
is located in one of the world’s most prolific oil basins.

The original budget was based on an average natural gas price of $5.20 per mcf at AECQ, an oil price of US $24.00 per bbl for WTi and a heavy oil
differential of US $8.50 per bbl. The current price-deck for our products, if maintained, could result in a significant increase in cash flow over the
original budget established late in 2002. The Company will monitor its expected cash flow excess and at present intends to allocate a minimum of
50% of such excess towards debt repayment. The remaining excess will be directed to the Company's authorized share buy-back program and
additional expenditures on conventional oil and natural gas opportunities. Such expenditures will only be incurred as excess cash flows are realized
and will be subject to the same economic tests as regular budgeted expenditures. It is expected that the largest portion of the additional capital
expenditures will take place late in the third and fourth quarters of 2003 and accordingly will not add materially to the Company’s 2003 average
production volumes. Should additional economic opportunities for share buy-backs or capital activities not present themselves to the extent allocated,
such allocations of excess cash flow would revert to debt repayment.
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SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS ™

Cash flow from
operations ®

Cash flow from
operatiocns®

Net earnings®

Net earnings®

($ millions) ($/share, basic) {$ millions) ($/share, basic)
Price changes o o o
O|| - WTI US $1.00/bbi® o o )
Excluding financial derivatives o $104 $078 89  $0.52
__Including financial derivatives o $69-573 $0 51-§0.55  $45-%48 $0.34-50.36
Natural gas — AECO Cdn $0.10/mcf® o - o
__Excluding financial derivatives R $38 _%0.28 %23 $0.17 |
_Including f\nanoal derivatives - %838 %028 ~ $23 $0.17
leEme changes B B o
Qil — 10,000 bbls/d o $55 %047 $21 $0.15
Natural gas — 10 mmcf/d o %12 $0.09 Silz&_m %003
Fore|gn currency rate change - e o o
$0.01 change in Cdn § in relation to US §¢ N — ~
__ Excluding financial derivatives ) $57 $0.43 $15 $0.11 |
__Including financial derivatives - $52-355 $0.33-30.41 $12-374 $0.09-590.11
Interest rate change - 1% $24 $0.18 315 - $0.711
(1) The sensitivities are calculated based on 2002 fourth quarter results,
(2) Attributable to common shareholders.
(3) For details of financial instruments in place, see consalidated financial statements note 12.
DAILY PRODUCTION
BY SEGMERNT Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2002 2001 2000
Oil and liquids (bbls/d) e B N
North America 152,268 158,186 185,990 181,744 169 675 166,675 154,331
North Sea o 30,910 25,685 47, 114 51,478 38 376 36,252 17,185
Offshore West Africa 5,261 5,505 8,947 7.374 6,784 3,396 2,065
Total 188,439 189,386 242,051 240,596 215,335 206,323 173,591
Natural gas (mmcf/d) i o )
North America | @2 1058 1395 = 1,331 1,204 %06 793
North Sera__r‘,h B ) 27 20 29 32 27 12 1
Offshore West Africa - - 3 2 1 - -
Total 1,053 1,078 1,427 1,365 1,232 918 794
Barrels of oil equivalent (boe/d) e o
North America 323,31&0 334,497 418,600 403,499 370,337 | 317,658 286,476
North Sea 35,389 29,020 51,946 56,879 43,391 38,293 17,446
Offshore West Africa 5,261 5,505 9,403 7,754 6,994 3,396 2,065
Total 363,990 369,022 479,949 468,132 420,722 359,347 305,987
PER UNIT RESULTS
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2002 20019 2000
Qil and liquids (s/bbl) e o . o
Sales price o I's2a50  §28.27 $ 33.57 _$ 31.10 $ 2976 $ 2431 $ 2999
Royalties 2.28 ~3.02 - 3.56 3.53 396 | 2.17 3. 0_57
Production expense 7.81 7.95 8.67 9.10 8.45 7.64 6.84
Netback $ 14.41 $ 17.30 $ 21.34 $ 18.47 $ 18.15 $ 14.50 § 20.10
Natural gas (3/mcf) o o
Sales price 1% 306 % 368 $ 3193 $ 500 3% 3.76 $ 516 $ 453
Rovyalties ) 0.55 077 0.67 1.09 o078 1.25 1.08
Production expense 0.58 " 0.57 0.55 0.57 0.57 051 0.44
Netback $ 1.93 $ 234 $ 1.81 § 334 $ 241 $ 340 § 3.01
Barrels of oil equivalent ($/boe) o o
Salesprice - | § 2158 $ 25.29 $ 26.26 s 3054 %2625,  $2715 § 2877
Royalties 2 78 379 38 4.98 391 | 442 ~4.51
Production expense 573 576 6.01 6.34 5.99 5.69 5.02
Netback $ 13.07 $ 15.74 $ 16.45 $ 18.22 $ 16.35 $ 17.04 $ 19.24

(1) Restated to conform to current year presentation.
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($/boe, except daily production) 2002 2001 2000
Daily production (boe/d) - - 420,722 359,347 305,987
Sales price o $ 26.25 $ 2715 % 2877
Royalties - - 391 4.42 4.5
Production expense . 5.99 5.69 5.02
Netback . 1835 1704 1924
Midstream contnbutlon o L ) ) (0 25) - (0.12) (0.26)
Administration ___ - .. .. %40y} 029 025
Interest - o o B i3} 105 145
Rwrelggg‘xcbgpge loss (gain). o 0.02 (0.01) o ~
Taxes other than income tax (current) o 035 0.53 0.51
Current income tax (North Sea) N o T I 13) N 0.47 0.30
Current income tax (Offshore West Afr/ca) o 0.04 = -
Current income tax (Large Corporations Tax) 0.14 0.11 0.13
Cash flow S 14.75 § 1472 § 16.86

{1) Restated to conform to current year presentation.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

($ millions, except per share amounts) Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
2002 i e .
Revenue s 115 $ 828 51,1726 $ 1,3303 $ 4,083.2
Cash flow from operations attributable
____to common shareholders $ 35941 $ 4745 $ 6438  $ 7766  $ 22540
Per share — basic s 295 % 386 $ 483 $ 581 § 1763
— diluted s 285 $ 370 $ 471 $ 562 S 1699
Net earnings attrioutable to common shareholders $ 989 $ 1452  § 1174 $ 2083 $ 5698
Per share - basic - $ 081 § 1.18 $ 08 S 156 $ 446
— —diluted B $ 079 $  1.09 $ 086 $ 151 s 431
2001 O R
Revenue $1,1307  § 9812 $ 8105 3 6664 $ 3,588.8
Cash flow from operatlons attributable
___to common shareholders $ 6293 $ 5276 $ 4374 '$ 3257 % 19200
Pershare —basic % 515 $ 436 $ 362 0§ 269 § 1583
) - diluted B % 503 $ 417 $ 354 $ 265 % 1523
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders $ 2218 $ 2866 $ 813 $ 529 5 6426
Per share - basic $ 1.82 $ 237 § 0687 $ 044 $ 5.30
— diluted $ 177 $ 223 $ 066 $ 043 $ 517
TRADING AND SHARE STATISTICS
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2002 Total 2001 Total
TSX~-CDN $ o o o
Trading volume (thousands) | 35401 40,769 34,404 44,255 154,829 | 133,744
Share price (§/share) S o o
__High o |'ss305 s sa54 s 5381 S 5050 5 5454 | § 5235
Low | $.37.60 S 45.60 $ 4410 $ 38.80 $ 3760 | § 3590
~ _Close  $ 5160 $ 5152 $ 50.35 $ 4680 S 4680 | $ 3831
Market capitalization at December 31 (5 millions) o % 6261 | § 4643
Shares cutstanding (thousands) o ) o 133,776 | 121,201
NYSE-USS T
Trading volume (thousands) 1,400 823 1365 3,278 7,866 | 5191
Share price (S/share) . o
High o $ 33.25 $ 34.48 $ 34.88 $ 3181 S 348 | § 3451
Low $ 23.55 $ 29.52 $ 2752  $ 2455 S 2355 | § 2280
 Close $ 32.94 $ 34.25 $ 3180 S 2967 S 20567 | § 2440
Market capitalization at December 31 ($ millions) | - o $ 3969 | § 2957
Shares outstanding (thousands) 133,776 121,201
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management’s report and auditors’ report

management’s report
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and all information in the annual report are the responsibility of management. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the accounting policies in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. Where necessary, management has made informed judgements and estimates in accounting for transactions which were not complete
at the balance sheet date. In the opinion of management, the financial statements have been prepared within acceptable limits of materiality and are
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles appropriate in the circumstances. The financial information elsewhere in the
annual report has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the consolidated financial statements.

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal control. Policies and procedures are designed to give reasonable assurance that transactions
are appropriately authorized, assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable
information for preparation of financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, has been engaged, as approved by a vote of the shareholders at the
Company’s most recent Annual General Meeting, to examine the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards in Canada and provide an independent professional opinion. Their report is presented with the consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. The Board
exercises this responsibility through the Audit Committee of the Board. This committee, which is comprised of non-management
directors, meets with management and the external auditors to satisfy itself that management responsibilities are properly discharged and to review
the consolidated financial statements before they are presented to the Board of Directors for approval. The consolidated financial statements have
been approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Audit Committee.

7 i =1y bl Dei
John G. Langille, ca Douglas A. Proll, ca Randall S. Davis, ca

President and Director Senior Vice-President, Finance Financial Controller
February 26, 2003

auditers’ report

To the Shareholders of Canadian Natural Resources Limited

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Canadian Natural Resources Limited as at December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the consolidated
statements of earnings, retained earnings and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2002. These consclidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidatec financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at December 31,
2002 and 2001 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2002 in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Calgary, Alberta, Canada
February 26, 2003

Chartered Accountants

Comments by Auditor for US readers on Canada-US Reporting Differences

In the United States, reporting standards for auditors require the addition of an explanatory paragraph (following the opinion paragraph) when there
is a change in accounting principles that has a material effect on the comparability of the Company’s financial statements, such as the change
described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. Our report to the shareholders dated February 26, 2003 is expressed in accordance with
Canadian reporting standards which do not require a reference to such a change in accounting principles in the Auditors’ report when the change is
properly accounted for and adequately disclosed in the financial statements.

Prcer

Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Alberta, Canada
February 26, 2003
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- consolidated financial statements

consolidated balance sheets

As at December 31

(milfions of Canadian dollars) 2002 2001

ASSETS L

Current assets o

Cash - 1 s 300 $ 150
Accounts receivable and other’ 745.2 509.0
. o 775.2 5240
Property, plant and equipment (note 4) | 124986 | 84429
Deferred charges 84.1 -
13,358.9 8,966.9

LIABILITIES ; B -

Current liabilities e S e
__ Accounts payable o 336.5 2485
" Accrued labilties T ) a84 | 2842
Current portion of long-term debt (note 5) 24.14 15.9
- - 789.0 529.6

Long-term debt (note 5) _4,0740 | 26692

Future site restoration (note 6) o R 4404 1938
Future income tax (note 7) 3,187.4 1,767.3
8,450.8 5,159.9

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY , _ a -
Preferred securities (note8) b 1264 | 1274
Share capital (notey ) e 2,303.8 | 1,698.3
Retained earnings o 2,414.3 1,908.5
Foreign currency translation adjustment (hote 10) 23.6 72.8
4,868.1 3,807.0
$ 13,358.9 $ 89669

Commitments (note 13)

Signed on behalf of the Board:

L 9

Ambassador Gordon D. Giffin N. Murray Edwards
Chairman of the Audit Committee and Director Vice-Chairman of the Corporation and Director
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consolidated financial statements

consolidated statements of earnings

For the Years Ended December 31

(millions of Canadian dollars, except per comman share amounts) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue o ] | 540832|  $35888  § 32606
Less: royalties (600.3) (580.3) (506.2)
3,482.9 3,008.5 2,754.4
Expenses S . .
Production _ | ..%338) 7579 5710
Depletion, depreciation and amortization o 1,314.2 9038 644.6
Administration o - L 61.3 376 272
Interest_ - - 1589 | 1378 162.3
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (note 2) 317 628 15.9
Loss on sale of United States assets (note 4) - 24.1 -
2,436.6 1,924.0 1,421.0
Earnings before taxes - o 1,048.3 1,084.5 21,3334
Taxes other than income tax (note 7) o 62.8 691 485
Current income tax (note 7) o 7.6 76.9 484
Future income tax (note 7) 401.0 282.5 464.0
Netearnings L 5748| 650 7715
Dividend on preferred securities, netoftax {80 (5.9 28
Revaluation of preferred securities (note 2) 1.0 (7.5) (1.6)
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders $ 569.8 § 642.6 § 7671
Net earnings attributable tc common shareholders
per common share (note 11)
_ Base - ] s 448 $ 530 § 657
Diluted $ 431 $ 517 $ 639
conseolidated statements of retained earnings
For the Years Ended December 31
(millions of Canadian doliars) 2002 2001 2000
Balance - beginning of year as previously reported 51,9795 | 5 14060 5 6238
Change in accounting policy — foreign exchange (note 2) (71.0) (15.4) 0.3)
Balance ~ beginning of year as restated 18085 1,390.6 6235
Net earnings T - 574.8 656.0 7715
Dividend on preferred securities, net of tax o - (6.0} (5.9) (2.8
Revaluation of preferred securities (note 2) %6 @5 (1.6)
Dividend on common shares (note 9) - @20) 85 -
Purchase of common shares (note 9} - (76.2) -
Balance - end of year $ 2,414.3 $ 1,908.5 $ 1,390.6
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consolidated statements of cash flows

For the Years Ended December 31

(millions of Canadian dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Operating activities o ]
Net earnings | _.. % 5748 $ 650 3 7715
Non-cash items S
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ] - 1,314.2 9038 6446
__Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (35.1} 641 161
. Deferred petroleum revenue tax _ 951 02) 7.8
Future incometax. 401.0 282.5 464.0
Loss on sale of United States assets - 241 -
Cash flow provided from operations 22644 | 19303 188856
Deferred charges ~ (84.1) = -
Net change in non-cash working capital (156.9) (42.2) (55.4)
2,023.4 1,888.1 1,833.2
Financing activities e T o i
Repayment of bank credit facilities e ~ o (1,2343) 4423 (187.7)
Issue of medium-term notes I . - 125.0
Repayment of senior unsecured notes I (15.9) (15.8) (15.1)
Issue of US dollar debt securities 1,749.3 615.2 -
Repayment of obligations under capital leases {1 (39 o -
Repayment of limited recourse loan - (11.8) 0.7)
Dividend on preferred securities L e __(i0.4) S0y o GO
Issue of common shares ) 841 428 664
Dividend on common shares (59.4) (36.4) -
Purchase of common shares N - (113.3) -
Net change in non-cash working capital 26.0 7.4 5.8
535.5 355 (11.3)
Investing activities S - o )
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (note3) (843.2) - (7228
Expenditures on property, plant and equipment 1 (1752.3) (1,947.5) (1,294.6)
Net proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 76.1 63.0 160.3
Net expenditures on property, plant and equipment o (2,519.4) (1,884.5) (1,857.1)
Net change in non-cash working capital (24.5) (52.1) 63.1
(2,543.9) (1,936.6) (1,794.0)
Increase (decrease) incash 15.0 (13.00 279
Cash - beginning of year 15.0 28.0 0.1
Cash - end of year $ 30.0 $ 15.0 $ 280

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information (note 14)
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

(tabular amounts in million of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Canadian Natural Resources Limited (the “Company”) is a senior independent oil and natural gas exploration, development and production company
based in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. The Company’s operations are focused in North America, largely in western Canada, the North Sea and Offshore
West Africa.

Within western Canada, the Company is developing its Horizon Qil Sands Project (the “Herizon Project”) and maintains its midstream activities. The
Horizon Project involves a plan to recover bitumen through mining operations, while the midstream activities include the Company’s pipeline operations
and an electricity co-generation system.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Canada.
A summary of differences between accounting principles in Canada and those generally accepted in the United States (“US") is contained in note 16.

Significant accounting policies are summarized as follows:

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its subsidiaries and partnerships. Portions of the Company’s
activities are conducted jointly with others and the consolidated finandial statements reflect only the Company’s proportionate interest in such activities.

MEASUREMENT UNCERTAINTY
Management has made estimates and assumptions regarding certain assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the preparation of the consclidated
financial statements. Such estimates primarily relate to unsettled transactions and events as of the date of the consolidated financial statements.

Accordingly, actual results may differ from estimated amounts. y

Depletion, depreciation and amortization and amounts used for ceiling test calculations are based on estimates of proved oil and natural gas reserves
and future sales prices, production expenses and capital costs required to develop and produce those reserves. The majority of the Company’s reserve
estimates are evaluated annually by independent engineering firms. By their nature, estimates of reserves and the related future cash flows are subject
to measurement uncertainty, and the impact of differences between actual and estimated amounts on the consclidated financial statements of future
periods could be material.

The measurement of petroleum revenue tax expense and the related provision in the consolidated financial statements are subject to uncertainty
associated with future recoverability of oil and natural gas reserves, commodity prices and the timing of future events, which could result in material
changes to deferred amounts.

CASH
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Other investments (term deposits and certificates of deposit) with a term to maturity of three
months or less from the transaction date are reported as cash equivalents.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Company follows the full cost method of accounting for oil and natural gas properties and equipment as prescribed by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants (“CICA"). Accordingly, all costs relating to the exploration for and development of oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized
and accumulated in country-by-country cost centres. Administrative overhead incurred during the development phase of large capital projects is
capitalized until commercial production commences. Proceeds on disposal of properties are ordinarily deducted from such costs without recognition
of profit or loss except where such disposal constitutes a significant portion of the Company’s reserves in that country.

DEPLETION, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

The costs related to each cost centre from which there is production are depleted on the unit-of-production method based on the estimated proved
reserves of that country. Volumes of net production and net reserves before royalties are converted to equivalent units on the basis of estimated
relative energy content. In determining its depletion base, the Company includes estimated future costs to be incurred in d‘evelo‘ping proved reserves
and excludes the cost of unproved properties. The unproved properties are assessed periodically to ascertain whether impairment has occurred. When
proved reserves are assigned or the value of the unproved property is considered to be impaired, the cost of the unproved property or the amount of
the impairment is added to costs subject to depletion. Certain costs in cost centres from which there has been no commercial production are not
subject to depletion until commercial production commences.

Processing and production facilities, net of salvage value, are depreciated on 3 straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 20 years.

The Company carries its oil and natural gas properties at the lower of net capitalized cost and net recoverable amount (the “ceiling test”). The.net
capitalized cost of each cost centre is calculated as the net book value of the related assets less the accumulated provisions for future income taxes
and future site restoration. Net recoverable amount is limited to the sum of undiscounted future net revenues from proved properties and the cost of
unproved properties net of provisions for impairment less estimated future financing and administrative expenses and income taxes. Future net
revenues are based on sales prices and costs prevailing at year end. ‘

The Company carries its midstream assets at the fower of net capitalized cost and net recoverable amount. Midstream assets, net of salvage value,
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 20 years.

54 Canadian Natural




Other capital assets are amortized on a declining balance basis over their estimated useful lives of five years.

DEFERRED CHARGES
Deferred charges include deferred financing costs associated with the issuance of long-term debt and settlement costs of long-term natural gas
contracts. Deferred charges are amortized over the original term of the related instrument.

FUTURE SITE RESTORATION

Estimated future dismantlement, site restoration and abandonmenit costs of oil and natural gas properties are provided for using the unit-of-production
method. Processing and production facilities are provided for using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 20 years. The
estimated costs are based on engineering estimates using current costs and technology in accordance with current legislation and industry practice.
The annual provision is included in depletion, depreciation and amortization. Expenditures incurred to dismantle the processing and production
facilities and to abandon and restore well sites are charged against the related site restoration liability.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Foreign operations that are operationally and financially independent are translated using the current rate method. Under this method, assets and
liabilities are translated to Canadian dollars from their functional currency using the exchange rate in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date.
Revenues and expenses are translated to Canadian dollars at the monthly average exchange rates. Gains or losses on translation are included in the
foreign currency translation adjustment in shareholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets.

Foreign operations that are not considered to be self-sustaining are translated using the temporal method. For foreign currency balances and
integrated subsidiaries, monetary assets and liabilities are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the consclidated balance
sheet date and non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange in effect when the assets were acquired or obligations
incurred. Revenues and expenses are translated to Canadian dollars at the monthly average exchange rates. Provisions for depletion, depreciation and
amortization are translated at the same rate as the related items.

PETROLEUM REVENUE TAX

The Company accounts for future United Kingdom petroleum revenue tax (“PRT") by the life-of-the-fieild method. The total future liability or recovery
of PRT is estimated using current sales prices and costs. The estimated future PRT is apportioned to accounting periods on the basis of total estimated
future revenues. Changes in the estimated total future PRT are accounted for prospectively.

PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACT

Production generated from the Espoir field, offshore Cote d'Ivoire, is shared by the terms of the Production Sharing Contract ("PSC”) with the State
Qil Company of Céte d'lvoire ("Petroci”). Revenues are divided into cost recovery revenues and profit revenues. Cost recovery revenues allow the
Company to recover the capital and operating costs carried by the Company on behalf of Petroci. These revenues are reported as sales revenues. Profit
revenues are allocated to the Espoir joint venture partners in accordance with their respective equity interests, after a portion has been allocated to
the Céte d'lvoire Government. The Government's share of revenues, attributable to the Company’s equity interest, is reported as either a royalty
expense or a current tax expense in accordance with the PSC.

INCOME TAX

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax assets and liabilities are recognized
based on the estimated tax effects of temporary differences in the carrying value of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
their respective tax bases, using income tax rates substantively enacted on the consolidated balance sheet date. The effect of a change in income tax
rates on the future income tax assets and liabilities is recognized in net earnings in the period of the change.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenues are recognized when products have been delivered or services have been performed.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method; therefore, no stock-based compensation expense is
recorded either on granting or exercise of stock options under the Company’s Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”). Consideration paid by
employees, officers or directors on the exercise of stock options under the Option Plan is recorded as share capital. The Company matches employee
contributions to the Company’s Stock Savings Plan and these cash payments are recorded as compensation expense.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments are utilized by the Company to manage its commodity prices, foreign currency and interest rate exposures. These financial
instruments are entered into solely for hedging purposes and are not used for trading or other speculative purposes.
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notes to the consolidated financial statements

The Company's policy is to formally document relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, the risk management objective, and the
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company assesses whether the financial instruments entered into are highly effective as fair
value and cash flow hedges, both at the inception of the hedge and over the term of the financial instrument.

The Company enters into commodity price contracts to hedge anticipated sales of oil and natural gas production in order to protect cash flow for
capital expenditure programs. Gains or losses on these contracts are included in oil and natural gas revenue at the time of sale of the related product.

Foreign exchange translation gains and losses on foreign currency denominated financial instruments used to hedge anticipated US dollar denominated
oil and natural gas sales are recognized in revenue at the time of sale of the related product.

The Company has assumed, through the Rio Alto acquisition, a foreign currency swap agreement that hedges a foreign currency denominated long-
term debt instrument through an offsetting forward exchange contract. The foreign exchange translation gains and losses on the financial instrument
are used to offset the respective translation gains and losses recognized on the long-term debt.

The Company enters into interest rate swap agreements to manage its fixed to floating interest rate mix on long-term debt. These swaps are designated
as hedges of the underlying debt. The interest rate swap agreements require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of the notional
principal amount on which the payments are based. Gains or losses on these financial instruments are included in interest expense in the consolidated
statement of earnings when realized. The related amount receivable from or payable to counterparties is included as an adjustment to accrued interest
in the consolidated balance sheets.

Realized gains and losses on the termination of financial instruments that have been accounted for as hedges are deferred under non-current assets
or liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and recognized in net earnings in the period in which the underlying hedged transaction is recognized.
In the event a designated hedged item is sold, extinguished or matures prior to the termination of the related derivative instrument, any realized or
unrealized gain or loss on such derivative instrument is recognized in net earnings.

PER COMMON SHARE AMOUNTS

The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the dilutive effect of stock options and other dilutive instruments. This method assumes
that proceeds received from the exercise of in-the-money stock options and other dilutive instruments are used to purchase common shares at the
average market price during the year.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain figures provided for prior years have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2002.

2. CHANGE N ACCOUNTING POLICY

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company retroactively adopted the CiICAs new accounting standard with respect to foreign currency translation.
As a result of adopting this new standard, gains or losses on the translation of long-term debt denominated in US dollars are no longer deferred and
amortized over the term of the debt. Translation gains or losses are either recognized in net earnings immediately, or in the foreign currency translation
adjustment (note 10) for translation gains or losses on that portion of the US dollar denominated debt designated as a hedge of self-sustaining foreign
operations. This new standard has been adopted retroactively and prior periods have been restated.

The new standard affects the Company’s accounting for US dollar denominated long-term debt and preferred securities. Adoption of the new
accounting policy had the following effects on the Company’s consclidated financial statements:

2002 2001 2000
Consclidated balance sheets )
___Decrease deferred foreign exchange loss o 8 = 5619 5038
_(Decrease) increase preferred securities e $ (1.0) $ 5.1 3 16
Decrease in opening retained earnings $(71.0 $ (154) 3 (0.3
Consolidated statements of earnings
___foreign exchange (gain) foss $ (53.3) § 481 $ 135
Revaluation of preferred securities (gain) loss o o S (19| % 75 % 16
Increase (decrease) net earnings attributable to - ) o L
~__common shareholders per common share o o
- Basic 5042 $ (0.46) $ (0.13)
- Diluted $ 0.40 $ (0.38) $ (0.11)

3. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

RiO ALTO EXPLORATION LTD.
In July 2002, the Company paid cash of $850.0 million and issued 10,008,218 common shares with an attributed value of $522.4 million to acquire
all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Rio Alto Exploration Ltd. (“Ric Alto”) by way of a plan of arrangement (the “Plan of Arrangement”).
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Rio Alto was engaged in the exploration for and production of oil and natural gas in western Canada and through wholly owned subsidiaries, in
South America. Under the Plan of Arrangement, the subsidiaries of Rio Alto that held its South American properties were sold to a new company,
Rio Afto Resources International Inc. ("Rio Alto International ”), and each shareholder of Rio Alto received ane common share of Rio Alto International

for each Rio Alto common share held.

The acquisition was accounted for based on the purchase method. Results of Rio Alto are consolidated with the results of the Company since the date
of acquisition. The allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values is set out in the following table:

July 1, 2002
Purchase price: _ S
_ Cash consideration $ 8500
‘Share consideration 522.4
Cash acquired L - (6.8)
Non-cash working capital deficit assumed B 91.3
Long-term debt assumed 936.3
Total purchase price $ 2,393.2
Purchase price allocated as follows: o o
_Property, plant and equipment $ 34118
~ Future site restoration R o _ (43.5)
Future income tax (975.1)
$ 23932

RANGER OIL LIMITED

In July 2000, the Company paid cash of $722.8 million and issued 7,602,068 common shares with an attributed value of $358.0 million to acquire
all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Ranger Oil Limited ("Ranger”). Ranger was engaged in the exploration for and development of

cil and natural gas in the North Sea, North America and Offshore West Africa.

The acquisition was accounted for based on the purchase method. Results of Ranger are consolidated with the results of the Company since the date
of acquisition. The allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values is set out in the following table:

July 1, 2000
Purchase price: — R B
_Cash consideration $ 7228
___Share consideration o 358.0
... Non-cash working capital deficit assumed O & P
Long-term debt assumed o _ 3766
Preferred securities assumed 118.3
Total purchase price $ 1,687.3
Purchase price allocated as follows: - - )
Property, plant and equipment - $ 19664
Future site restoration o o N L (129.3)
Future income tax (149.8)
$ 16873
4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2002
Accumulated
depletion and
Cost depreciation Net
QOil and natural gas - R
North America L 5138633 5 36113  $10252.0
North Sea - ) ) . 1,6212 3442 1,277.0
Offshore West Africa o i 1.9 836 5183
Horizon Project . 228.7 - 228.7
Midstream ) . 2140 i8.4 195.6
Other 50.1 22.1 28.0
$ 16,589.2 $ 4,089.6 $ 12,499.6
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4, PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMIENT (CONTINUED)
2001
Accumulated
depletion and

Cost depreciation Net
QOil and natural gas o o N e
North America o _ e } % 54247 $ 26171 % 68076
B North Sea 1,050.3 184.7 865.6
~ Offshore West Africa - 425.2 15.3 409.9
Horizon Project _ e _..e06 - 160.6
Midstream o o 193.6 108 182.8
QOther 323 15.9 16.4
‘ $ 11,286.7 $ 2,843.8 $ 8,442.9

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company capitalized administrative overhead of $13.0 million (2001 ~ $6.7 million; 2000 — $3.7 million)
relating to exploration and development in the North Sea and Offshore West Africa and $3.9 million (2001 - $nil, 2000 — $nil) refating to the Horizon
Project in North America. During 2001, the Company sold a large portion of its properties in the United States and recorded a loss on sale of

$24.1 million.

Included in property, plant and equipment are undeveloped land and projects under development that are not subject to depletion or depreciation;

2002 2001 2000
QOil and natural gas - )
North America - $ 6668 $ 4240 $ 3515
~ NorthSea - 62.0 49.5 45.5
Offshore West Africa 131.8 398.8 175.3
Horizon Project 228.7 160.6 141.8
$ 1,089.3 $ 1,032.9 $ 7141
5. LONG-TERWI DEBT
2002 2001
Bank credit facilities e I
__Bankers’ acceptances $ 7280 $ 1,003.4
__US $ Bankers’. acceptar]ces (2002 US $150.0 .’T]'_”P_”_Z@i__us $196.0 million) o 22369 3121
US $ LIBOR advances (2002 - US $nif, 2001 - US $100.0 million) - - 159.3
Medium-term notes N
6.85% unsecured debentures due May 28, 2004 o 1258 1250
7. 40% unsecured debentures due March 1, 2007 125.0 125.0
Senlor unsecured notes o S - | -
6.95% due September 30, 2003 (2002 - US $10.0 million, 2001 —US $20.0 millior) 15.8 31.9
6.42% due May 27, 2004 (US $40.0 million) o L o 63.2 637
__7.69% d due December 19 2005 (Us $125.0 mxlhon) o ~ 193.7 -
6.50% due May 1, 2008 (US $50.0 millior) - o B 79.0 79.6
) Adjustable rate due May 27, 2009 (US $93.0 million) o _ 146.9 148.1
US dollar debt securities o o
6.70% due July 15, 2011 (US $400.0 millon) 631.8 637.0
‘534,5% due October 1, 2012 (US $350.0 million) N e - 552.9 | -
_7.20% due January 15, 2032 (US $400.0 miltion) el G318
~6.45% due June 30, 2033 (US $350.0 million) S 5529 | -
Obligations under capital leases 15.2 -
L L B 4,098.1 2,685.1
Less: current portion of long-term debt 24.1 15.9
$ 4,074.0 | $ 2,669.2
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BANK CREDIT FACILITIES
The Company has unsecured bank credit facilities of $2,275.0 million comprised of a $100.0 million operating demand facility, a revolving credit and
term loan facility of $1,675.0 million and a $500.0 million acquisition term credit facility repayable July 3, 2004. The Canadian dollar revolving credit
and term loan facility is fully revolving for 364-day periods with a provision for extension at the mutual agreement of the Company and the lenders. If
not extended, the facility converts to a non-revolving reducing loan with a term of three years. Principal payments during the term period amortize on
the basis of one-third of the outstanding principal being due 12 months after the initiation of the term period followed by eight equal quarterly
payments thereafter. The facility provides that the borrowings may be made by way of operating advances, prime loans, bankers' acceptances, US base
rate loans or US dollar LIBOR advances which bear interest at the bank’s prime rates or at money market rates plus applicable margins. During the year,
the Company repaid and cancelled a $725.0 million credit and term loan facility and a US $150.0 million credit and term loan facility.

The weighted average interest rate of bank credit facilities outstanding at December 31, 2002 was 3.37% (2001 - 2.71%). Included in this rate is
debt under the bank credit facilities totaling $100.0 million that is subject to an interest rate swap that fixes the interest rate at 5,.08% plus a stamping
fee (note 12).

In addition to the outstanding debt, letters of credit aggregating to $25.1 million have been issued.

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

In July 2001, the Company authorized a medium-term note program in the aggregate principal amount of up to $1.0 billion for issue in Canada until
July 2003. If issued, these notes will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance. No amounts are currently drawn under this program. The
Company has $250.0 million of unsecured debentures outstanding from a previous medium-term note program.

SENIOR UNSECURED NOTES

The final principal repayment on the 6.95% senior unsecured notes is due September 30, 2003. The 6.42% senior unsecured notes are due in full
May 27, 2004. Annual principal repayments of US $10.0 million on the 6.50% notes commence May 1, 2004, and are payable through May 1, 2008.
The adjustable rate senior unsecured notes bear interest at 6.54% increasing to 6.64% under certain circumstances, and have annual principal
repayments of US $31.0 million commencing on May 27, 2007, through May 27, 2009. The debt instruments contain covenants pertaining to the
Company's net worth, certain financial ratios and the ability to grant security.

OnJuly 1, 2002, as part of the Rio Alto acquisition, the Company assumed US $125.0 million of senior unsecured notes maturing December 19, 2005,
bearing interest at 7.69%. Through a currency swap, the interest and principal repayment amounts are fixed at 7.30% and $193.7 million, respectively
{note 12).

USs DOLLAR DEBT SECURITIES

On July 24, 2001, the Company issued US $400.0 million of US dollar debt securities, maturing July 15, 2011, bearing interest at 6.70%. Subsequently,
the Company entered into interest rate swap contracts that convert the fixed rate intersst coupen into a floating interest rate for a portion of the
term (note 12).

On January 23, 2002, the Company issued US $400.0 million of US dollar debt securities, maturing January 15, 2032, bearing interest at 7.20%.
Proceeds from the securities issued were used to repay bankers’ acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities. Subseguently, the Company
entered into interest rate swap contracts that convert the fixed rate interest coupon into a floating interest rate for a portion of the term (note 12).

On September 16, 2002, the Company issued US $350.0 million of US dollar debt securities maturing October 1, 2012, bearing interest at 5.45%
and US $350.0 million of US dollar debt securities maturing June 30, 2033, bearing interest at 6.45%. Proceeds from the securities issued were used
to repay bankers’ acceptances under the Company’s bank credit facilities. Subsequently, the Company entered into interest rate swap contracts that
convert the fixed rate interest coupon into a floating interest rate for a portion of the ten-year securities (note 12).

The Company has US $300.0 million remaining on a US $1.0 billion shelf prospectus filed on August 16, 2002 that allows for the issue of debt
securities until September 2004, If issued, these securities will bear interest as determined at the date of issuance.

OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES
The obligations under capital leases bear interest at an average interest rate of 6.91% and are secured by the related assets.

REQUIRED DEBT REPAYMENTS
Required debt repayments are as follows:

Year Repayment
2003 $ 241
2004 $ 7108
2005 $ 208.5
2006 $ 15.8
2007 $ 1898
Thereafter $ 24832
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No debt repayments are reflected for the bank credit facilities due to the extendable nature of the facilities, other than the $500.0 million acguisition
term credit facility due July 3, 2004.

6. FUTURE SITE RESTORATION

2002 2001
Balance - begimningofyear | 51938 § 1705
Future site restoration provision B R 1 6894, . 341
Current year expendityres . S (43 64
Acquisitions and dispositions 211.5 (1.4)
Balance - end of year $ 440.4 $ 1938

At December 31, 2002, the Company’s total estimated future site restoration costs, excluding salvage values, were $1,986.2 million (2001 - $1,081.0
million, 2000 - $874.3 million). These costs are accrued over the life of the Company’s proved reserves.

7. TAXES
Taxes other than income tax 2002 2001 2000
Current petroleum revenue tex _ |8 436 $593 § 409
Deferred petroleum revenue tax o B - O ) B Y - )
Provincial capital taxes and surcharges e w0 .85 123
Other 0.7 1.5 39
$ 62.9 $ 69.1 $ 495
Income tax
The provision for income tax is as follows:
2002 2001 2000
Current income tax expense T B -
___Current income tax — North Sea e 3 Gis6) % 618 0§ 337
__ Current income tax ~ Offshore West Africa L 680 - -
Large Corporations Tax — North America 21.2 15.1 14.7
L e L 76| 769 482
Future income tax expense 401.0 282.5 464.0
Income taxes $ 408.6 $ 359.4 $ 512.4

The provision for income taxes is different from the amount computed by applying the combined statutory Canadian federal and provincial income
tax rates to earnings before taxes. The reasons for the difference are as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Canadian statutory income tax rate 42.4% 42.8% 44.0%
Income tax provision at statutoryrete | $§ 4436 $ 4642 $_ 586.7
Effectonincome taxesof: e . I

Non-deductible crown royalties, lease rentals and mineral taxes 21168} 2011 1932
__Resource allowance R . (243.4) 2195 _@38.1)

Large Corporations Tax o o 22 IS4
_ Deductivle petroleum revenue tax L @l (25.3) ___(14.8)
~_Foreign income tax rate differentials | (1.4 (189 (409
__ Provincial income tax rate reductions o (205)  ®3my -
___UKincome tax rate increase 36, - -
__ Foreign exchange . . L. @&n 206 . 28

Other 7.5 (14.8) 55
Income taxes $
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The following table summarizes the temporary differences that give rise to the future income tax liability:

2002 2001
Future income tax liabilities . B s o
_Property, plant and equipment $ 2,656.0 $ 13848
___Timing of partnership items 736.9 | 493.2
~ Other 27.5 50
Future income tax assets S e
__Futuresite restoration B __(e05) (547
Attributed Canadian Royalty Income ol (s40) (39.8)
__Other B o e B (14.1) 9.9)
Deferred petroleum revenue tax 4.4) (11.9
Future income tax liability $ 3,187.4 $§ 1,767.3

8. PREFERRED SECURITIES

The US $80.0 million preferred securities are in the form of 8.30% subordinated notes. Principal repayments of US $26.7 million are required annually
commencing June 25, 2009, The securities may be prepaid at the option of the Company at any time. The prepaid amount is subject to certain
adjustments to compensate holders for any potential loss of return over the original life of the securities, based on market conditions at that time.
The notes are subordinated to the long-term debt of the Company and contain, among other things, certain financial covenants restricting the

granting of security for new borrowings and the maintenance of specified financial ratios.

The Company has the unrestricted right to pay dividends, principal and principal prepayment amounts by delivering common shares to the Trustee of
the preferred securities. Accordingly, the preferred securities are classified as shareholders’ equity in the consclidated balance sheets. Dividend payments,
net of tax, are charged directly to retained earnings. The semi-annual dividend payments may be deferred at the option of the Company for up to

two consecutive periods, with a maximum of eight deferral periods over the life of the securities.

9. SHARE CAPITAL

AUTHORIZED

200,000 Class 1 preferred shares with a stated value of $10.00 each.
Unlimited number of common shares without par value.

ISSUED
2002 2001

Number of shares Amount Number of shares Amount
Common shares (thousands) (thousands)
Balance — beginning of year 121,201 s 16983 | 122279 § 16880
Issued upon acquisition of Rio Alto - 10,008 5224 | N - -
Issued upon exercise of stock options 2,523 821 1005 282
issue of flow-through shares, net of tax &0 1.3 - -
Cancellation of common shares o (i6) (0.3) - -
Exercise of warrants S o - I 455 163
Purchase of common shares under Normal Course Issuer 8id - - (2,538) (35.2)
Balance - end of year 133,776 $ 2,303.8 121,201 $ 1,698.3

The Company issued 10,008,218 common shares at an attributed value of $522.4 million as part of the consideration to acquire Rio Alto (note 3).

In January 2002, the Company issued 60,000 flow-through common shares to a director of the Company at a price of $39.00 per common share,
for total proceeds of $2.3 million. The value of the common shares was determined as the closing market price of the common shares on the Toronto

Stock Exchange on the day prior to the aliotment.
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During the year, 16,288 common shares were returned to treasury and cancelled on the expiry of the conversion period for exchanging shares of
companies previously acquired for common shares of the Company.

NORMAL COURSE ISSUER BID

In January 2003, the Company renewed its Normal Course Issuer Bid, allowing the Company to purchase up to 6,692,799 common shares or 5% of
the Company’s outstanding common shares on the date of announcement, during the 12-month period beginning January 24, 2003 and ending

January 23, 2004. As at February 26, 2003, 175,600 common shares for a total cost of $8.3 million have been purchased under this renewed Normal
Course Issuer Bid.

Under a previous Normal Course Issuer Bid, the Company purchased 2,537,800 commion shares in 2001 for a total cost of $113.3 million. The excess
cost over book value of the cornmon shares purchased was applied to eliminate contributed surplus and reduce retained earnings.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company pays regular quarterly dividends in January, April, July and October of each year. In February 2003, the Board of Directors set the Company’s
regutar quarterly dividend at $0.15 per common share (2002 - $0.125 per common share, 2001 — $0.10 per common share, 2000 — $nil per common
share) commencing with the April 1, 2003 payment.

WARRANTS

During 1999, the Company issued 500,000 warrants at an ascribed value of $2.9 million to acquire property, plant and equipment. Each warrant
entitled the holder to acquire one common share of the Company at a price of $30.00 per common share until August 16, 2001,

STOCK OPTIONS

The Company's Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) provides for the granting of stock options to directors, officers and employees. Stock options
granted under the Option Plan have a maximum term of six years to expiry and vest equally over a five-year period starting on the first anniversary
date of the grant. The exercise price of each stock option granted is determined as the closing market price of the common shares on the Torontc
Stock Exchange on the day prior to the day of the grant. Each stock option granted permits the holder to purchase one common share of the
Company at the stated exercise price.

The following table summarizes information relating to stock options outstanding and exercisable under the Option Plan at December 31, 2002 and 2001:

2002 2001

Weighted Weighed

average average

Stock options exercise Stock options exercise

(thousands) price {thousands) price

Outstanding — beginning of year 12,851 $ 34.77 10664 $ 3278
Granted 3,845 $ 41.88 3,500 $ 4085
Exercised . ) (2,523) $ 3254 (1,005 $ 29.12
Forfeited {491) $  40.03 (1,108) $ 39.89
Outstanding - end of year 12,882 $ 37.13 12,051 $ 3477
Exercisable — end of year 3,508 $ 32.53 3,615 $ 3142

The range of exercise prices of stock options outstanding and exercisable under the Option Plan at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable

Stock Weighted Weighted Stock Weighed

options average average options average

outstanding  remaining term exercise exercisable exercise

Range of exercise prices (thousands) (years) price (thousands) price
$19.90 t0 $24.99 1,106 1.8 $ 22.02 750 $ 22.01
$25.00 10 $29.99 - 1,069 1.2 $ 2713 691 $ 27.19
$30.00 to $34.99 2,555 2.8 $ 3363 927 $ 33.61
$35.00 to $39.99 - 4,556 4.4 $ 39.03 578 $ 39.20
$4000t0 %4499 1,868 43 $ 43.19 446 $ 43.97
$45.00 to $48.50 - 1,728 5.2 $ 46.61 116 $ 46.59
12,882 3.7 § 37.13 3,508 § 32.53

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION COSTS
The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method and as a result, no compensation costs have been recorded
in the consolidated financial statements for stock options granted or exercised. Had the Company adopted the fair value based method of accounting,
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the compensation costs, along with the pro forma net earnings attributable to common shareholders and pro forma net earnings attributable to

common shareholders per common share of the Company would be as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Stock-based compensation costs S 24.9 $ 18.8 $ 85
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders (A
. Asreported _ | .5 5698| 5 6426 _ 5 7671
~_Proforma _ T S 5489| S 6238 § 7586
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders per common share ~ o
__Basic
.___ Asreported 3 4.46 $ 530  § 6.57
... Proforma A S 426} 5 514§ 6350
Diluted S B _
_ Asreported s 431| 5 517 3§ 639
Pro forma $ 4.12 $ 5.03 $ 6.32

The stock-based compensation costs are recognized over the vesting period of the stock options granted. The pro forma amounts shown above do

not include the stock-based compensation costs associated with stock options granted prior to January 1, 2000.

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing mode! based on the following:

2002 2001 2000
Fair value of stock options granted (per commenshare) | R
_ Directors, officers and executives $ 1470 § 1652 § 1635
Other employees o B $ 1229 $ 135 § 1400
Risk-free interest rate 3.7% 52% 6.2%
Expected life (years) . S
__ Directors, officers and executives - 5.5 55 55
_Other employees L - - 37 38 3.6
Expected volatility e | 35% 39% _38%
Expected dividend yield 1.2% 1.0% -

10. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT

The foreign currency translation adjustment represents the unrealized gain (loss) on the Company's net investment in self-sustaining foreign operations.
Effective July 1, 2002, the Company designated certain US dollar denominated debt as a hedge against its net investment in US dollar-based
self-sustaining foreign operations. Accordingly, gains and losses on this debt are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment.

2002 2001
Balance — beginning of year } - 5 728 S =
Unrealized (loss) gain on translation of net investment S B o - (11.6) | 72.8
Hedge of net investment with US dollar denominated debt (37.6) -
Balance — end of year $ 236 $ 728
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11. NET EARNINGS AND CASK FLOW FROM OPERATIONS PER COMMON SHARE
The following table provides a reconciliation between basic and diluted amounts per common share:

(thousands) 2002 2001 2000

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic 12,883 | 121,300 116,701
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants 2744 | 2594 2624
Assumed settlement of preferred securities with common shares 2,681 2,883 1,427
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted 133,308 126,777 120,752
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders $ 569.8 § 6426 § 7671
Dividend on preferred securities, net of tax . 8O 58 28
Revaluation of preferred securities (1.0) 7.5 1.6
Diluted net earnings attributable to common shareholders $ 574.8 § 656.0 $ 7715
Net earnings attributable to common shareholders per common share _
_Basic S5 448 5 530 5 657
Diluted S 4.31 $ 5.17 $ 6.39

Cash flow from operations attributable to common shareholders | % 22540 | $1%8200 $ 18836
Dividend on preferred securities 10.4 10.3 5.0
Diluted cash flow from operations attributable to common shareholders $ 2,264.4 $ 1,930.3 $ 1,888.6

Cash flow from operations attributable to common shareholders per common share
Basic o $ 17.63 $ 1583 $ 16.14

Diluted i $ 1699 $  15.23 S 15.64

For the year ended December 31, 2002, 319,916 stock options with a weighted average exercise price of $48.33 (2001 - 692,790 stock options with
a weighted average exercise price of $45.78, 2000 - 1,861,475 stock options with a weighted average exercise price of $44.38) were excluded from
the calculation of per common share amounts as their effect on per common share amounts was anti-dilutive.

12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FINANCIAL CONTRACTS

The Company's financial instruments recognized in the consolidated balance sheets consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
liabilities and long-term debt.

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined based on the Company’s assessment of available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies; however, these estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that could be realized or settled in
a current market transaction.

The carrying value of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and long-term debt with variable interest rates approximate their
fair value.

The estimated fair values of other financial instruments are as follows:

2002 2001
Carrying value  Fair value Carrying value Fair value
Asset (liability) S AU (SR :
Derivative financial instruments $ - $ 56.4 $ - % (29
Fixed rate notes v $ (3.259.6) 3 (3,573.2) $ (1,328.6) $ (1,336.9)

The Company uses certain derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity prices, foreign currency and interest rate exposures. These financial
instruments are entered into solely for hedging purposes and are not used for trading or other speculative purposes,
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The following summarizes transactions outstanding as at February 26, 2003, which includes all transactions outstanding at December 31, 2002:

Remaining Term

Volume

Average Price

index

Jan. 2003 - Dec. 2003

15,000 bbls/d

US $1.00

Dated Brent/ WTI-

Qil price collars Jan. 2003 — Mar. 2003 117,333 bbls/d ~ US $22.74 - US $28.26 _wn
Apr. 2003 - Jun. 2003 110,667 bbls/d  US $22.48 - US $28.06 S WTH

Jul. 2003 - Sep. 2003 73,333 bbis/d  US $23.45 - U5 $28.75 _wT

L Oct. 2003 - Dec. 2003 40,000 bbls/d _ US $24.00 - US $30.17 ~WTI

Natural gas - _ e

NYMEX collar Jan. 2003 - Oct. 2003 30,000 mmbtw/d ~ US$2.88-US3$6.12 NYMEX
Sumas fixed ~Jan. 2003 - Oct. 2003 10,000 mmbtu/d Cdn$285 __Sumas
AECO collars Jan. 2003 - Mar. 2003 500,000 GJd  Cdn $4.16 - Cdn $6.98 AECO
e Apr.2003 -Jun. 2003 240,000 GJ/d Cdn $4.13 ~Cdn $6.11 AECO
o Jul. 2003 - Sep. 2003 40,000 Gy/d  Cdn $3.50 - Cdn $5.38 ~___AeCO
Oct. 2003 40,000 GJ/d Cdn $3.50 - Cdn $5.38 AECO

Amount Average Exchange Rate

Remaining Term ($ millions) {US $/Cdn $)

Foreign currency

Currency collars ~ Jan. 2003 - May 2003 US $4.2/month 143-153
Jan. 2003 - Aug. 2004 US $25.0/month 1.51-1.59
Exchange Interest Interest
Amount Rate Rate Rate
Remaining Term ($ millions) (US $/Cdn $) {US %) (Cdn $)
Currency swap Jan. 2003 - Dec. 2005 US $125.0 1.55 7.68% 7.30%
Amount Fixed Rate Floating Rate
Remaining Term ($ millions)
Interest rate . T
Swaps - fixed into floating Jan. 2003 -Jul.2004 ~ US$200.0 6.70% ~ LIBOR + 2.09%
B Jan. 2003 - Jul. 2006 ~US $200.0 6.70% LIBOR + 1.58% _
o ) ~Jan. 2003 - Jan. 2005 US $2000 - 7.20% LIBOR + 3.00%
L ~_Jan. 2003 - Jan. 2007 US$2000  7.20% LIBOR +2.23%
L Jan. 2003 -0Qct. 2012 US$2000  545% ~  LIBOR+081%
Swaps - floating into fixed Jan. 2003 - Mar. 2004 _ Cdn$1000  508% o ~ CDOR.
Jan. 2003 — Mar. 2007 Cdn $16.5 7.36% CDOR

CREDIT RISK

Accounts receivable are mainly with customers in the oil and natural gas industry and are subject to normal industry credit risks. The Company
minimizes this risk by entering into sales contracts with only highly rated entities. In addition, the Company reviews its exposure to individual companies
on a regular basis and where appropriate, ensures that parental guarantees or letters of credit are in place to minimize the impact in the event of
default. The Company is also exposed to certain losses in the event of non-performance by counterparties to derivative financial instruments; however,
the Company minimizes this credit risk by entering into agreements with only highly rated financial institutions.

13. COMMITMENTS

The Company has committed to certain payments over the next five years as follows:

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Natural gas transportationcharges % 1982.0 $ 1773 $ 1596  $ 1389 $ 1117

Oil transportation and pipeline charges o % 129 % 146 $ 133 $ 132 $ 148

Offshore equipment operating lease charges $ 716 0§ 522 0§ 488 5 292 % 292
Electricity charges $ 332 $ 262 $ 253 $ 54 $ 52

Office lease charges § 171 $ 132 § 122 $ 10.1 $ 10.1

14. SUPPLEMERNTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASKH FLOW INFORMATION

2002 2001 2000
Interest paid o % 1322 $ 1274 $ 169.3
Taxes paid $ 160.4 $ 161.2 $ 623
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15, SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company’s oil and natura! gas activities are conducted in three geographic segments: North America, the North Sea and Offshore West Africa.

These activities relate to the exploration, development, production and marketing of oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas.

The Company’s Horizon Project has been classified as a separate segment at December 31, 2002. As the bitumen will be recovered through mining
operations, this project constitutes a distinct segment from oil and natural gas activities. There are currently no revenues for this project and all

directly related expenditures have been capitalized.

Oil and Matural Gas

Neorth America North Sea
2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
Revenue B S o
Revenue s 3333 | §299%68 3 28051 $ 5924 | 5520 52828
Less: royalties (564.2) (551.3) (481.1) (32.7) (27.8) (15.1)
2,773.1 2,4455 2,414.0 559.7 495.2 267.7
Expenses - e o I -
Production o | es64 | 594 492.0 228.8 1233 54.9
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 1,032.8 747 1 585.9 1933 120 544
Administration 61.0 37.1 26.4 0.3 05 0.8
Interest S 1864 | 1297 1555 34 | 83 6.8
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (52.7) 59.7 143 210 16 32
Loss on sale of United States assets - 241 - - - -
1,853.6 1,594.1 1,274.1 446.8 2627 120.1
Earnings before taxes o 919.5 8514 1,139.9 1129 2325 147.6 ~
Taxes other than income tax 11.1 85 123 ) 5t 88 333
Current income tax 21.2 15.1 14.7 (18.6) 61.8 37
Future income tax 322.5 2904 466.5 82.5 (9.0) (15.0)
Net earnings 564.7 537.4 646.4 (1.1) 120.6 %56
Dividend on preferred securities, net of tax (6.0) B 28 | - - -
Revaluation of preferred securities 1.0 (7.5) (1.6) - - -
Net earnings attributable to
common shareholders $ 559.7 $ 5240 $  642.0 $  (1.1) $ 120.6 $ 95.6
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
2002
Cash Non-cash Capital Fair Value Capitalized
Consideration  Consideration Expenditures  Adjustments™ Costs
Oil and natural gas o o o ) S ~
__North America — business combination 843.2 1,550  2,393.2 1,018.6 - 3,411.8
North America ~ oil and natural gas 0263 - 10263 - 10263
North Sea 333 - 3233 233.0 556.3
Offshore West Africa 185.3 - 1853 - 185.3
B 2,378.1 ~1,550.0 3,928.1 11,2516 ~ 5,178.7
Horizon Project 68.1 - 681 - 68.1
Midstream 204 - _204 = o204
Abandonments® 42.9 - 42.9 - 429
Other 9.9 - 9.9 - 2.9
2,518.4 1,550.0 4,069.4 1,251.6 5,321.0

(1) Future income tax adjustments on non-tax base assets and other fair value adjustments.
(2) Abandonment expenditures were incurred in the following segments: $31.8 million North America, $8.6 million North Sea
and $2.5 million Offshore West Africa (2001 — $3.4 million North America, $nit North Sea, $nil Offshore West Africa).
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As a result of the Company’s increasing midstream activities, the Company determined that effective January 1, 2002, the midstream activities
within North America constitute a distinct operating segment. Midstream activities include the Company’s pipeline operations and an electricity

co-generation system.

Midstream Total
Offshore West Africa

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000
©$101.5 | 3416 $3456 $ 520  §274 $ 38.1 $4,0832 |  $3,5888  §3,2606
(3.4) (1.2) - - -~ - (600.3) (580.3) (506.2)

98.1 40.4 34.6 52.0 274 38.1 3,482.9 3,008.5 2,754.4

] 346 | 270 154 a1 M2 87 933.9 7579 5710
80.5 239 25 7.6 38 18 1,314.2 9038 644.6
_ - - - - = - | e e 272
~(0.6) 0.2) - - - B - 15891 1378 162.3
- s (1.6) - - - 31.7) 62.8 15.9
- - - - - - - 241 -

114.5 52.2 16.3 21.7 15.0 10.5 2,436.6 1,924.0 1,421.0

(16.4) (118 183 303 124 276 1,046.3 | 10845 13334
0.7 15 39 - - - 62.9 | 69.1 495
60 - - - - - 76| 769 484
(16.8) (4.2) 0.4 12.8 5.3 12.1 401.0 282.5 464.0

(6.3) ©.1) 14.0 17.5 7.1 155 5748 656.0 7715

- - - - - - (6.0) 69 (@28

- - - - - - 1.0 (7.5) (1.6)

$ (6.3) $ (8.1) $ 14.0 $ 17.5 $ 7.1 $ 15.5 $ 569.8 $ 642.6 $ 767.1

2001
Cash Non-cash Capital Fair Value Capitalized
Consideration Consideration Expenditures  Adjustments® Costs
| Oiland naturatgas o

N __ North America - business combination - - T T
North America - oil and natural gas 1,443.2 - 14432 1854 1,628.6

North Sea - 97.5 =975 - 975

QOffshore West Africa 203.8 — 203.9 - 203.9
- 1,744.6 - 1,7446 1854 1,930.0

Horizon Project 268 - - 268 - 268
Midstream 973 - 97.3 5.0 102.3
Abandonments® o 94 - _ 9.4 - ) 9.4

Other ] 6.4 - 6.4 - . 64

1,884.5 — 1,884.5 190.4 2,074.9
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SEGMENTED PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (NET)

2002 2001
Oil and natural gas B ) _
North America $10,2520 | S 68076
North Sea 12778 | 8656
Offshore West Africa - N | 5183 409.9
Horizon Project . | 2@y 1606
Midstream - I 195.6 182.8
Other 28.0 16.4
| $12,498.6| $ 84429
SEGMENTED ASSETS
2002 2001
Oil and natural gas_ . - - —
North America B $ 10,916.8 $ 7,216.1
North Sea o N B 1,426.6 8410
Offshore West Africa _ o 549.4 4332
Horizon Project B 228.7 160.6
Midstream e 209.4 1996
Other 28.0 16.4
$ 13,358.9 $ 8966.9

16. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN CANADIAN AND UNITED STATES GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Canada
("Canadian GAAP"). These principles conform in all material respects with those in the United States (“US GAAP") except for those noted below.

Differences arising from US GAAP disclosure requirements are not addressed.

The application of US GAAP would have the following effects on consolidated net earnings as reported:

(millions of Canadian dollars, except per common share amounts) Notes 2002 2001 2000
Net earnings — Canadian GAAP $ 574.8 $ 656.0 $ 7715
Adjustments, net of tax o o
__Depletion o (A) 5.2 51 5.1
Derivative financial instruments. (B) 29.3 60.9 (6.4)
Dividend on preferred securities o (o {69 (5.9) X))
~ Revaluation of preferred securities ~ o (@ 10 (7.5) (1.6)
Tax effect of flow-through shares (D) (1.0) - -
Net earnings — US GAAP $ 603.3 § 708.6 $ 765.8
Net earnings — US GAAP per common share L )
_Basic I $ 472 5 584 $ 656
Diluted $ 4.56 § 570 $ 6.38
Comprehensive income under US GAAP would be as follows:
(millions of Canadian dollars) Notes 2002 2001 2000
Net earnings — US GAAP $ 603.3 $ 708.6 $ 765.8
Adoption of FAS 133 B} - (124.5) -
Amortization of FAS 133 adjustment B (8) o3 54.1 -
Foreign currency translation adjustment (E) {49.2) 72.8 -
Comprehensive income $ 585.2 $ 711.0 $ 765.8

68 Canadien Natural




The application of US GAAP would have the following effects on the consolidated balance sheets as reported:

2002
Canadian Increase us
(millions of Canadian doliars) Notes GAAP (Decrease) GAAP
Property, plant and equipment R (A) $124996  $ (67.5) § 12,4321
Derivative financial instruments {(asset) o o | $ - % (564) $ (56.4)
long-termdebt (O s 40740 5 1264  § 4,2004
Future income tax . 1 (AB) $ 31874 @ § 43 $ 31917
Shareholders’ eguity $ 4,868.1 $ (141.8) $ 4,726.3
2001
Canadian Increase Us
(millions of Canadian dollars) Notes GAAP (Decrease) GAAP
Property, plant and equipment M 5 84429 5 (765 % 83664
Derivative financial instruments liability o ® & - % 322 $ 322
Long-termdebt o o (© % 26682 $ 1274  $ 27966
Fyﬂﬁs income tax ~ (AB) % 17673 % (27.7) % 17396
Shareholders’ equity $ 3,807.0 $ (208.4) $ 3,598.6

NOTES:

(A) Using Canadian full cost accounting rules, costs capitalized in each cost centre, net of future income taxes and future site restoration costs, are
limited to an amount equal to the undiscounted, unescalated future net revenues from proved reserves plus the lower of cost or estimated fair
market value of unproved properties {the "ceiling test”). Under the full cost method of accounting as set forth by the US Securities and Exchange
Commission, the ceiling test differs from Canadian GAAP in that future net revenues from proved reserves are discounted at 10% and estimated
future financing and administrative expenses are not deducted from net revenues.

(B) The Company uses certain derivative financial instruments to manage its commodity prices and foreign currency exposure in relation to future
firmly committed and anticipated sales transactions. The Company has also used interest rate swaps to manage its interest rate exposure. Under
Canadian GAAP, these derivative financial instruments are accounted for as hedges.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("FAS") 133 "Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities” and FAS 138 “Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities” to account
for its commaodity prices and interest rate swap derivative financial instruments under US GAAP. Under FAS 133, all derivative financial instruments
are recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognized
in consclidated net earnings unless specific criteria for hedging are met. In 2002 and 2001, no derivative financial instruments were designated
as hedges for US GAAP purposes.

In 2001, the adoption of FAS 133 resulted in the Company recognizing a derivative financial instruments liability of $183.4 million and a charge
to comprehensive income of $124.5 million, net of future income tax recoveries of $58.9 million. Of the initial liability recognized on January 1,
20071, aloss of $54.1 million, net of future income tax recoveries of $25.6 million, was reclassified to net earnings during 2001. For 2002, a loss
of $31.1 million, net of future income tax recoveries of $14.5 million, was reclassified to net earnings.

Under US GAAP, foreign currency swap contracts used to hedge foreign currency exposure to anticipated, but not firmly committed, transactions
cannot be accounted for as hedges under FAS 52, "Foreign Currency Translation”. Accordingly, for US GAAP reporting, gains and losses from
changes in the fair market value of fareign currency swap contracts related to these anticipated transactions are recognized in net earnings when
those changes in market value occur.

(C) Under Canadian GAAP, the preferred securities are considered to be equity because the Company has the unrestricted right to pay dividends,
oprincipal and principal prepayments with common shares. Under US GAAP, the Company’s preferred securities would be classified as long-term
debt rather than as equity. Accordingly, the dividend on the preferred securities would be classified as interest expense rather than as a dividend
and the revaluation of preferred securities would be included in foreign exchange (gain) loss in determining consolidated net.earnings.

(D) Under Canadian GAAP, the future incomne tax effect of flow-through shares is deducted from share capital. However, under US GAAP, the future
income tax effect of flow-through shares is expensed immediately.

(E) Under US GAAP, exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of self-sustaining foreign operations are included in comprehensive
income.

(F)  The Company has included transportation costs of $293.1 million, $84.2 million and $67.8 million as a reduction of oil and natural gas revenues
for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.
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(G) Recently Issued Accounting Standards

ACCOUNTING FOR THE IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

in January 2003, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") issued Section 3063 "Impairment of Long-lived Assets”. This Section
indicates that impairment losses occur when the carrying value of the asset exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected from its
use and is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its fair value. The effective date of the Section will be for fiscal years
beginning on or after April 1, 2003, Application of the Section is prospective with earlier adoption encouraged. This Section will apply to the
Company's midstream operating segment only.

ACCOUNTING FOR THE DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In January 2003, the CICA issued Section 3475 “Disposal of Long-lived Assets and Discontinued Operations”. This Section outlines criteria for
when a long-lived asset may be classified as held for sale and indicates that the value of such asset be measured at the lower of its carrying amount
and fair value less cost to sell. The Section also indicates that losses recognized do not include any expected future operating losses.
Discontinued operations will be defined more broadly than previously. The effective date of the Section will apply to disposal activities initiated
on or after May 1, 2003.

HEDGING

In December 2001, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline 13, “Hedging Relationships”. This Guideline addresses the types of items that qualify
for hedge accounting, the formal documentation required to enable the use of hedge accounting and the requirement to evaluate hedges for
effectiveness. The Guideline does not specify how hedge accounting should be applied. The CICA has deferred the effective date of this
Guideline by one year to fiscal years beginning on or after July 1, 2003. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this Guideline on its
consolidated financial statements.

ACCOUNTING FOR ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

In june 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FAS 143 "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. FAS 143
requires the recognition of the fair value of the retirement obligation for related long-lived tangible assets as a liability. Retirement costs equal to
the retirement liability are capitalized as part of the cost of the related capital asset and amortized to expense over the life of the asset. This
Standard is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 25, 2002. Adoption of this Standard may result in an adjustment to the future
site restoration liability and to property, plant and equipment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Canadian Accounting
Standards Board (AcSB) has proposed a similar standard, which will be applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2004.

ACCOUNTING FOR COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EXIT OR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES

In July 2002, the FASB issued FAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” to replace Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. FAS 146 requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are
incurred rather than at the date of commitment to an exit or disposal plan. The Standard is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002.

ACCOUNTING GUIDANCE TO IMPROVE DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS FOR GUARANTEES

In November 2002, the FASB published Interpretation Neo. 45, "Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others”. The Interpretation expands on FAS 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”, FAS 57, “Related Party
Disclosures” and FAS 107, "Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments”. 1t also incorporates, without change, Interpretation No. 34,
"Disclosure of Indirect Guarantees”. The Interpretation elaborates on the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees. It also clarifies
that at the time a company issues a guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value, or market value, of the
obligations it assumes under that guarantee and must disclose that information in its interim and annual financial statements. The Interpretation
is to be applied on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after Decernber 31, 2002, except for the disclosure requirements that
are effective for interim or annual financial statements with periods ending after December 15, 2002. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of this Interpretation on its consolidated financial statements.
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supplementary oil & gas information (unaudited)

This supplementary oil and natural gas information is provided in accordance with the United States FAS 69, “Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing
Activities”, and where applicable, is reconciled to the US GAAP financial information.

NET PROVED OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES

The Company retains independent petroleum engineering consultants to evaluate the majority of the Company’s proved oil and natural gas reserves,
with the remainder evaluated by the Company’s internal petroleum engineers.

3 For the year ended December 31, 2002, the reports by Sproule Associates Limited (“Sproule”) covered 89% of the Company’s reserves.
O For the year ended December 31, 2001, the reports by Sproule covered 91% of the Company’s reserves.

O For the year ended December 31, 2000, reports by Sproule (Canadian assets), Ryder Scott Company (US assets) and AEA Technology (interna-
tional assets) covered 98% of the Company’s reserves,

Proved oil and natural gas reserves are the estimated quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids that geological and engineering data demon-
strate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Proved
developed reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered from existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods.

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are subject to uncertainty and will change as additional information regarding producing fields and technology
becomes available and as future economic and operating conditions change.

The following table summarizes the Company’s proved and proved developed oil and natural gas reserves, net of royalties, as at December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000:

Oil and Natural Gas Liquids

{mmbbls) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Net proved reserves T o o
Reserves, December 31,1999 501 . T 50
Extensions and discoveries U - 39
Purchases of reserves in place - 68 o 97 3% 19
Sales of reserves in place I ) e =)
Production L e (51 e o m (58
Revisions of previous estimates 4 2 1 7
Reserves, December 31, 2000 . 58 93 . 691
Extensions and discoveries - - I - 37 50
Purchases of reserves in place o 14 = - 22
Sales of reserves in place () = = I
Production (54 R ¢ I ) oy B )
Revisions of previous estimates 43 2) (14) 27
Reserves, December 31,2001 N 583 78 60 721
Extensions and discoveries -l .2 R o 14 41
Purchases of reserves in place 44 114 o = 158
Sales of reserves in place e (8) - (19)
Production R (55) (13) o @ (70)
Revisions of previous estimates (26) 40 3 17
Reserves, December 31, 2002 571 202 75 848
Net proved developed reserves: o o

December 31, 1999 299 = o - 299
__December 31, 2000 . oo 3 61 ,_ 2 : 391

December 31, 2001 344 51 20 415

December 31, 2002 340 107 27 474J

2602 Annual Report 71




Natural Gas

(bef) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Net proved reserves o B
Reserves, December 31 1999 A - - 1,771
Extensions and discoveries ) 201 o - = . 201
Purchases of reserves in place N 214 89 52 355
Sales of resewegt_n_;ﬂace (33) - - ~ . (33)
Productlon - o (226) ow - (227)
Revisions of prewous estimates (32) 3 1 (28)
Reserves, December 31, 2000 1,895 o 91 53 2,039
Extensions and dlscovenes 379 - - 379
Purchases of reserves in place 134 - 23 157
Sales of reserves in place - (20) = - (20)
Production on (255) @ - . (259)
Revisions of prewous estimates (69) 7 9) 7n
Reserves, December 31, 2001 2,064 94 67 2,225
Extensions and discoveries e s - 4 110
Purchases of reserves in place 699 18 - 77
Saiesﬁof»@serves in place_ﬂ (3) _ (58) ) - (59)
Production o ~ (346) e,y {1 {357)
Revision of prewous “estimates (74) 25 1 {48)
Reserves, December 31, 2002 2,446 71 71 2,588
Net proved developed reserves: _ o B B
_ December 31, 1999 1,466 - - 1466
_ _December 31, 2000 1,569 32 - 1,601
___December 3]__ 2001 1,845 19 16 1,880
December 31, 2002 2,185 57 27 2,269J
CAPITALIZED COSTS RELATED TO OIL AND NATURAL GAS ACTIVITIES
2002
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Proved properties . $ 13,196.5 $ 1,559.2 $ 480.1 ~$ 15,235.8 |
Unproved properties 666.8 62.0 131.8 860.6
e | 13,8633 1,621.2 6919  16,096.4 |
Less: accumulated depletion and depreciation (3 678.8) (344.2) (93 6) (4,116.6)
Net capitalized costs $ 10,184.5 $ 1,277.0 $ 518.3 $ 11,979.8
2001
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Proved properties $ 9,000.7 % 9907 $ 376.8 $ 10,368.2
Unproved properties 424.0 59.6 48.4 532.0
o 94247 1,050.3 425.2 10,900.2
Less: accumulated depletion and deprecranon (2,693.6) (184.7) (15.3) (2,893.6)
Net capitalized costs $ 6,731.7 § 8656 $ 409.9 $ 8,006.6
2000
(miltions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Proved properties $ 74228 $ 82238 $ 2065 ~ $ 84521
Unproved properties 382.5 45.5 14.8 4428
_____ 7,805.3 868.3 - 2213 ~ 8,8949
Less: accumulated depleﬂon and depreciation (1,998.9) (52.3) 0.9) (2,052.1)
Net capitalized costs $ 5,806.4 $ 8160 $ 2204 $ 6,842.8
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COSTS INCURRED IN OIL AND NATURAL GAS ACTIVITIES

2002
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Ofishore West Africa Total
Property acquisitions U } o T i
_Proved . _ S 3,366.6 § 3731 $ - $ 3,739.7
B Unproved 368.9 27.8 305 427.2
Exploration 96.0 10.4 80.5 __186.9
Development 606.6 145.0 74.3 825.9
Costs incurred $ 4,438.1 $ 556.3 $ 185.3 $ 5,179.7
2001
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Property acquisitions o o
_ Proved $ 6472 $ - % 624 5 7086
] Unproved 73.0 45 - 77.5
Exploratlon ______ L 60.9 24.7 837 B 149.3
Deve!opment 847.5 68.3 77.8 993.6
Costs incurred $ 1,628.6 $ 975 $ 2039 $ 1,930.0
2000
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Property acquisitions o
Proved $ 6496 $ 7682 5 1820 $ 1.599.8
Unproved 137.2 453 - 182.5
Exploration - N 419 27 159 66.5
Development 7703 52.1 234 845.8
Costs incurred $ 1,605.0 § 868.3 $ 221.3 $ 2,694.6

summarized in the following tables:

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FROM OIL AND NATURAL GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES
The Company’s results of operations from oil and natural gas producing activities for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are

2002
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Oil and natural gas revenue, net of royalties $ 2,772A1 $ 559.2 $ 98.1 $ 3,429.4
Production expenses (656.4) (228.8) (34.6) (919.8)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization  (1,032.8) (193.3) (80.5) (‘i 306.6)
Income tax (344.4) (82.3) 16.8 (409.9)
Results of operations $ 7385 $ 54.8 $ (0.2) $  793.1

2001
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Oil and natural gas revenue, net of royalties $ 24438 %4951 $ 404 $ 29793
Production expenses o (596.4) (123.3) o (27.0) (746.7)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization (747.2) (129.00 239  (900.1)
Income tax (353.2) (114.2) 2.7 (464.7)
Results of operations $ 7470 $ 128.6 $ (7.8 § 867.8

2000
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Oil and natural gas revenue, net of royaltles % 24131 $ 2677 $ 346 % 27154
Production expenses (49200 (54.9) (154) (562.3)
Dep1et|Qr_1_depreC|atuon and amortization (585.9) (544) (2.5) . (p428)
Income tax (448.4) (70.8) (4.3) (523.5)
Results of operations $ 886.8 $ 876 $ 12.4 $ 9868

AND CHANGES THEREIN

of discounted future net cash flows.

STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS FROM PROVED OIL AND NATURAL GAS RESERVES

The following standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from proved oil and natural gas reserves has been computed using year-end
sales prices and costs and year-end statutory income tax rates. A discount factor of 10% has been applied in determining the standardized measure
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The Company does not believe that the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows will be representative of actual future net cash flows
and should not be considered to represent the fair value of the oil and natural gas properties. Actual net cash flows will differ from the presented
estimated future net cash flows due to several factors including:

Future production will include production not only from proved properties, but may also include production from probable and potential reserves,
Future production of oil and natural gas from proved properties will differ from reserves estimated;

Future production rates will vary from those estimated;

Future rather than year-end sales prices and costs will apply;

Economic factors such as interest rates, income tax rates, regulatory and fiscal environments and operating conditions will change;

Future estimated income taxes do not take into account the effects of future exploration expenditures; and

Future development and site restoration costs will differ from those estimated.

ooooonoad

Future net revenues, development, production and restoration costs have been based upon the estimates referred to above.

The following tables summarize the Company's future net cash flows relating to proved oil and natural gas reserves based on the standardized
measure as prescribed in FAS 69:

2002
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Future cash inflows $ 34,979.7 _ $96816 e $ 4,147.1 $ 48,808.4
Future production costs (7,2380) (3.249.6) (9110} (11,398.6)
Future development and site restoration costs {1,769.9) (1,691.2) (616.2) (4,077.3)
Future income taxes (8,045.5) (2,990.7) (941.6) (11,977.8)
Future net cash flows 17,9263 1,750.1 1,678.3 21,3547
10% annual discount for timing of future cash flows (7,.361.3) {433.6) {555.7) (8,350.6)
Standardized measure of future net cash flows $ 10,565.0 $ 1,316.5 $ 1,122.6 $ 13,004.1

2001
(millions of Canadian doliars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Future cash inflows $ 18,565.1 $ 3080 3 17384 $ 233925
Future production costs {6,587.4) (1,367.8) (575.6) (8,530.8)
Future development and site restoration costs (1,203.8) (354.3) (555. 5) (2,113.6)
Future income taxes (2,575.8) (548.5) (136.1 (3,260.4)
Future net cash flows 8,198.1 8184 Vm___"_‘”_ﬁU_Z» 94877
10% annual discount for timing of future cash flows (3,136.3) (241.4) (148.5) (3,526.2)
Standardized measure of future net cash flows § 50618 $ 577.0 $ 3227 $ 59615

2000
(millions of Canadian dollars) North America North Sea Offshore West Africa Total
Future cash inflows . %$331287 % 39992 $ 1,209.9 $ 38,335.8
Future production costs o (5,997. 7) (1,701.7) (376.5) (8,075.9)
Future deyelopment and site restoration costs — (1,269.9) (426.9) ) (1794 (1,876.2)
Future income taxes (8,039.7) (766.1) (232.4) (9,038.2)
Future net cash flows - L 17,8194 1,104.5 421.6 19,345.5
10% annual discount for timing of future cash flows 16,988.7) (366.2) (111.5) (7.466.4)
Standardized measure of future net cash flows $ 10,830.7 $ 7383 $ 3101 $ 11,879.1
The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows are summarized in the following table:
(millions of Canadian dollars) 2002 2001 2000
Sales of oil and natural gas produced, net of production costs $ (1,439.6) $ (1,411.7) $ (1,328.0)
Net changes in sales prices and production costs 88237  (9,624.6) 5,615.7
Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery 1,078.7 1,070.6 1,740.0
Changes in estimated future development costs . (1,2838)|  (165.6) _(678.2)
Purchases of proved reserves in place 4,973.1 426.1 4,078.0
Sales of proved reserves in place (434.0) (34.2) 319.4)
Revisions of previous reserve est{mates“’ 1 3838 385 (84.7)
Accretion of discount ) - 803.2 1,744.8 810.2
Changes in production timing and other ~ {560.3) (1,5545) (560.4)
Net change in income taxes (5,242.2) 3,593.0 (3,223.0)
Net change B | 70426 (581760 60502
Balance - beginning of year 59615 11,879.1 58289
Balance - end of year 5 13,004.1 $ 5,961.5 $11,879.1

(1) 2002 revisions include the effects of eliminating UK royalties.
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Years ended December 31 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
($ millions, except per share amounts)

Revenue, net of royalties® | 3,482.9 | 30085 27544 1,103.6 760.8 7687 5323 2454 2212 1355
Cash flow from operations
attributable to common

1994 1993

shareholders | 22540 19200 158836 7235 4442 5030 3597 1536 1528 942
Per common share - basic___ $17.63| $1583 S 1614 § 6956 § 447 $ 513 § 432 $ 222 § 239 $ 164

Net earnings attributable

to common shareholders® | 569.8| 6426 7671 2195 394 1113 950 424 542 343
Per common share — basic® $ 446, 3 530 $ 657 $ 211 § 040 $ 1.14 $ 114 $ 061 $ 085 $ 060

Capital expenditures,
net of dispositions (including
business combinations) 4,069.4 ] 1,884.5 28233 1,800.6 608.7 1,119.2 1,203.6 238.8 331.2 271.2

Balance Sheet Information

Working capital (deficiency) surplus | (13.8) (56) (77.3) 364 579  (186) (08 97 40 22
Property, plant and equipment, net | 12,499.6 | 84429 7,415 45535 30336 27460 19120 8364 _ 6775  401.1
Total assets 13,358.9 | 89669 77535 4,850.8 32278 2931.1 2062.6 9004 7378 4369
long-termdebt | 4,0740| 2,669.2 24545 2,568 14255 1,1363  588.0 2377 2429 1892
Shareholders' equity  4,868.1| 38070 32031 108917 12578 12043 10742 496.3 356.2 171.2

SHARE INFORMATION
Common shares

outstanding (thousands) | 433,776 | 121,201 122,279 111,454 99,809 98819 97,383 74,074 66,709 59,862
Weighted average shares

outstanding (thousands) 127,883 | 121,300 116,701 103,906 99,331 98,042 83,246 69,319 63,873 57,596
Dividend per common share $ 050!3% 040 % -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 - % -

Trading Statistics

TSX-Cdn $

Trading volume (thousands) | 154,829 | 133,744 141,853 107,615 102,610 100,538 99,222 60,935 35291 55218

Share price ($/share) , e o

__High - |8 54 54 |$ 5235 $ 5620 $ 3860 $ 31 50 $ 44, 25._5.3%’_ 5_,,20,245_5 2275 $ 25.00
low | $ 37.60|% 3590 § 2980 $ 1980 § 1825 § 2890 § 1925 § 10.75 § 13.38 § 10.88
Close  Is 4680|535 3831 § 4150 $ 3525 § 2300 § 3060 $ 37.60 $ 2000 $ 13.75 $ 18.00

NYSE - US$ o - L o

Trading volume (thousands) | 7,966 | 5,191 9 - = == - - =

Share price ($/share) - B B o
High _|s3as8|$ 345 8 3781§  -§  -F -§ -5 -5 -3 -

low i $ 2355|% 2280 $ 2475 % -3 -3 -3 -3 -3 -5 -
Close $ 2967 |5 2440 5 2750 § ) -9 - % - % -3 -3 -

RATIOS et ] o o .

Debt tQAc_a_s_h'fjow__W 1.8x | 1.4x 13x 370x”77 3.2x 2.3x 1.6x 1.5x  1.6x 2.0x

Debt to book capitalization 45.6% | 412%  434% 533% 53.1% 48.5% 354% 32.4% 405% 525%

Return on average common

shareholders' equity, after tax 13.8% 188% 316% 145% 32%  98% 130% 103% 19.7% 263%

Daily produc‘uon per thousand

common shares (boe/d) 329, 29 2.62 199 18 178 145 098 082 062

Reserves per common share (boe) | 13 39 12 227 148 9.55 7.55 7.08 5.32 358 353 285

Net asset value per )

common share $ 7855| % 70.02 $ 8743 § 4861 §$ 3174 $2740 $2584 $1840 $1511 $13.81

(1) Restated to conform to current year presentation.
{2) Restated for change in accounting policy (see consolidated financial statements - note 2).
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2000

Years ended December 31 1999 1998 1997 1996

OPERATING INFORMATION
Oil and Liquids (mmbbis)

Proved reserves o o :
North America 665 644 642 554 287 270 53 43 29

1995 1994 1993

_Northsea 200 85 102 T - - - T T -
Offshore West Africa 96 61 37 - - - - - - -
961 790 781 554 287 270 141 53 43 29

Probable reserves N o
__North America 77 95 88 86 97 81 50 24 14 14
North Sea 73 23 33 - - - - - - -
Offshore West Africa 70 51 9 - - - - - - -
220 169 130 86 97 81 50 24 14 14

1,181 959 9N 640 384 351 191 77 57 43

Natural Gas (bc)
Proved reserves

~ North America 3,048| 2566 2360 2,183 1905 1,733 1,605 924 894 666
North Sea B n %4 09 - - - - = - =
Offshore West Africa 90 69 66 - - - - - -

3,209 2,729 2,517 2,183 1,905 1,733 1,605 924 894 666

Probable reserves

North America 1 a02 349 402 364 311 363 362 208 175 101
~ North Sea 18 24 23 - - - - - - -
Offshore West Africa 31 27 19 - - - - - - -
451 400 444 364 311 363 362 208 175 101
3,660 3129 2961 2547 2216 2096 1,967 1,132 _ 1,069 767
Total Reserves (mmboe) 1,791 1481 1,405 1,065 753 700 519 266 235 171

Daily Production
Qil and liguids (mbbls/d)

~North America 1 aes 167 155 87 76 Y 17 13 8
_NorthSea 39 36 17 - - LT T B
Offshore West Africa 7 3 2 - - - - - - -
215 206 174 87 76 71 37 17 13 8

Natural gas (mmcf/d)

__North America 1,204 906 793 721 673 626 499 305 238 165
North Sea o 270 12 1 - - - - = = -
Offshore West Africa 1 - - - - - - - - -

1,232 918 794 721 673 626 499 305 238 165

Total Production (mboe/d) 421 359 306 207 188 175 120 68 53 36

Product Pricing
Average oil and liquid price ($/bbl)

72876 2431 2999 2104 1293 1882 2352 1982

3 ).8 18.18 18.17
Average natural gas price ($/mcf) 3.76 5.16 4.53 2.36 2.12 1.91 1.71 1.43

1.99 172
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